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BUSINESS STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BUSINESS STRUCTURE

During the year under review, Vantage International
(Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the following businesses in Hong Kong:

e the contract works business, through Able Engineering
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1627) and its subsidiaries;

e the property investment and development business; and

e the provision of finance business.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

e Turnover for the year ended 31 March 2018 increased by
approximately 49% to approximately HK$3,463 million
from approximately HK$2,327 million for the year ended
31 March 2017.

e Net profit for this year increased to approximately
HK$453 million, representing an increase of

approximately 195% as compared with approximately
HK$154 million for the year ended 31 March 2017.

e Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March

2018 amounted to HK23.94 cents (2017: HK8.07 cents).

e Proposed final dividend per share for the year ended 31
March 2018 amounted to HK2 cents (2017: HK2 cents)

per share.
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F1vE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T4 B 5 e 2

RESULTS

Yeglr ended 31 March
BE=H="1+—HIEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

SR NS | TR DR AF DRI ZFNE
HK$’000 | HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$ 000
T#x T#C T#7C T#C T#C

REVENUE BA
Contract works revenue BEHTRBA 3,112,264 2,232,895 2,374,377 1,933,864 1,886,510
Property gross rental income wEMESWA 80,088 77,425 36,723 17,880 15,710
Sales of properties HEwERA 252,296 - - - -
Interest income from loans receivable JRE WL 8 K A R B U 18,429 16,521 5,665 - -
3,463,077 | 2,326,841 2,416,765 1,951,744 1,902,220

Contract works costs 8 TR A (2,862,972) | (1,982,527) (2,080,515) (1,814,232) (1,776,586)
Property costs LE N (140,658) (3,694) (5,024) (1,810) (639)
Gross profit BH 459,447 340,620 331,226 135,702 124,995
Other income and gains BN N N L& 190,674 12,021 383,417 41,573 12,808
Administrative, selling and marketing Frme - By R HERE K

and other expenses oAt B % (114,233)| (124,031)  (65,677)  (54,108)  (49,204)
Finance costs B 7% 2 (27,536)|  (22,147)  (15,468)  (14,120) (7,731)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures BEAN & 8 4 3¢ 2 ¥ F) K s 8 9) (18,336) 182,732 22,829 24,891
Income tax expenses 4% Bt 52 (55,670) (34,606)  (44,041) (9,902)  (11,880)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM o A8 8 B AT B W A

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 452,673 153,521 772,189 121,974 93,879
Other comprehensive income At 2 T IR %R - - - - 204,197
Profit from a discontinued operation OARILREEBZ WH - - 358 16,494 23,319
PROFIT AND TOTAL AP JBE 1k ) B 2 i WK 2 4

COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME FOR THE YEAR 452,673 153,521 112,547 138,468 321,395

Profit and total comprehensive income Ml ¥z A K 2 i W 2 AR A <
attributable to:

Owners of the parent AR HAEH 408,930 141,543 772,483 134,500 319,570

Non-controlling interests Il e ) E A 43,743 11,978 64 3,968 1,825

452,673 153,521 712,547 138,468 321,395

2017-2018 EEH &
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F1vE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e
As at 31 March
R=H=+—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
RN | SR B DFRRE DR IH EF N4
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T T T T
Investment properties HEWE 2,039,000 1,851,000 1,008,500 920,200 874,600
Property, plant and equipment LUE I Y & 127,503 136,525 143,453 147,825 147,807
Properties held for development HhHERRZDE 396,877 396,855 324,334 728,257 726,274
Investments in joint ventures WEBERENRE 8,800 8,614 26,950 141,418 166,914
Other non-current assets JCAth I 375 B & 118,419 5,203 4,241 4,260 416
Properties under development B 419,033 413,456 579,105 536,282 459,791
Properties held for sale FrEEREZYE 667,226 762,025 510,185 - -
Other current assets At 5 ) 5 2,217,911 | 2,110,781 1,670,832 1,216,095 1,123,759
Liabilities =i (2,236,369) | (2,253,868) (1,501,984) (1,560,639) (1,506,390)
NET ASSETS ¥ A 3,758,400 | 3,430,591 2,765,616 2,133,698 1,993,171
Issued capital BT A 42,074 44,042 43,667 43,667 43,667
Reserves i 3,422,040 | 3,136,006 2,721,949 2,033,499 1,896,940
Equity attributable to owners RO W) F5 A 5 AN RE 25
of the parent 3,464,114 | 3,180,048 2,765,616 2,077,166 1,940,607
Non-controlling interests I 4 ol e E 2 294,286 250,543 - 56,532 52,564
TOTAL EQUITY BB 2% 3,758,400 | 3,430,591 2,765,616 2,133,698 1,993,171

Annual Report 2017-2018



Revenue from Continuing Operations:
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Net Profit for the Year from Continuing Operations:
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Vantage International
(Holdings) Limited, I am delighted to report the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

During the year under review, the Group was principally
engaged in the contract works business, the property
investment and development business and the provision of

finance business in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to HK$409
million compared to HK$142 million in last year, an increase
of 189%. Excluding revaluation gains from its investment
properties, the Group’s underlying net profit of this year rose
to HK$269 million by 80% from HK$150 million of the year
ended 31 March 2017. The basic earnings per share for this
year was HK23.94 cents compared to HKS8.07 cents in last
year. The significant increase in the underlying net profit
for the year ended 31 March 2018 was largely due to the
first property sales being recognized of the “Pokfulam Peak”

project, the Group’s first development project for sale.

On the other hand, the net assets value attributable to owners
of the parent as at 31 March 2018 amounted to HK$3,464
million (approximately HK$2.06 per share), representing

an increase of 9% (31 March 2017: HK$3,180 million
(approximately HK$1.81 per share)).

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK2 cents (2017: HK2 cents) per share for the year ended
31 March 2018. The proposed final dividend will be payable
on or before Friday, 21 September 2018, subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
2018 annual general meeting of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRW

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES

In 2017/18, a subsidiary of the Group’s major subsidiary,
Able Holdings (stock code: 1627), entered into transactions
to acquire property interests in 25/26 shares of Man Shung
Industrial Building at No. 7, Lai Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon for a total consideration of approximately HK$619
million (excluding transaction costs) for office, training
center, workshops and research and development purpose.
This acquisition constituted a major transaction of each of the
Company and Able Holdings under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. Completion of the acquisition took place on 12 April
2018.

OUTLOOK

In recent years, housing policy remains a policy focus of the
HKSAR Government. Together with the two 10-year hospital
development plan and the development of East Kowloon and
West Kowloon Cultural Centre, the medium and long-term
outlook of the construction industry in Hong Kong looks
promising. Despite the ample tender opportunities in the
market, competition from other contractors remains keen. To

further improve our work efficiency and work safety and to

W Ny

PEZ—EE ) EERE > RREER RS H—
PR A F] > B AT ¢ 1627) HET A — [ B R
23 ] S WO AR T T T R S 1 7% Y IR T
ERBEAEMAE PO > TS RIES O
JA%& > B OR 5522 5 A) #96. 1968 % -
B AT 2 0 i i A 555 - B IR AR 4
B RER 2z —HEHZ 5 - PO R =F N\
FEMH+ZHER -

Hi 5

HTARAR > B R BOSR — LR A W [ BT A it 1B 7
S b A B R ) RO R v
HE SCAL H 0 i 38 R > A s SRAT 3 0 b R Y AT
RO IRFR 4Ll - MEAR A SR B - R
T > A A R £ 7 A 3BT AR SRR o A T
5 B R A WA N — 2 0 Je A Y Bt A
A4 [ TE R B R M TR B HORAESE > DL
B 3245 il 8 SR 4 R % LAt I H R B 3% o

further develop our competitive advantages, the Group has
been actively investing in the use of technologies in daily

operation as well as supporting research and development

projects in construction materials and other sectors.

In Hong Kong, overall land and property prices continued
to rise with transacted prices reached new record highs in

2017/18, the Directors expected the upward trend in overall

EHEE LA TFZREEER -F-LE
— J\ AR AR BE I O AT R o o TEUD) 4 B (R 2R
FEEBEE LT ARG YRR RIEA L

land prices will continue in the coming year, creating #FRPEEK -
challenging conditions for the Group to replenish its property

development project.
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In view of the bullish market sentiment boosted by record
high land prices, the Group actively marketed its completed
luxury residential properties at “Pokfulam Peak” project during
the year ended 31 March 2018, and it has been well received
by the market. The Group completed its first sale in “Pokfulam
Peak” and accepted tenders for sale of three houses and seven
car parking spaces of the project with aggregated amount of
approximately HK$789 million during the year. The Group’s
another high-end residential project “Belfran Peak” at No. 9
Belfran Road also obtained certificate of compliance in this
year. Accordingly, the Directors expected sales revenue from
the property development business will raise significantly in

2018/19.

Looking Forward, the Group would closely monitor the
opportunities and developments in contract works and
property markets. We believe our actions will help create
reasonable return for the shareholders in a changing

marketplace.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend
our gratitude and sincere appreciation to the management
and staff members of the Group for their diligent work
and dedication, as well as to all business partners and all
shareholders of the Company for their continuous support.

Sincerely,

NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
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PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2018

Address
HhE

Properties in Hong Kong

A%

GJF to 2/F, No. 123 Tung Choi Street, Mong Kok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
VU IE A SR AT 12395 0 T 2

3/F to 17/F, No. 123 Tung Choi Street, Mong Kok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
BV JUREIE A R AT 123903 R 174

Shop Nos. 5 and 6 and Storeroom 3, 1st Floor,

Fou Wah Centre, No. 210 Castle Peak Road,

Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
WA F B2 1098 & 30 1S Kot e &
3R

A 3-storey commercial centre and an adjoining 5-storey

car park building within Tin Ma Court, 55 Chuk Yuen
Road, Wong Tai Sin, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B LT KA RS S BRI A = — e

308 15 G 30 AR 2 — S P v LG K S

A 3-storey commercial/car park building as well as
associated areas within Kam Ying Court,

9 Kam Ying Road, Ma On Shan, Sha Tin,

New Territories, Hong Kong

BV D G L B0 S R O 5% B0 3 46 9 2 —
3 5 T 345 355 K I DA A D o

No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong
HEIHEIE BT B 1555

No. 157 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong
AR AT B 1575

3987 Tai Po Road Yuen Chau Tsai, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong

8 9 R I K G A B398 T3

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Yo

AR B A 2 W
RoZ-NEZA=Z14—H

Percentage held

Use Tenure by the Group
ik B ARMFHH
Shops Long term lease 100%
T i REI#A
Hotel Long term lease 100%
& RIHA
Shops Medium term lease 100%
7 i A4
Shopping centre and Medium term lease 100%
car parking spaces HIRLA
5% R HL
Shopping centre and Medium term lease 100%
car parking spaces HIRLA
75 B AR B
Office Medium term lease 100%
W% HA A
Office Medium term lease 100%
Waz HHAL
Residential Medium term lease 100%
s B LA

2017-2018 EEH & “



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

B3R

AT 31 MARCH 2018 W_R—-NE=ZA=Z1—H
Percentage held
Address Use Tenure by the Group
s hik ik W ARBEEFAE T
II.  Properties Held for Sale in Hong Kong
AT Z A A A
1. Houses 92A, 92B, 92D and 92E and ten car parking spaces at, Residential ~ Medium term lease 100%
Pokfulam Peak, Nos. 92A to 92E Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong e HRLA)

A WA IE92A E92E S Pokfulam Peak 2 3 B
92A ~ 92B ~ 92D K 92E K 10 B fr

Saleable area: 1,586.77 square meter
(excluding parking spaces)
Stage of development: Occupation permit and certificate of

compliance obtained; website of
the project in operation

Properties details: Four 4-storey houses with ten car
parking spaces
Sales status: Tender for sale have been accepted

and respective sales and purchase
agreements have been entered
into for three houses and seven car
parking spaces in total

BT 1,586.77°F J ok (4 L5 I HL L)
BRERR TR ARG TR R (OARAR) BB 4
SERGE I E (WA s DEEE
H 4k
ESA 1Y i 1Y g s 8 9 o
W [REeFLHINR = ik A& o R
B A T S A O
2. Belfran Peak, No. 9 Belfran Road, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon Residential Long term lease 100%
JURE T 3C I B 25 48 9% Belfran Peak g REAA
Saleable area: Approximately 1,079.25 square meter
(excluding parking spaces)
Stage of development: Occupation permit and certificate of
compliance obtained
Properties details: 20-storey residential building with 6

duplex units, 1 triplex unit, 8 car
parking spaces and 1 motor cycle
parking space

Expected sales date: 2018/19

TR #11,079.25°F J5 ok (R BHE IR H L)

BEREREBL SR A TR AR (A0 K& 4
5% e W & (AR

ES AR —E_TEREEEE AN

WAL —fH =g AL~ )\
T HE A S — {6 BB B AL
kB H A “E-N\ERE
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AT 31 MARCH 2018

II1.

Iv.

Address
Hhk

Properties under Development in Hong Kong

TR Z B

28 Lugard Road, The Peak, Hong Kong

T 1L TEO 7 2898

Site area:

Saleable area:

Stage of development:
Expected completion date:
W E RS

HHmR :

BIRMER

HEATHE -

1,728.17 square meter
864.09 square meter
Foundation works in progress
Beyond 2021
1,728.17°FJ5 %
864.09°F Jj %
BT TR
CERIER

Properties Held for Development in Hong Kong

RFEIAERR IR

Wing Lung Wai 173A (The Remaining Portion of
Lot No.462, The Remaining Portion of Lot No.464
and The Remaining Portion of Lot No.465,

all in Demarcation District No.109), Kam Tin,
Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong

AT AR 0 W S K B TR 1 T3 AR

CEREAM R 10958 > HhBEE 46258 0% B
HBE S 40455 B B K M B 465 R BE)

Site area:

WA :

5,528.52 square meter
5,528.52°F i %

The Remaining Portion of Lot No.544 and

The Remaining Portion of Lot No.545, both in Demarcation District

No.109, Kam Tin, Yuen Long, New Territories,

Hong Kong

75 V4 S WD S S A 0 R R 5 1005
Ho B B S 44 B Bl Be B 545 B B B

Site area:

WA :

528.06 square meter
528.06°F Jik

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Yo

R -NE=ZH=Z1—H

Use
ik

Residential

e

Residential
and village
type
development

EER
A3

Residential

Percentage held
Tenure by the Group

W ARRBFA

Long term lease 100%

REIALA

Medium 100%

term lease

hILA

Medium term lease 100%

FRILA

2017-2018 EE # %



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

B3R

AT 31 MARCH 2018

Address
Hihk

3. Front Portions on G/F to 6/F, and 7/F, and Roof of
No. 1 Wood Road;
Rear Portions on G/F to 4/F and 7/F and Roof of
No. 1 Wood Road;
Front Portions on G/F to 5/F and 7/F including
the Roof of No. 1A, Wood Road; and
Rear Portions on G/F to 6/F and 7/F including
the Roof of No. 1A, Wood Road, Hong Kong*
FEFEE IR TR R TERRE 5
WHEIRRED T R4AER TR KA 5
T RART B T 2SR TME RS 5 &
T 1BEATR B T Fob R TR £+
Site area: 432.00 square meter

AR 432.00°FJ5 %

* As at 31 March 2018, the Group owned 14 out of the total 16 undivided
shares (i.e. 87.5%) of No. I Wood Road, Hong Kong and 15 out of the
total 16 undivided shares (i.e. 93.75%) of No. 1A Wood Road, Hong
Kong. On 24 April 2018, Lands Tribunal issued its judgment on ordering
the compulsory sale of all the undivided shares of Nos. 1 and 1A Wood
Road, Hong Kong for the purposes of redevelopment pursuant to section
3(1) of the Land (Compulsory Sale for Redevelopment) Ordinance (Cap
545) by auction at the reserve price of HK$485 million. The auction is
set on 29 June 2018.
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R -NE=ZH=Z1T—H

Percentage held

Use Tenure by the Group
ik W ARBEMFET A
Commercial and Long term lease 100%
Residential REMA
L=

NoZ— ) FE=ZA=+—H REEFEFB
W 1R Z14/16 23 AW 4 B0 8 (RI87.5%) »
B 1A Z15/16% 38 A ) 43 %0 453 %1 (B
93.75%) » F*=ZF— )FENH =+ WMHH » LHF
R AR PR i (T 737 55 i 5 S D) 1)
(B AR 545%8) SB3 (1) » A B@Rm
T o ) R A R 1 I EAZ 2R T 4
B EER B Z A0 HERE 5485
Wt o AN R —)UEANH ZHIUH BT -



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

At 31 March 2018, the management estimates the gross and
outstanding values of the Group’s substantial contracts on
hand amounted to approximately HK$7,009 million and
HK$2,941 million, respectively. Details of these substantial

contracts on hand are set out below:

Projects

B H

Building Construction

B 5

K T H AT KT

R —)FE=ZA=1—H  HEEATAREE
Z K T B A A4 S B R 58 A A A 5 ) A9 2
70.09(E W JC K294 1B - WHEHE K FHAEH
ZEEAE RS IR

Contract value
&

HK$ million

H 80

Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Shatin Area 16, Wo Sheung Tun
Street, Fo Tan and Footbridge Improvement Works at Siu Hong Road, Tuen Mun 707
B 161 ko R b8 ¥ B 8 B 2 e e 5 AR A PR R I AT N R AR R AR

Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Texaco Road 496

T8t 8 B 5 R B R A A TR

Construction of Public Housing Development at Lai Chi Kok Road-Tonkin

Street Phase 1 & 2
BRI — s AR RE R R TR

2,590

Construction of Public Housing Development at Eastern Harbour Crossing
Site Phase 7 and Demolition of Ex-Tung Wah Lung Kong Mrs. Fung Yiu Hing

Memorial Primary School, Chai Wan
W R B S ST A LR RS R E W g TR R
S Y T R ) U MR R N A & /NER PR TR

516

Construction of Public Housing Development at Tung Chung Area 39 2,460

WU SR 3O I A LA A 55 R B F i M S TR

2017-2018 EE # % “



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A #

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

K T BT AR

Projects Contract value
¥H g of =t
HK$’ million

F #7870

Repair, Maintenance, Alteration and Addition (“RMAA”) Works
defes - PRE S W BomE (T4~ PRas > e Boma|) T/

Hospital Authority Term contract for Gascoigne Road Site of

Minor Capital Project 15/16 240

e A BILR) n - R A 8 2 N TR E A A415/16 (Note)

(Kt it)

Note:  Due to the nature of the contracts, the contract value vefers to our best — MIFt : HEREAIPEE » i & #9115 5 B 12 7447 B 2
estimation based on the relevant tender document. BN Z R 1 -

Estimated Outstanding Contract Value as at 31 March 2018 — by Project Category
AR RR - NEZ =4 — B A SR - 30 H B0 4 58

[ Building Construction
By

[ RMAA works
A8 ~ e R R TR
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The following table summarises the details of the major
qualifications and licences obtained by members of the Group

as at 31 March 2018.

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

(QUALIFICATIONS AND LICENCES

A e o 1L

TERBER ZF-NEZH=1—H > REEK
B2 AU Y 32 B A R A

Government Agencies Category Group

BOR BB BN #15%

Able Engineering Company Limited ZRITEERA A

Works Branch, Development Bureau Buildings C (confirmed)

B R TER g 7 ()
Plumbing Installation II (probation)
KERE 11 Gk i 91)

Repair and Restoration of Historic Buildings — For
works related to ‘Western Style Buildings’ only

Hefs AT A RE s A — R v UM 5 A
TR

Turn-key Interior Design and Fitting-out Works

2 AENRE REE TR
Housing Authority Building (New Works) NW2 (confirmed)
FRZEE® B G %) NW2 (#&)
Building (Maintenance) M1 (confirmed)
HEE () M1 (i d)
Decoration Contractors -
A AR T
Buildings Department General Building Contractors -
BT # — B LR T
Site Formation Works -
Ho PR AR
Foundation Works -
i TR
Housing Society Building Works List 2
=4 R BFREE TR Zm
Urban Renewal Authority Repair/Maintenance Works Upper Tier
T R HACYES MR oy
Electrical and Mechanical Services Registered Electrical Contractors (Electricity Ordinance) -
Department FE AT S AR R (R ) R A1)
WETRE
Able Building Construction Limited &R &% B2 7
Buildings Department General Building Contractors -
BT E — B S A
Able Contractors Limited ZREEHFRAN
Housing Authority Decoration Contractors -
RRER® FEAE R
View Finance Limited FEMBARAE
Licensing Court Money Lenders Licensee -
it 3 & =PNENiGEET - UN

2017-20185EH &



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

B P e 52 3 A

i) Bl '

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with DA R iR A GEBRGRAR ([ARAHE]) &E
the audited consolidated financial statements of Vantage ZZF—/\E=ZH=1—HIMEEZRELEGH
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) for the B#E—HF2H -

year ended 31 March 2018.

PERFORMANCE XHRB

During the year under review, the Company and its FEUBSEERN » ARAE RICHE AR (G A%
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) was principally M) FEREELEGHTEER (EhEER
engaged in the contract works business, which mainly  fEMF@EERAEE - RE - B@ R ([ 4k -
comprised of building construction and repair, maintenance, P#%% > W Rmgt ) T/&) - ERGE R ERE
alteration and addition (“RMAA”) works, the property %5 X Bt il ¥ %% -

investment and development business and the provision of

finance business in Hong Kong.

m Annual Report 2017-2018



v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s consolidated
revenue amounted to approximately HK$3,463 million,
representing an increase of approximately 49% from
approximately HK$2,327 million for the year ended 31
March 2017. Profit attributable to owners of the parent of the
Company for this year amounted to approximately HK$409
million, representing an increase of approximately 189% from
approximately HK$142 million for the year ended 31 March
2017. Basic earnings per share for this year was HK23.94
cents (2017: HK8.07 cents). The increase in profit was
mainly due to the combined effects of (i) completion of the
Group’s first sale transaction for its self-developed properties
in current year, which contributed approximately HK$100
million (after tax) to the Group’s profits; (ii) the increase on
net gain on changes in fair value of the Group’s investment
properties from approximately HK$4 million of last year to
approximately HK$183 million of this year; and (iii) the non-
recurring professional fees incurred in last year for the spin-
off and separate listing of Able Holdings (as defined in this
annual report).

Meanwhile, the net assets value attributable to owners of
the parent as at 31 March 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$3,464 million (approximately HK$2.06 per share),
representing an increase of 9% (31 March 2017: approximately
HK$3,180 million (approximately HK$1.81 per share)).

DIVIDEND

No interim dividend has been paid or declared by the
Company during this year (2017: nil). At the Company’s
annual general meeting (“AGM”) held on 1 September 2017,
shareholders approved the payment of a final dividend of HK2
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2017
which amounted to a total of approximately HK$33,717,000.
The dividend was paid on 22 September 2017.

The board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the
Company recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK2 cents (2017: HK2 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 11 September
2018, Tuesday. The proposed payment of the final dividend is
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming 2018 AGM of the Company and has not been
recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2018.

Based on the 1,682,966,400 ordinary shares of the Company in
issues as of the date of approval of this annual report, the total
dividend amounted to approximately HK$33,659,000.

B PR wk i 5L 2y By

WREZZ— )EZH=ET—H IR > AR4EE
ZHEHABRAR L3463 BBEREF—L
FEZH=Z+—HILFEZR23.21B 80 LHR
49% o A2 E BEA B R F AT A B E ZF
—LEZH=+—HILEEZHL428%0 > L
T #1189% Z A 4F- JE Z #14.09f8 ¥ I o A4E 2
B LB AU P 523,949l (=T — L4 : 8.07¥
Alr) o ¥ ) 38 o = B R ph R (i) A 4 [ 7 AR 4T 58
B SR EHBEMENE > S AL H R A 1006
WL M BRI 5 ()AREE A REYEARE
SE S FEE ZEL4E EB T LT EARE
1834 W0 5 T (i)Y Z4F BE A B R AR P B (i
AW E ) MR A B Bl 58
e 8%tk B3 A L S B R B -

WA > R R NFEEZA=ZT—HWB AR A
F WEAL G R T A F534. 645 #E 00 (R BA62.06
wor) > WEE L% (ZF—LE=ZA=Z1—
H : £131.80f8 ¥ 0 (X5 BAG1.81%IT) ) »

B 2

AR A ] A AR A B 3 4 B YR Bk S A R R (R
—LgE |  RF—LEMH —-HRITZAR
2 B ROEAE KRG (TRHORAE R ) b > Bt
WhABE-Z-bE=ZA=+—HILFEIRES
T3 08 B 2 WA R T e S, > 6 £933,717,0009 6 o
ZRBCRZF-LELAZ T ZHIIRM -

AAAZzER (THF]) G (HFF]) CEEM
BREZZ-)NEZA=Z+—HIEFERR R
—/)\FEHH+—H (B ) 250K B 4 it
R PR B AR B, > R B 2 Al (=%
bR 28 o BEIREE Z ORI B A4
B SR AT 2 — )R R AR R R A
R BEHHEAE > T AR > BRI e S IR i S R AE
ZE)EZHAEHlER AR -

WAREEREFMREZH > RAFCELTEE
B B 4 1,682,966,400 5H 5 » BB B E K A
33,659,0004% 7C ©
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR ik it 5L 5y

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contract Works

Market review

In recent years, housing policy remains a prime focus of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “HKSAR?”)
Government. As addressed in the 2017 Policy Address,
measures will be engaged by the HKSAR Government to
examine different land supply options to draw up a visionary
land supply strategy and build a housing ladder focusing on
home-ownership. Together with the series of budgets on
capital expenditure on construction as addressed in 2018/19
Budget in enhancing liveability by, among others, setting aside
HK$300 billion funds to support the second 10-year hospital
development plan and improving facilities of clinics, and
setting aside HK$20 billion funds for the improvement and
development of cultural facilities, etc., public expenditure on
construction is expected to increase. The Directors believe
there will be plenty of tender opportunities for the Group’s

contract works business in the future.

The Group’s performance

The Group currently carries on its contract works business
through the Able Group (as defined in this annual report).
The contract works segment can be further divided into two
businesses according to nature of contracts, being building
construction and RMAA works.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, segment’s revenue from
external customers amounted to approximately HK$3,112
million (2017: approximately HK$2,233 million), representing
an increase of approximately 39% from that of last year. The
increase in revenue was contributed from the public housing

projects awarded to the Able Group in last year and this year.

Annual Report 2017-2018

%05 ol JER

FHITH

5 ik %

HLARAE > By RBUR — EL 2 W R AT B ([ 7 8
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R & #

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On the other hand, segment’s gross profit margin of this
business decreased from 11% for the year ended 31 March
2017 to 8% for the year ended 31 March 2018. The reduction
was mainly due to the decrease in proportion of revenue
contributed from private sector in this year; the cost incurred
for a private residential project which was substantially
completed in last year was lower than that budgeted; and the
commencement of certain immature projects in this year that
the profitability of which had not yet been determined. In
general, the gross profit margin from public sector customers
is relatively lower than that from private sector customers as
the credit risk and other risks associated with public sector
customers are commonly lower. As of 31 March 2018, the
customers for the Group’s substantial contracts on hand were

all from the public sector.

All new significant building construction works contracts
awarded to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2018
were from the public sector. These contracts were set out

below:

o Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at
Shatin Area 16, Wo Sheung Tun Street, Fo Tan and
Footbridge Improvement Works at Siu Hong Road,
Tuen Mun; and

° Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at

Texaco Road.

We expect the abovementioned contracts will be completed in

two to three years from project commencement.

B PR wk i 5L 2y By

B AL B RAHERE T —LE=
H=E=+—HIEFEEWI1% FTHREREZF— /\F
ZHZ+—HILFEBER8Y% o T k8K A AR E
BEAR A RLE R 08 SR LR e 5 — TR 4R
CR B8 R AN AR B T B 3 A 1 AR LL T 9 2%
1% 5 DA% 4 R BB S 5 T 7 AR A7 JBE B 8 1 AR o
THHWBAGE S B o — MR > i B2 8
R 7 RH B 1 A5 8 G ot e LAl R o A1 A 7 i
FHE > RAABEERFNER R BRI -
MN-F—= NE=ZH=+—H > REHMFIH L1E
BRME PR E A B -

AEEPREREF— \FE=ZA =+ HIRF R
DA B B A TR R S A R N A T
2o WEFLIAWMT

. Vb A 161 KR AR 13T B B 5 R B
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR ik it 5L 5y

The Group completed the following significant contracts ZAEERKE_R—N\E=ZA=+—HILFED
regarding building construction and RMAA works during the 788 PA T 5 M5 4l 58 Je 44 - fR3% ~ B0 Ko
year ended 31 March 2018: HEEH

Replacement of Collapsible Gates for Kowloon West e BV U R HE S A R AT P T
and Hong Kong Region; s

o Installation of Stainless Steel Laundry Racks in o PG JUTE [ B v B [ A 85 S i A e 2 4 T
Kowloon West and Hong Kong Region (Phase 2); GEZH) 5

o Replacement of collapsible gates for domestic flats of Jat SE R WA g R AT TR K
Min Chuen; and

o Building construction project of the Lower Primary e T Vi 0 % B A W o 2 /N BRI A A A K

School Development for Hong Kong International EHEY 2N REBRETRE -
School Association at No. 23 South Bay Close, Repulse
Bay.

Property Investment and Development LES /A 9% 9

Market review 5k

Despite the implementation of series of property cooling %5 £ W4 [ BN 7 B AT 2 JE St 2% 5 b 28 T
measures by the HKSAR Government and the commencement 35 L K 7 355 ©H#E A BB B » 4810 » 72 75 K
of interest rate hike cycle, property prices (especially the first-  JRZEXR ~ FIRARRAK ~ 75 K 58 8 K A5 BB A7
hand market) in Hong Kong has been boosted by continuously & MBI T » F sy &g OLE—F05) 0%
low unemployment rate, still-low interest rate, strong demand  AIH & °

and record high transacted land prices to reach its another

records high.

“ Annual Report 2017-2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s performance

Property investment

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s gross
rental income increased from approximately HK$77 million
for the year ended 31 March 2017 to approximately HK$80
million. The increase in rental income was primarily due to
the combined effects of the full year rental income received
from leasing of the shopping centers and car park buildings of
Tin Ma Court and Kam Ying Court of current year compared
with the ten-month rental income in last year; and the
decrease in rental income from the leasing of shop units at No.
123 Tung Choi Street, Mongkok due to the termination of a
tenancy contract in this year.

The Group’s gross profit from property investment business
decreased from approximately HK$74 million of last year
to approximately HK$71 million in this year. The decrease
was mainly resulted from the one-off reversal of prior year
provision of “Properties held for sale” in the sum of HK$4
million in the year ended 31 March 2017, which offset the
increase in property expenses resulting from the acquisition of
shopping centers and car park buildings of Tin Ma Court and
Kam Ying Court in that year.

The Group’s “Investment properties” were valued at an
aggregate value of HK$2,039 million as of 31 March 2018
(31 March 2017: HK$1,851 million) by an independent
professional valuer. Based on the independent valuation
performed, the Group recorded net gain on changes in
fair value of investment properties of approximately
HK$183 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017:
approximately HK$4 million).

The increase in fair value in this year was mainly contributed
from appreciation of investment properties at Tin Ma Court,
Wong Tai Sin and Kam Ying Court, Ma On Shan due to
increase in rental potential and general market appreciation.

As at 31 March 2018, approximately half of the aggregated
value of the Group’s investment properties portfolio referred
to the investment properties at Tin Ma Court, Wong Tai Sin
and Kam Ying Court, Man On Shan acquired in May 2016.

B PR wk i 5L 2y By

7 4 [ e BL

Y AHERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR ik it 5L 5y

Property development

In the year 2017/18, the Group has completed the sale of
a house and two car parking spaces of “Pokfulam Peak”, a
luxury residential development at Pokfulam Road, Hong
Kong, and recognized respective revenue of approximately
HK$252 million. In this year, the Group has also accepted
three tenders submitted from independent third parties for
the sale of total three houses and seven car parking spaces of
“Pokfulam Peak” for a total consideration of approximately
HK$789 million. Pursuant to the accepted tenders and
respective sales and purchase agreements, the properties will

be delivered to the respective buyers in the year 2018/19.

During the year under review, the Group completed the
fitting-out works of its high-end residential development
project “Belfran Peak”, located at No. 9 Belfran Road,
Kowloon. The project was granted the certificate of
compliance and is ready for sale. “Belfran Peak” consists of
a 20-storey residential building, which contains six duplex
apartments, a triplex apartment, car parking spaces and

recreational facilities.

As of 31 March 2018, the Group’s “Properties held for sale”
in the consolidated statement of financial position combined
remaining four houses and ten car parking spaces of “Pokfulam
Peak” and the entire properties of “Belfran Peak”.

In the year under review, the Group completed the demolition
works of its residential redevelopment at No. 28 Lugard Road,
The Peak and commenced the foundation works. Due to the
geographical location of this project and road conditions of
nearby areas, it is expected that the development period of
this project would be longer than four years.

”» o«

Details of the Group’s “Investment properties”, “Properties
held for development”, “Properties under development” and
“Properties held for sale” as at 31 March 2018 have been

disclosed in pages 14 to 18 of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision of Finance

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group has been granted a
licence under the “Money Lenders Ordinance” to carry on the
provision of finance business in Hong Kong since September
2015. During this year, interest at rates ranging from
approximately 4% to 41% per annum (2017: approximately
5% to 41% per annum) were charged to borrowers and interest
income of approximately HK$18 million was earned (2017:
approximately HK$17 million).

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains recorded an increase from
approximately HK$12 million for the year ended 31 March
2017 to approximately HK$191 million for the year ended
31 March 2018. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in net gain on changes in fair value of investment
properties from approximately HK$4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2017 to approximately HK$183 million in
current year. The higher net fair value gains recorded in this
year was mainly due to increase in rental potential of certain
investment properties after change in floor layout and general
market appreciation in current year, and the shortfall of
increase in market values to the capitalized transaction costs
incurred for the acquisition of certain investment properties in

last year.

Selling and Marketing Expenses
Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31 March
2017 and 31 March 2018 represented the advertising and

marketing expenses incurred for “Pokfulam Peak”.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately
HK$122 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 to
approximately HK$114 million for the year ended 31 March
2018. The higher administrative expenses of last year were
mainly attributable to the non-recurring professional fees
incurred in relation to the spin-off and the Listing (as defined
in this annual report) of Able Holdings in that year.

B PR wk i 5L 2y By
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Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group recognized
approximately HK$28 million finance costs as expenses
(2017: approximately HK$22 million) while the Group’s
total interest on bank loans before interest capitalisation to
“Properties under development” was approximately HK$30
million (2017: approximately HK$26 million). The increase in
overall finance costs was mainly attributable to the increase in

average bank loans and interest rates during this year.

Share of Profits and Losses of Joint Ventures

The amount of losses shared from the Group’s joint ventures
for the year ended 31 March 2017 were approximately HK$18
million, which was mainly shared from the Leighton-Able
Joint Venture (“LAJV”). LAJV has been undertaking design
and construction contracts which were completed, while some
contract costs are yet to be finalized with respective sub-
contractors. To explore further business opportunities, the
Group may co-operate with different independent partners
to tender contract works projects or property development

projects.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense increased by 61% from approximately
HK$35 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 to
approximately HK$56 million for this year. The increase was

consistent with the increase in taxable profit for this year.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit earned for this
year recorded an increase from approximately HK$142 million
for the year ended 31 March 2017 to approximately HK$409

million of current year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The capital of the Company only comprises ordinary
shares. The Group’s banking facilities, comprising primarily
bank loans, overdrafts and performance bond, amounted
to approximately HK$3,202 million as of 31 March 2018
(31 March 2017: approximately HK$2,996 million), of
which approximately HK$1,642 million (31 March 2017:
approximately HK$1,022 million) was unutilised. The Group
monitors capital structure using a net gearing ratio, which
is measured as total bank borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents, divided by equity attributable to owners of the
parent. As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s net gearing ratio
was -2.9% (31 March 2017: 14.0%).

Despite the Group’s net cash outflows in investing and
financing activities during the year ended 31 March 2018,
due to the strong net cash inflows in operating activities of
both contract works business and property investment and
development business for this year, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents recorded an increase by 20% from approximately
HK$1,237 million as at 31 March 2017 to approximately
HK$1,481 million as at 31 March 2018. Current ratio of the
Group stood at 1.48 as at 31 March 2018, while that as at
31 March 2017 was 1.46. Current ratio is measured as total
current assets divided by total current liabilities.

The Group maintains sufficient working capital resources
to execute its contract works, property investment and
development plans and provision of finance business. The
Group has all along taken a prudent and cautious approach to
cash application and its capital commitments.

Interest and Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group operates in Hong Kong that most of its
transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
some transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars. Since
the exchange rate of U.S. dollars against Hong Kong dollars
is relatively stable, the related currency exchange risk is

considered minimal.
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At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018, the Group’s bank
borrowings were all denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
on a floating rate basis. The Group’s bank accounts were
operated with principal bankers in Hong Kong. The interest
rates of these bank accounts are determined by reference to
the respective banks’ offer rate. For the two years ended 31
March 2018, the Group did not engage in any interest rates

and currency speculation activities.

Non-current Prepayments and Deposits

As at 31 March 2018, the Group recorded non-current
prepayments and deposits of approximately HK$115 million
(31 March 2017: nil) which represented prepayments and
deposits of approximately HK$114 million paid for the
acquisition of total 25/26 shares in Man Shung (as defined
in this annual report) and deposits of approximately HK$1
million paid for the acquisition of certain land lots at Kam
Tin, Yuen Long. Both acquisitions were completed subsequent

to year end.

Accounts Receivable

As at 31 March 2018, approximately 99% (31 March 2017:
approximately 99%) of the Group’s accounts receivable
represented the receivables for contract works of the Able
Group, which combined (i) trade debtors; and (ii) retentions
receivable in relation to completed and on-going contract
works projects. Trade debtors represent progress billing of
work performed by the Able Group and which the amounts
have been verified by the progress payment certificates issued
by and received from customers. The level of trade debtors
is principally affected by work progress and the amount of
the progress payment certificate received from customers
before the end of the reporting period. Approximately 97%
of the trade debtors for contract works, other than retentions
receivable, as at 31 March 2018 were subsequently settled
by 31 May 2018 (31 March 2017: approximately 95% were
subsequently settled by 31 May 2017). Retention receivables
represent the retention monies required by customers to secure
the Able Group’s due performance of the contracts. Generally,
the first half of the retention money is released upon practical
completion of a project and the second half of the retention

money is released upon expiry of the defect liability period.
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Prepayment, Deposits and Other Receivables

The Group’s balances at 31 March 2018 mainly represented
security deposits paid for potential acquisition of RICHREAR
INT’L (as defined in this annual report), prepaid insurance
for contract works, bank interest receivable, deposits paid
for building management services, wastage disposal, utilities,
etc.. The significant increase in balance at current year end
was mainly contributed from the security deposits paid for
the proposed acquisition of RICHREAR INT’L for HK$45
million.

Other Payables and Accruals

The Group’s balances at 31 March 2018 mainly represented
deposits received in advance for the sale of properties at
“Pokfulam Peak”, staff costs payable, deposits received from
tenants and audit fee payable, etc.. The significant increase
in balance at current year end was mainly resulted from the
approximately HK$82 million increase in deposits received
from customers of “Pokfulam Peak”.

Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2018, the following assets of the Group were
pledged in favour of certain banks to secure the banking
facilities granted by those banks to certain members of the
Group:

° investment properties with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$2,039,000,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$1,851,000,000);

° land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of

HK$85,354,000 (31 March 2017: HK$127,586,000);

o properties held for development with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$146,877,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$324,340,000);

o properties under development with an aggregate

carrying amount of HK$419,033,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$413,456,000);

o properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$246,053,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$762,025,000); and
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o the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits under
certain contract works and rental arrangements with
accounts receivable related to such contract works and
rental arrangements amounting to HK$220,143,000 and
HK$2,689,000 (31 March 2017: HK$231,567,000 and
HK$2,674,000), respectively.

Contingent liabilities
Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in note

33 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Capital commitments
Details of the Group’s capital commitments are set out in note
35 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES
AT MAN SHUNG

On 8 January 2018, Bright Wind Limited (“Bright Wind”, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Able Holdings) entered
into nine provisional sale and purchase agreements with
various independent third parties for the acquisition of certain
properties (representing 21/26 equal and undivided shares)
located at Man Shung Industrial Building (“Man Shung”),
No. 7, Lai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon at an aggregate
consideration of HK$438.6 million (the “First Round Man
Shung Acquisition”).

In addition to the First Round Man Shung Acquisition, on
9 February 2018, Bright Wind entered into three provisional
sale and purchase agreements with various independent third
parties for the acquisition of certain remaining properties
(representing 4/26 equal and undivided shares) located at
Man Shung at an aggregate consideration of HK$180 million
(the “Second Round Man Shung Acquisition”, together with
the First Round Man Shung Acquisition, the “Man Shung
Acquisition”). Completion of the Man Shung Acquisition
took place on 12 April 2018.
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After completion of the Man Shung Acquisition, the Group,
through the Able Group, owns the entire Man Shung, except
for Portion B on 11th floor of the building (Note). The Man
Shung Acquisition will provide a self-owned working space to
the Able Group as office, project rooms, rooms for new BEAM
and innovation and technology functions, technical workshop
and training centre for its expansion. To allow better usage of
the areas and further enhance the utilization of floor space of
Man Shung, the Able Group intends to acquire the remaining
unit of Man Shung and be the owner of the entire building.

The Man Shung Acquisition constituted a major transaction
for each of the Company and Able Holdings under Chapter
14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(The “Stock Exchange”). For further details of the Man
Shung Acquisition, please refer to the joint announcements
of the Company and Able Holdings dated 8 January 2018,
9 February 2018 and 12 April 2018, and the circulars of the
Company and Able Holdings, both dated 28 March 2018.

Note:  Subsequent to the date of approval of this annual report, Bright Wind

entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party for the acquisition of Portion B on 11th Floor of Man Shung
at a consideration of HK$30.3 million. Details of this subsequent
acquisition has been set out in the joint announcement of the
Company and Able Holdings dated 28 June 2018.

SUBSEQUENT COMPULSORY SALE OF WOOD
ROAD PROPERTY

Regarding the Group’s proposed redevelopment at No. 1
Wood Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (“Lot 1 Property”) and
at No. 1A Wood Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (“Lot 1A
Property”, together with Lot 1 Property, the “Wood Road
Property”), the Group filed an application to Lands Tribunal
for compulsory sale of all the undivided shares of the Wood
Road Property in 2016. As at 31 March 2018, the Group
owned 14 out of the total 16 undivided shares (i.e. 87.5%) of
Lot 1 Property and 15 out of the total 16 undivided shares (i.e.
93.75%) of Lot 1A Property, which had been leasing to third
parties for rental income before the Group can successfully
acquire the remaining stakes of the Wood Road Property
and commence the redevelopment. On 24 April 2018, Lands
Tribunal issued its judgment on ordering the compulsory sale
of all the undivided shares of the Wood Road Property for
the purposes of redevelopment pursuant to section 3(1) of the
Land (Compulsory Sale for Redevelopment) Ordinance (Cap
545) by auction at the reserve price of HK$485 million. The
auction is set on 29 June 2018 (Note).

Note:  The Group successfully won the bid for the acquisition of the Wood
Road Property at the final bidding price of HK$485 million. Details
of this subsequent acquisition has been set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 29 June 2018.
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PROPOSED SUBSEQUENT ACQUISITION OF
RICHREAR INT’L

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 January
2018, Profit Chain Investments Limited (“Profit Chain”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a
conditional share transfer agreement with an independent
third party (the “Vendor”) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to
which, Profit Chain has conditionally agreed to acquire, and
the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, the entire equity
interest of Richrear International Limited (“RICHREAR
INT’L”) at a consideration of HK$150 million (the “Richrear
Acquisition”).

RICHREAR INT’L is a limited company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands that its sole business is to hold the
entire issued share capital of Richrear Plastic Material Limited
(“RICHREAR HK”, a limited liability company incorporated
in Hong Kong) which has been engaged in the processing and
trading of plastic materials, pigments and master batch and the
holding of the SZ Properties (as defined below). At the same
time, RICHREAR HK also owns the entire interests of & 4
B E R GEIN AR A R (“RICHREAR SZ”), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaged in the processing of plastic materials, pigments and

master batch at the SZ Properties.

The SZ Properties refers to a piece of industrial land of
approximately 10,000 square metres with six 3-6 storey high
buildings and fixtures erected thereon, including an office
building, three plants and two staff dormitories located in the
Hong Qiao Tou Industrial Estate, Song Gang Sub-district,
Baoan District, Shenzhen, the PRC (No. 608 Song Gang
Section, China National Highway 107).

The Group has been performing due diligence works regarding
the Richrear Acquisition. Up to the approval date of this
annual report, deposits of HK$45 million in aggregate has
been paid to the Vendor.

As at the date of approval of this annual report, the Richrear
Acquisition is still under negotiation that the Richrear
Acquisition may or may not proceed. If proceed, the Richrear
Acquisition will constitute a discloseable transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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Further announcement(s) in relation to the Richrear
Acquisition will be made by the Company as and when

appropriate in accordance with the Listing Rules.

LISTING OF ABLE HOLDINGS IN 2016/17

As set out in note 32(a) to the audited consolidated financial
statements, the Group disposed 25% interests of its contract
works business through the separate listing (the “Listing”)
of Able Engineering Holdings Limited (“Able Holdings”)
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange on 20 February
2017. After deducting the underwriting commission and other
expenses in relation to the Listing, Able Holdings successfully
raised a total net cash proceeds of approximately HK$524
million from the Listing and approximately HK$386 million of
the net proceeds were unused as at 31 March 2018.

Use of Proceeds from the Listing

According to the section “Future Plans and Proposed Use
of Proceeds” as set out in the prospectus of Able Holdings
dated 26 January 2017, Able Holdings and its subsidiaries

(collectively, the “Able Group”) used the net proceeds in the
year ended 31 March 2018 as follows:
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As at 31 March 2018, the unused net proceeds were deposited
in licensed banks in Hong Kong.

ACQUISITION OF THE KAM YING PROPERTY
AND THE TIN MA PROPERTY IN 2016/17

On 31 May 2016, two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company acquired from Link Properties Limited
(a wholly-owned special purpose vehicle of Link Real
Estate Investment Trust (“Links”, stock code: 823)) the
shopping mall and car parking buildings at Kam Ying
Court, Ma On Shan (the “Kam Ying Property”) and Tin
Ma Court, Wong Tai Sin (the “Tin Ma Property”) at the
considerations of HK$471 million and HK$308 million,
respectively (collectively, the “Acquisition”). The aggregated
considerations of HK$779 million together with the expenses
in relation to the Acquisition of approximately HK$67 million
were funded by the Group’s internal resources and new bank
borrowings. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Kam Ying
Property and the Tin Ma Property contributed approximately
HK$45 million in aggregate to the Group’s revenue (2017:
approximately HK$35 million).

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 March 2018, the Group employed 404 full-time
employees (31 March 2017: 352) in Hong Kong. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance and
work experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary
bonus and share options may be granted to senior management
and staff members by reference to the Group’s performance,
specific project’s performance as well as the individual
employee’s performance. Staff benefits include mandatory
provident fund, medical insurance, incentive travel, subsidies

for education and training programmes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the AGM held on 7 September 2011, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2011 Scheme”) in
replacement of its share option scheme which was adopted
on 5 August 2002. The purposes of the 2011 Scheme are to
provide incentives for the Group’s employees and executives,
to recognise their contributions to the Group’s growth and
to provide more flexibility for the Group in formulating
its remuneration policy. During the year ended 31 March
2018, the Company did not grant any share options (2017:
nil) under the 2011 Scheme to the Group’s employees
(including Directors). As at 31 March 2018, the Company
had 10,200,000 outstanding share options (31 March 2017:
10,620,000) under the 2011 Scheme.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”), aged 55, a
controlling shareholder of the Company, has been the
Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director since
July 2000. Mr. NGAI was appointed as a director of Able
Engineering Holdings Limited (“Able Holdings”, a subsidiary
of the Company which shares commenced to deal on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The
“Stock Exchange”) since 20 February 2017, stock code: 1627;
together with its subsidiaries, the “Able Group”) in July 2016
and was re-designated as its chairman and executive director

in September 2016.

Mr. NGALI is a director of every subsidiary of the Group,
including the Able Group. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. NGAI has over
21 years of experience in the construction industry and over
14 years of experience in the property industry. He is primarily
responsible for the management of the Board and the board
of directors of Able Holdings and the strategic planning of
the Group. Save as aforesaid, Mr. NGAI has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three

years.
Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU Kwok Fai are brothers-in-law.

Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”), aged 52, has been the
Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director of the Board
since July 2000. Mr. YAU was further appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company in July 2004. Mr. YAU was
also appointed as a director of Able Holdings in July 2016 and

was re-designated as its executive director in September 2016.

Mr. YAU is a director of all major subsidiaries of the
Group, including the Able Group. He is also a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
YAU is primarily responsible for formulating policy,
overall development and the day-to-day management and
administration of the Group’s operations. Mr. YAU has over
27 years of experience in the construction industry and 14
years of experience in the property industry.
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Mr. YAU obtained a bachelor of engineering degree in
civil engineering (first class honours) from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic in November 1990, a diploma from the Imperial
College London, the United Kingdom (“UK”) in July 1991
and a master of science degree with distinction in structural
steel design from University of London, UK in August 1991.
Mr. YAU is a chartered engineer and an incorporated member
of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the Institution of
Structural Engineers of the UK and the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers (“HKIE”). He is also a registered professional
engineer (civil & structural) and a registered structural

engineer under the Buildings Ordinance.

From November 2013 to August 2015, Mr. YAU was the non-
executive director and the chairman of Excel Development
(Holdings) Limited (a company which shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange, had its name changed
to “Bisu Technology Group International Limited” since 16
January 2017; stock code: 1372). Save as aforesaid, Mr. YAU
has not held any directorship in other listed public companies

in the last three years.
Mr. YAU and Mr. NGALI are brothers-in-law.

Ms. LAU Tsz Kwan, Jone (“Ms. LAU”), aged 46, has been
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company since 1
September 2016. Ms. LAU is currently responsible for human
resources and property investment and development related
matters of the Group.

Ms. LAU first joined the Group as an Administration Manager
of a then major subsidiary of the Group in October 2003. Her
employment was transferred to another major subsidiary of the
Group as a Human Resources and Administration Manager
in July 2004 and involved in the Group’s human resources,
administration and property investment and development
matters. In August 2006, Ms. LAU left the Group in order to
devote more time to her personal commitments. In May 2008,
Ms. LAU rejoined the Group as a Human Resources Manager
and in November 2013, she was also appointed as the Property
Manager of the Group. Ms. LAU has over 20 years of solid
human resources management, administration and property

management, investment and development experience.
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Ms. LAU obtained a Diploma in Management Studies from
Lingnan University in September 2002 and a Bachelor Degree
in Business Administration from Northumbria University of

UK in June 2003.

Ms. LAU has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (“NED”)

Dr. LEE Man Piu, Albert (“Dr. LEE”), aged 57, has been
appointed as a NED of the Company since 1 September 2016.
Dr. LEE has also been appointed as an additional member

of the Remuneration Committee of the Company since 1
September 2017.

Dr. LEE is a registered dentist in Hong Kong. He completed
his undergraduate training in dentistry at the University of
Adelaide, Australia. He then received a Commonwealth
Scholarship Medical Award to pursuit his postgraduate
training at the Institute of Dental Surgery, University
of London, UK. He attained Fellowship of the Royal
Australasian College of Dental Surgeons by examination and
is an inaugural Fellow of the College of Dental Surgeons of
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Academy of Medicine.

Dr. LEE is currently a Councillor of the Royal Australasian
College of Dental Surgeons and the deputy chairman of the
Interchange Association of Dental Medicine among Shanghai,
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan and a member of the Editorial
Board of the journal “Hong Kong Medical Diary”. Dr. LEE was
served as a Senior Dental Officer of Department of Health
of the Government of Hong Kong, a Honorary Consultant
Dental Service (Paediatric Dentistry) of the Hospital
Authority of Hong Kong and a Part-time Clinical Lecturer in
the Faculty of Dentistry of the University of Hong Kong.

Dr. LEE has not held any directorship in other listed public

companies in the last three years.

Annual Report 2017-2018

Bl R F AR LT BRSO T A B
SCIE > W T RE AN H A B Northumbria
University (7 5% P HE K22 ) T 45 B 22 4 B4 ©

B i 2 = A P I A A b i A SR A 4f
AT i 35 S5 I 5 o

FEPATE P ([FEPATHE P )

FRWEAE (TFRAE]D > Ltk AZF—A
FIA - HBEREAAAFTZIENTES - 2
WABH - LFIUA A RERE R AL
ZHMEE T ZHIMRE -

2R T — A T U R A o R SR
SRR R R > BEAR S ST 1 T R A
B ) 3 0 A O BT L B e O 46 AR
LSRR T WA 5 5T R B B B SR - i
iy T 8 O ok B o A A i R R B e 2 A e e
+ .

A BT WA 2 5OCF FHE BB & B i LR R
R LEE e 8 B 5 3 o IR M (R TR 2
B T E o AR A 8 2 A U BOM A B T ACF A
A~ A W e A BELR OF B B B o B 2R R
i 8 A e 7 6 O B O AR B R B R M ek e i

2 A 7 25 =AF P9 3 B A At BT A SR A R AT
AT 3 B -



O

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R & #

B1oGrRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(“INEDs”)

Prof. KO Jan Ming (“Prof. KO”), aged 75, has been an INED
of the Company since July 2000. He is currently the Chairman
of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Prof.
KO is the former Vice President and former Chair Professor of
Structural Engineering of Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(“PolyU”), and currently an Emeritus Professor of PolyU
and Senior Advisor of its Research Institute for Sustainable
Urban Development. Prof. KO holds a Bachelor Degree
in Civil Engineering and a Doctorate Degree in Structural
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He is a Fellow
of the HKIE, the Institution of Structural Engineers of UK,
the American Society of Civil Engineers and the Hong Kong
Academy of Engineering Sciences (“HKAES”).

Prof. KO was the Honourable Secretary of HKAES (2010-
2016), the Chairman of the Accreditation Board (2001-
2006) of HKIE, and the Chairman of Hong Kong Economic
Cooperation (APEC) and Engineering Mobility Forum (EMF)
Monitoring Committees (2006-2009). Prof. KO was also a
member of Hong Kong Construction Industry Council (2007-
2013), a member of the Hong Kong Commission on Strategic
Development (2009-2012) and the Advisor of the Beijing
Hong Kong Academic Exchange Centre.

Prof. KO was a Governing Council Member of Construction
Industry Institute (Hong Kong) (2002-2008), a Council
Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Science (2002-
2006), President of The Hong Kong Society of Theoretical
and Applied Mechanics (1999-2000), President of The Hong
Kong Association for the Advancement of Science and
Technology (2000-2001) and a Panel Member of the Appeal
Tribunal in Buildings of the HKSAR (1997-2004).

Prof. KO was Co-chair of the Scientific Steering Committee,
State Key Laboratory on Structural Dynamics in Bridge
Engineering, Chongqing Communications Research and
Design Institute (2008-2012), and a Member of the Scientific
Steering Committee, State Key Laboratory on Disaster
Reduction in Civil Engineering, Tongji University (2009-
2013).
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Prof. KO was Editor-in-Chief of an international journal
“Advances in Structural Engineering” (1997-2003), Editorin-
Chief (Asia-Pacific) of an international journal “Smart
Structures and Systems”, Senior Consultant of the Editorial
Board of the journal “Spatial Structures”, a member of the
Editorial Boards of the journals “Engineering Mechanics,
Earthquake and Engineering Vibration” and “Hazards
Prevention and Mitigation Engineering”. Prof. KO was
President of Asian-Pacific Network of Centres for Earthquake
Engineering (2005-2007), Vice President (2004-2007) and
Council Member (2004-2011) of the International Society
for Structural Health Monitoring of Intelligent Infrastructures
(“ISHMII”), and a Management Board Member of the
AsianPacific Network of Centres for Research in Smart
Structures Technology.

Prof. KO was presented The President’s Award of HKIE in
2006 and was inducted into the Hall of Fame of HKIE in 2010.
Prof. KO was presented The HKIE Gold Medal in 2011. In
the same year, Prof. KO was presented The Aftab Mufti Medal
by ISHMII in recognition of his lifetime achievement in civil
structural health monitoring. In November 2016, Prof. KO
was conferred the Honorary Doctor of Engineering by PolyU
in recognition of his distinguished accomplishments and

contributions.

Prof. KO has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.

The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP, (“The Hon. IP”),
aged 66, has been an INED of the Company since July 2000.
He is currently a member of the Company’s Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination

Committee.

The Hon. IP is a non-official member of the Executive
Council of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) and a Hong Kong
Deputy to the National People’s Congress of the People’s
Republic of China. The Hon. IP is a Party Affairs Advisor to
the Democratic Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of
Hong Kong (“DAB”). He is also the Chairman of Hon Wah
Educational Organisation.
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The Hon. IP was a member of the Legislative Council (1995-
1997), a member of the Provisional Legislative Council
(1997-1998), and a member of the Legislative Council of
the HKSAR representing the District Council functional
constituency (2000-2004 and 2008-2012) and the District
Council (First) functional constituency (2012-2016). The
Hon. IP was also an elected member of the Central and
Western District Council (1992-2003 and 2007-2015). He
also served as a non-executive director of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority Board, a member of the
Hong Kong Housing Authority, a non-executive director of
Urban Renewal Authority Board, a member of the Transport
Advisory Committee, the Governing Committee of the Beat
Drugs Fund Association and the Court of the University of
Hong Kong. The Hon. IP was appointed as a Justice of the
Peace (“JP”) in 1999 and was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star
(“GBS”) in 2004 and the Grand Bauhinia Medal (“GBM”) in
June 2017.

The Hon. IP is the father of Mr. IP Yik Nam, the chief
executive officer and an executive director of Able Holdings

and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group.

In addition to being a Director of the Company, The Hon.
IP was also an independent non-executive director of CNC
Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed on
the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange, stock code: 8356)
from 18 May 2015 to 3 January 2018. Save as aforesaid, The
Hon. IP has not held any directorship in other listed public

companies in the last three years.

Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung, Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”), aged 69,
has been an INED of the Company since September 2004. He
is currently the Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee.
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Mr. FUNG is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising), a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He holds a Master of
Arts Degree from Antioch University of the United States
of America. Presently, Mr. FUNG is a special consultant of
Lee & Yu Certified Public Accountants as well as practicing
as a sole proprietor in the name of P. C. Fung & Company,
a certified public accountants firm. Previously, he served
in Senior and Senior Manager positions in large local and

international accounting firms.

Mr. FUNG is currently an Honorary Adviser of The Hong
Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association, a Standing
Committee member of the Jiangxi Provincial Overseas
Liaison Association and a member of the Inland Revenue
Department’s Users’ Committee. Mr. FUNG is a founding

member, chairman of Training Committee and vice chairman

of Senate of DAB.

In addition to being a Director of the Company, Mr. FUNG
is also an independent non-executive director of China Lesso
Group Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange, stock code: 2128)
during the period from 27 February 2010 to present. Save as
aforesaid, Mr. FUNG has not held any directorship in other

listed public companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mzr. IP Yik Nam, aged 38, joined the Group in April 2016,
was appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive
director of Able Holdings since September 2016. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group. He is
primarily responsible for business development, legal and
compliance and corporate governance affairs of the Able

Group.
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Mr. IP has over 13 years of management experience through
assuming various management roles in companies in the
United States and Hong Kong. He graduated from Hong Kong
Baptist University with a bachelor of business administration
degree in human resources management in December 2002.
He further obtained a master of business administration degree
from Long Island University of the United States in May 2004
and a bachelor of laws degree from University of London in
August 2011.

Mr. IP is the son of The Hon. IP, one of the INEDs of the
Company.

Mr. YAM Kui Hung, aged 59, joined the Group in February
1996 as a director of a major subsidiary of the Group. He
was also appointed as an executive director of Able Holdings
in September 2016. Mr. YAM is primarily responsible for
the overall management and operations of certain building
projects of the Able Group which encompasses, among others,

quality assessment and project risk management affairs.

Mr. YAM has over 38 years of experience in the construction
field. He obtained a higher certificate in building studies
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in November 1982 and a
postgraduate diploma in construction management from the
Construction Industry Training Authority in Hong Kong in
October 1989. He is a corporate member of the HKIE.

Mr. LAU Chi Fai Daniel, aged 49, joined the Group in
November 2005, was appointed as an executive director of
Able Holdings in September 2016. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Able Group. Mr. LAU is in charge

of building project management and contract administration

work of the Able Group.

Mr. LAU has over 25 years of experience in the construction
field. He obtained a bachelor degree in Construction
Management from South Bank University of UK in July
1993 and a higher diploma in Building Technology and
Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in November
1991. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of

Construction Managers.
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Mr. CHEUNG Ho Yuen, aged 46, joined the Group in
September 2003, was appointed as an executive director
of Able Holdings in September 2016. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Able Group. Mr. CHEUNG
is primarily responsible for project estimation, project sub-

contracting and procurement management of the Able Group.

Mr. CHEUNG has over 22 years of experience in the
construction industry. He obtained a bachelor degree in
Quantity Surveying from University of Greenwich of UK in
July 1998 and a higher diploma in Building Surveying from
City University of Hong Kong in November 1995.

Ms. TSANG Hau Lam, aged 37, joined the Group in August
2012. She was appointed as the secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and the financial controller of
the Group in October 2012. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the financial matters and company secretarial

affairs of the Group.

Ms. TSANG is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the UK and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She has over 15 years’ accounting, auditing, financing and
company secretarial experience. Ms. TSANG obtained a
bachelor degree in Business Administration (Professional

Accountancy) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2002.

Mr. AU Man Yiu, aged 35, joined the Group in March 2018.
He was appointed as the company secretary and financial
controller of Able Holdings from 9 April 2018 and is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial matters and company

secretarial affairs of the Able Group.

Mr. AU has over 11 years of experience in auditing, financial
reporting, corporate finance, investor relations and company
secretary. Mr. AU obtained a bachelor degree in Accounting
and Finance from The University of Exeter of UK in 2006. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.
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Ms. CHONG Shuk Yee, aged 40, joined the Group in March
2015, is currently a Leasing Manager of the Group and is
responsible for property market analysis, lease negotiation,
leasing administrations and tenancy management. Ms.
CHONG holds a Master of Business Administration from The
Open University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in
Humanities from Hong Kong Baptist University. She has over

17 years’ working experience.
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Corporate governance is the system by which the Company
is directed and controlled. The board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is fully aware of its
importance to the shareholders and has developed a rigorous
system of checks and balances which allows management to
respond to the strategic directions approved by the Board.
The Board believes that a well-balanced corporate governance
system enables the Company to achieve business excellence

and fulfill the Company’s mission.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance
practices and structures that were in place during the financial
year ended 31 March 2018, with specific reference to the
principles and guidelines of the “Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”). In developing
and reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices,

the Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with

the code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2018.

THE BOARD

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested
in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership
and control of the Company, and the Directors are collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs and overseeing the
achievement of strategic plans to enhance shareholders’ value.
The Board has undertaken the corporate governance function
as required under the CG Code. The Board is responsible for
all major aspects of the Company’s affairs, which includes:

° formulating key policy matters, overall strategic plans

and directions, and objectives of the Group;

° monitoring the performance of the management of the

Group;

Annual Report 2017-2018

WEFERBANFZBELERRS - KAFZ
R ((HF)G(EFEFD RN THMEETR
BB Z WL > I ST 2 i e A A A )
JE > 45 B g RE L 45 B o ) oL SR 5 g o
FEMGE > B PENMAIETIRRLR > TUEA
NFEREBES > REBANT Z A o

AR 0 T3 A W B 38 B A PR W (T 0B 28 9 1)
Gt 2 b B R (T b ol B ) i e - 7Y (e S A%
T I R A SRR ) (T340 1 B ) Pr ik
ZE R R ARG S > BIAAFREEZZ N
HEZHA=Z— HIRZ BN T 2 2R
WL A o A AR S AR i 36 A IR BOR B R B
hf > A W] O R IRBCE 2 05k o

A ARER RSN

EHRRBR > RREZR - )N\FE=EA=+—HILE
JE > ARGy T CAEAT A SRR S U B S RIS o

P

7Ky ] S 75 R A LI R B > BRI
BRAERIA AT R > E BB SR A
R e B R v B B DA SR T B AR AR SR
e oy WL R S R o EER A R A SR IR T
ZERAHMET R - EFFAAAL TN
AR FZPR > Wb BT

1 A A 4 v B S B RE ~ SRE M )
) J H A

B 8 A 4 1 4 B g A R B 5



v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

CORPORATE (GOVERNANCE REPORT

o Implementing and monitoring an effective framework of

risk management and internal controls;

° monitoring material transactions (including, in
particular, those which may involve conflicts of

interest);

o approving interim reports, annual reports,

announcements and considering dividend policy;

o ensuring the Company has good corporate governance
and reviewing and monitoring its policies and practices
on compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory

requirements; and

o approving and monitoring other significant financial

and operational matters.

Responsibilities over day-to-day operations are delegated
to the management under the leadership of the Executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date
of this report, the Board is composed of seven Directors,
including three Executive Directors, namely Mr. NGAI
Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”), Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr.
YAU”) and Ms. LAU Tsz Kwan, Jone (“Ms. LAU”); a Non-
executive Director (“NED”), namely Dr. LEE Man Piu,
Albert (“Dr. LEE”); and three Independent Non-executive
Directors (“INED(s)”), namely Prof. KO Jan Ming (“Prof.
KO”), The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP (“The Hon.
IP”) and Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung, Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”).
Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 40 to 46 of this annual
report. A list of Directors and their role and function is also

available on the Company’s websites.
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The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Group’s business. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the advice and
services of the senior management and the Company
Secretary, with a view to ensuring that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. When needed
and upon making request to the Board, the INEDs may obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in

carrying out their duties.

The Company has arranged insurance cover in respect of legal
action against the Directors and its officers. The insurance
coverage is reviewed annually to ensure that the Directors and
officers are adequately protected against potential liabilities.

The INEDs

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three INEDs, with at least one
INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The

Company has also met the requirement of at least one-third of
members of the Board being INEDs.

The three INEDs of the Company are persons of high caliber,
with professional qualifications and experience in the fields
of engineering, legislation and accounting and finance. With
their experience gained from various sectors, they provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties

and responsibilities of the Board.

Further, the Company is of the view that each of Prof.
KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG meets the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
is independent in accordance with the terms of the
guidelines having regard to (i) their annual confirmation
of independence as required under the Listing Rules, (ii)
the absence of involvement in the daily management of
the Company, (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment, and (iv) the absence of remuneration
from the Company other than the directors’ fee and the share
options granted to them (if any).
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Each of Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG, all being
INED of the Company eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”), has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The INEDs are appointed for a fixed specific term. Each of
Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG has served as an INED
of the Company for more than nine years that their further
appointment should be subject to separate resolutions to be
approved by shareholders. During their years of appointment,
each of Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG has
demonstrated their ability to provide an independent view to
the Company’s matters. Notwithstanding their years of service
as an INED of the Company, the Board is of the view that
Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG are able to continue to
fulfill their roles as required and thus recommends them for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Tentative dates of regular
Board meetings for next year are scheduled approaching the
end of each calendar year in order to facilitate the Directors
to plan for attendance of the meetings. Meetings will also be

convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues.

Any Director who is not able to present physically may
participate at any Board meeting through electronic means of
communication, such as conference telephone or other similar
communication equipment, in accordance with the Bye-laws

of the Company.

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least
14 days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other
Board meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman
of the Board to prepare the meeting notice and agenda. Each
Director may include any item in the agenda. The agenda,
accompanied by meeting papers with sufficient and reliable
information, are sent to each Director not less than 3 days
before the date of a Board meeting to enable the Directors
to make informed decisions on the matters to be discussed,
except where a Board meeting is convened on a very urgent

basis to consider any urgent ad hoc matter.
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Minutes of Board meetings are recorded in sufficient details

regarding the matters considered by the Board at the meeting

and decisions reached. Draft minutes of Board meetings are

circulated to the Directors for comments and the signed

minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and open for

inspection to any Director on request.

Each Director is expected to give sufficient time and attention

to the affairs of the Company. The individual attendance

record of each Director at the general meetings of the Board
and the Board Committees, and at AGM during the year
ended 31 March 2018 are set out below:

Directors Remuneration
B Board  Committee
#HE  FMZAR
Executive Directors Pfik
Mr. NGAI ik 44 NJA RHEH
Mr. YAU i 4/4 33
Ms. LAU A4t 44 NJAANEAR
NED FH S
Dr. LEE* B0 e 44 20
INEDs WL BT
Prof. KO [t 5 44 33
The Hon. IP ERkH 44 33
Mr. FUNG iepita 44 33
* Being appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee of the

Company from 1 September 2017.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession of Directors and assessing the
independence of INEDs. The appointment of INEDs adheres
to the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board, through the Nomination
Committee set up in December 2011, reviews from time to
time its own structure, size and composition to ensure that it
has a balance of appropriate expertise, skills and experience

for the needs of the businesses of the Group.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
In 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) upon the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee to set out the approach to
achieve diversity of Board members. A summary of the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy is set out in the subsection
“Nomination Committee” under the section “BOARD
COMMITTEES” in this report.

The term of office of each of the Director (including the NED
and INEDs) has been fixed for a specific term for not more
than three years. They are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s AGM in accordance with

the Company’s Bye-laws.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director(s)
appointed during the year as an addition to the Board or to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board should hold office only
until the next coming general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. At each
AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (other
than the newly appointed Directors) shall retire from office by
rotation. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
The election of each candidate is done through a separate

resolution.
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The Company has also complied with the requirement of the
CG Code on considering the independence of an INED who
has served more than nine years for his further appointment.
Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG, each has served on
the Board for more than nine years, was re-elected as INEDs
at the 2017 AGM by passing separate resolution at the 2017
AGM. The Board’s view on their independent status was set
out in the 2017 AGM circular dated 21 July 2017 and the sub-
section “The INEDs” under the section “THE BOARD?” of this

report.

At the forthcoming AGM to be held on 31 August 2018, Mr.
YAU, Ms. LAU, Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG shall
retire from office in accordance with clause 87 of the Bye-
laws and/or the Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code. All the
above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election to serve for another term at the AGM. Details
with respect to the candidates standing for election as

Directors are set out in the AGM circular to shareholders.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)
of the Company are performed by Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU,
respectively. This segregation ensures a clear division of the
Chairman’s responsibilities for the management of the Board
and the CEO’s responsibilities for the day-to-day management
of the Company’s business. Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU are
brothers-in-law.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership for the
Board, and ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and that the Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner. The Chairman has an additional or casting vote in
the event of an equality of votes on any matter to be decided

by the Board.

The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for
providing leadership for the management, implementing and
reporting to the Board on the Group’s strategy, overseeing
the day-to-day operations of the Group and providing all such
information to the Board as is necessary to enable the Board to

monitor the performance of the management.
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According to the code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Chairman met with the NED and INEDs of the Company for
once without the presence of the management and the other
Executive Directors during the year ended 31 March 2018.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board Committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs.

Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee was established on 8
September 2000 with written terms of reference. The Audit
Committee’s terms of reference has been revised and adopted
on 30 March 2016 and the document is available on the
websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee comprised three
INEDs, namely Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG. Mr.
FUNG is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr.
FUNG is a practising certified public accountant and possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and experiences in

financial matters.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to
review the consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s
report, and to monitor the integrity of the consolidated
financial statements. It also assists the Board to oversee risk
management and internal control systems and internal and
external audit functions. The Audit Committee holds regular
meetings at least twice a year and they also meet with the
Company’s external auditor at least twice a year to discuss the
audit plan and to review the Company’s reports and accounts.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee
held four meetings and the primarily works performed by the
Audit Committee were, among others:

° reviewed the unaudited accounts, interim report and
interim results announcement of the Company and the
Group;
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° reviewed the audited accounts and final results
announcement of the Company and the Group;

o reviewed the accounting policies and practices adopted
by the Company and the Group;

o reviewed and recommend the appointment,

reappointment and removal of external auditor;

o approved the scope and plan of internal and external
audit;
o set up “Policy on Provision of Non-audit Services by

the Group’s External Auditor and its Associates” and

review proposed non-audit services;

o reviewed the engagement, services (including non-audit
services) provided and remuneration of the external

auditor and its independence;

° reviewed the results and effectiveness of the internal

and external audit function;

° reviewed and monitored the adequacy and effectiveness
of the financial reporting function, risk management

system and internal control system of the Group;

o reviewed the continuing connected transactions; and
° reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee.

It is confirmed that there is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee’s view on re-appointment of
external auditor, and they both have agreed to recommend
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s
external auditor for the ensuing year at the 2018 AGM of the
Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established on
16 December 2005 with written terms of reference and consists
of a majority of INEDs. The purpose of the Remuneration
Committee is to set policy on Executive Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and for making recommendations
to the Board on remuneration packages for Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee’s terms of
reference has been revised and adopted on 27 March 2014 and
the document is available on the websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2018, the Remuneration Committee was
made up of the three INEDs, namely Prof. KO, The Hon. IP
and Mr. FUNG; one NED, namely Dr. LEE (being appointed
on 1 September 2017); and one Executive Director, namely
Mr. YAU. Prof. KO is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The main responsibility of the Remuneration
Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structuring for Directors and senior
management and their remuneration package with reference

to the Group’s corporate goals and strategies.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings and the major works
performed by the Remuneration Committee were, among

others:

° approved the contract/letter of appointments entered

into between the Company and individual Director(s);

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the policy and structure for remuneration of the

Directors and senior management;

o reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration package, including discretionary
performance-based bonus, of individual Directors and

senior management; and

° reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration

Committee.
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Executive Directors and certain senior management of the
Group are entitled to discretionary performance-related bonus
payments which are determined with reference to the Group’s
operating results and their respective individual performance.
No Director involved in the determination about his/her own
remuneration. Particulars of the remuneration payable to each
Director for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in note
8 to the audited consolidated financial statements of this

annual report.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the senior management (excluding the

Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2018 was set

out below:

ARG Z AT R T R A P A S
KB Z WG ACAL > WAEALTS 2% A4 M A28
A WA RBA A - B E S
M kE - FREE T N\E=ZH=14—
H AL 4F B2 E S AT 4 S 2 a1 > SRR AR
JE et N 2 RETR AL AR B B 85 R B S o

AR A SR P RISEB. 15#E » DA 5 v 448 2
@ (AafhESs) REE-F—/E=A=1—H
k4 B2 F 557 T AL S -

Within the band of AL A P Number of individuals
A¥

Nil to HK$1,500,000 FH L £ 1,500,000% 0

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001 #% 76 F2,500,000#% JG 2

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 % 7t %3,500,000% JC 2

Nomination Committee

The Company’s Nomination Committee was established on 7
September 2011 with written terms of reference and consists
of a majority of INEDs. The Nomination Committee’s terms of
reference has been revised and adopted on 27 March 2014 and
the document is available on the websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2018, the Nomination Committee was made
up of the three INEDs, namely Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr.
FUNG; and one Executive Director, namely Mr. NGAI. Mr.
NGAI is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the Board at
least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board, identifying individuals suitably and
qualified to become Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. The Nomination Committee meets at least once
a year. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings. The major works performed by

the Nomination Committee were, among others:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and

succession planning for Directors;
o assessed the independence of INEDs;

o reviewed time commitment of Directors for performance

of their responsibilities;

o reviewed and monitored the training and continuous

professional development of Directors;

o reviewed the “Board Diversity Policy” and monitor its

implementation; and

° reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination

Committee.
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Board Diversity Policy

The “Board Diversity Policy” sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. It is believed that a truly diverse board
will include and make good use of differences in the skills,
background, experience, knowledge, expertise and other
qualities of members of the Board. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition
of the Board. All appointments of Directors will be based
on merit and the Nomination Committee will review the
Board composition by considering the benefits of all aspects
of diversity. The “Board Diversity Policy” shall be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee, as appropriate and at least
annually, to ensure its effectiveness.

An analysis of the current Board composition, classified into 3R # 55 & 0 4L (A B AT F -

different aspects, is set out below:

Aspects B3] Board Composition 3 #1 4L
Gendertt Male 3 (6) Female% (1)
Desienation B Executive Non-executive Independent Non-executive
we #10) FB(1) B da0)
45-54 (1) 55-64 (2) 65-74 (2) Above 58 E(1)
Educational background Secondary or below Undergraduate Postgraduate
L] R (1) KEARH/KE0) KBARI L)
Tt e : B Property & Dental & Engineering & Legislation & ,
Skllligrég%;}?gﬂgigence Construc%)% ?r?%p %%%gg; station administration administration administration administration A%ﬁ%g&%{mw
WERGH() HRRAR() | TATERAR() | LERGH() '
No. of directorship
with other listed companies
in the past 3 years 0(4) 1(2) 2 (1)
B AR A L A
sz AdHH
() Number of respective Directors () HH B S H
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Considered the current business needs of the Group, the
Nomination Committee considers that the existing members
of the Board have a diverse range of experience and
professional expertise. Accordingly, the Committee did not
suggest the appointment of new Directors to the Board during
the year ended 31 March 2018. Meanwhile, the suggestion
regarding the appointment of Dr. LEE as an additional
member of the Remuneration Committee has been accepted.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities
and development of the Group. The Company provides all
members of the Board with monthly updates on the Group’s
development.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company continues its effort in
providing updates on the changes in the relevant regulatory
requirements applicable to the Group from time to time and
recommending relevant seminars/conferences/forums to the

Directors as and when appropriate.

The Directors acknowledge the need for continuous
professional development and they confirmed that they had
complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code
during the year. All Directors are required to provide the
Company with the records of the training they received
annually. According to the records maintained by the
Company, all Directors pursued continuous professional
development during the year and relevant details are set out

below:

AR RN

BRA G I BL IR O SE B T B o IRB TR IR
S BN A B BT S (R SR A N R o
Rt - RAZEAHERARE-FZ - N\F=A
Zt—HIRFEREE A EFELaRE o e
R incE S bl IR iUfc Y TRkl £
o

PR U - R R

TEALHE Y T AR R AR A R E R I > EIRA
MR RE ~ B E) LB o AN A
5T R A R A 5 T 5T B o

HRE AR SR AR 7 FI R PRI SCER A6 SIRBLAE » B
HHEFHS B AR > DU RO L
kAT RE o A8 M e DR A2 LA i R S U A R
CLERRVANIE 5 & R (Y (N NS UK
S IRF A P P 7 A 5 T i R L Y
A > SN I 1 0 45 e A B B S
H o

ERARR YRR R T > WA TR
TR T8 EL RSP A AT R T A T AR SCER AL 6.5 6
Fir A A 3 R R AR R SR B I A BT R
ATFREE o MBARAT Z L8 A HEFRALE
JEREH 2 H AR B TR T

2017-20185EH &



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

v

CORPORATE (GOVERNANCE REPORT

A E IR

Directors E )
Mr. NGAI B
Mr. YAU Wi
Ms. LAU B+
Dr. LEE 2R
Prof. KO RHIR
The Hon. IP EEHE
Mr. FUNG U5 S A
Remarks:

A — Participated in seminars/conferences/forums
B — Read journals/updates/articles

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”)
as the code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities

transactions.

Following specific enquiry made by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2018. Full details of the Directors’ interests
in the shares of the Company and its associated corporation
are set out on pages 85 to 89 in the “REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS?” of this annual report.

The Company has also established written code on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for dealings in the
securities of the Company and its associated corporations
by relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to the Company or

any of its associated corporations.
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During the year under review, the Company sent notifications
to the Directors and relevant employees reminding them of
the “black-out period(s)” as specified in the relevant codes
during which they are not allowed to deal in the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations at the
relevant times. All Directors and employees are also bound
by corporate policies of the Company to refrain from dealing
in the Company’s and its associated corporations’ securities if
they are in possession of any inside information of the Group

or any of its associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is to support the Board by ensuring
good information flow with the Board as well as the Board
policy and procedures being followed. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for advising the Board on governance
matters and facilitates the professional development of the
Directors. Ms. TSANG Hau Lam (“Ms. TSANG”), the
Company Secretary, is a full-time employee of the Group and
her brief biography is set out on page 48 of this annual report.

Ms. TSANG has confirmed that she has complied with all the
qualifications and training requirements of company secretary
under the Listing Rules. Ms. TSANG is also the financial
controller of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for maintaining
a sound and effective system of risk management and
internal control to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
and the Company’s assets, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records and the truth and fairness of the financial
statements, ensure compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations. The systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material errors, losses and
fraud, and manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
Group’s operational systems and in the achievement of the

Group’s business objectives.
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The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the
responsibility to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering all the departments
and business units to monitor, assess and manage various risks

in the Group’s business activities.

During the year, the Group’s internal auditor conducted
systematic reviews of the Group’s internal control system by
using a risk-based approach and review the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of internal control against an internal
audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. The Chief
Executive Officer and any members of the Audit Committee
may instruct the internal auditor to undertake internal audit
activities of an urgent or sensitive nature. The internal auditor
reports directly to the Audit Committee and has free access
to review all aspects of the Group’s activities and controlling
system. Internal audit findings and control weaknesses have
been summarized and reported to the Audit Committee
at least annually. Other Directors are also informed of the
findings of and weaknesses identified.
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During the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of
approval of this report, the Group adopts the following four

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

<>m4§ﬁ

B A OB oA W

CORPORATE (GOVERNANCE REPORT

AR RN

RBRE_F—)UEZA=1+—HIRAEE R E i
A Z H o> ACHRBERA LT [ PUIE By A ] AR

lines of defense approach on risk management: LR B o
1*t Line of Defense 2" Line of Defense 3% Line of Defense 4 Line of Defense
BB 5 BB 5 BB 578 P 38 Bl 4%
Focus Culture, Ethics and Business Operations Oversight Functions Audit and Whistle-
it General Behaviour (X2 -0 14 blowing
AL ~ s B — AT B Lo ks
Owner All Employees Supervisors and Senior Management, The Board, the
FBAL | (Including Directors) Management The Board and the Audit Committee,
MEET (BHE#HF) FEME Audit Committee Internal and External
s H)E - E5EEM | Auditors and External
HitZE® Professionals
EHY - FitZAE -
VA T A AR i B A1
HE S YNGR
Major ¢ Conduct and e Internal Control e Financial Control * [nternal Audit
Measures Behaviour Measures e Risk Management e External Audit
FEHE requirements ¢ Management e Compliance Check e Whistle-blowing
¢ Training and Control o BAEBcEH Mechanism
Promotion ¢ Training o JE\ B P e External
o AT BT R B o NTRE A o OMEAL Investigation
o HEHIANE o PR o NERFEE
o Hi o AMEREEG
o FREHEH
o AMERIHA

Regarding the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has taken appropriate measures
to identify inside information and preserve its confidentiality
until proper dissemination via the electronic publication
system operated by The Stock Exchange. Senior management
of the Group are aware that they must take all reasonable
measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent
the leakage of inside information of the Company from time
to time. They must also promptly bring any possible leakage
or divulgence of inside information to the attention of the
Chairman, the CEO and/or the Company Secretary, who
will notify the Board immediately accordingly for taking the
appropriate action promptly.
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A whistle-blowing policy has been put in place for the
Group’s employees and associates of the Group’s business to
follow when anyone of them believes reasonably and in good
faith that fraud, malpractices, violation of business ethics or
improprieties that he/she come across. Further details about
the policy are available on the website of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee, assisted
by the management and the internal audit function, had
reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management system and internal control system for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The Audit Committee considered the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
were effective and adequate. The Board also reviewed the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems through
discussion with the Audit Committee on audit findings and

internal control matters.

Both the Audit Committee and the Board were satisfied that
the risk management and internal control systems of the

Group of the reporting year were effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young was re-appointed by the shareholders of the
Company at the AGM held on 1 September 2017 as the
Company’s external auditor until the next AGM.

During the year, the Company also awarded non-audit
services to Ernst & Young and its associates. Through the
Audit Committee, the Board monitors the non-audit services
performed from its external auditor and its associates to the
Group to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the

external auditor would not be impaired.
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During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee
set up “Policy on Provision of Non-audit Services by the
Group’s External Auditor and its Associates”. Pursuant to the
policy, all proposed non-audit services of the external auditor
or its associates would be reviewed by the Audit Committee
before the respective engagement. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee reviewed the nature of non-audit services propsoed
to be performed by Ernst & Young and/or its associates and
confirmed that it gave rise to no impairment of actual or
perceived independence or objectivity of the audit work
itself. The Committee has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as independent external
auditor of the Company for shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming AGM.

In respect of the year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration
paid and payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst &

Young, and its associates is set out below:

Audit services T IRHs
Non-audit services: TR -
Taxation services ik 3
Other services Ho Al IR B

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of
transparency in communication with shareholders and
investors in general. The Company has formally adopted a
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”, which is available
on the websites of the Company, since 12 September 2012.
The various channels via which the Company communicates
with its shareholders include interim and annual reports,
information on The Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s

websites, and general meetings.
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Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general
meetings where the Chairman, the Executive Directors
of the Board and the chairman of the Board Committees
are available to answer questions. Separate resolutions are
proposed at the general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the re-election of individual

Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

In accordance with Article 58 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written
requisition served to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be convened by the Board
for transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
The requisition should state the general nature of the business
to be dealt with, and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting, and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, as amended from time to

time.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79(1) and 79(2) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, as amended from time to time,
on the requisition in writing of (i) either any number of
shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates, or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders,
the Company shall be under a duty to, at the expense of the

requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves:

(a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next AGM notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting;

and
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(b)  circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board at
general meetings or send their enquiries, concerns and notice
with sufficient details by post to the principal place of business
of the Company for the attention of the Board.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility
for preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group on a going concern

basis.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, there is no
uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

The external auditor of the Company acknowledge their
reporting responsibilities in their auditor’s report on the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 96 to 103.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 March 2018, there was no change in

the Company’s constitutional documents.

On behalf of the Board of

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company are pleased to present their report together with the

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and the provision of corporate management services.
Details of the principal activities of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators, a discussion on
the Group’s future business development and a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group
are provided in this report and the “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” section of this annual
report on pages 22 to 39. Also, the Group’s financial risk
management objectives and policies are set out in note 38 to

the audited consolidated financial statements.

The Group is committed to be an environmental-responsible
corporation with the aim to conserve natural resources
and natural environment. The Group has operated an
environmental management system which complies with
international standards and will continuously encourage our
business partners, suppliers and sub-contractors to follow the
same standards. Further information of the Group’s policies
and performance about the environment would be included
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
the Company to be published within three months from the
date of this annual report. During the year ended 31 March
2018, there were no material breach of or non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have
significant impact on the business and operations of the

Group.

Annual Report 2017-2018

AnFz#ES ((EF]) T (EFG])IRARE
R AR E —F - NE=ZH=+—HILEE
AR A G B R -

B 0

AR T 2 B B4 M B HR 3 i S A B
B o AR Z 32 M o W) 2 o SR A R
REE AR BRI R - ABRE 2 REER
VR P R A A A B N S TR ORI o

36 %5 Il g

A A AR S [ A A 3 W SE 55 R~ AR 4R [ AR DL B
BB SRR AT M B R B - AR R 2
SE B8 i B B A AR ] 3 R B A T B R R
gk > TR ARG EAREEREEDLEES
39OE WS BLIE W B4 AT | v o BbAh » AR
B 5 o A B AR R BOOR L UR AREAL A B
HEMFEI8A o

ACHR B B0 R — T BR AR A 3 > DADR R AR R
Te AARBRBE T HAE o AR TR — 4% 1 I B
i R A BRI B R A > A B S5 AN B A
R ~ B RE i B3 U T BR A R R o A B AR
i BR AR SR T AR BB — 5 R > o R A
O TR BAEACE FEHCE BB =R A T 8z (R
B HaRERBRE)N  REEZE-)N\E=
A=A H RSB > A A i B R A 3
SR AC AR [ S B A A R R R s
SR -



All references herein to other sections or reports form part of
this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
audited consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 106
of this annual report.

No interim dividend has been paid or declared by the
Company during this year (2017: nil). At the Company’s
annual general meeting (“AGM”) held on 1 September 2017,
shareholders approved the payment of a final dividend of HK2
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2017
which amounted to a total of approximately HK$33,717,000.
The dividend was paid on 22 September 2017.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK2 cents (2017: HK2 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 11 September
2018, Tuesday. The proposed payment of the final dividend is
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming 2018 AGM of the Company and has not been
recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2018.

Based on the 1,682,966,400 ordinary shares of the Company
in issues as of the date of this annual report, the total dividend
amounted to approximately HK$33,659,000.
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AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The 2018 AGM of the Company will be held in Hong Kong
on 31 August 2018, Friday. Notice of the AGM will be issued
and disseminated to the shareholders in due course.

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on 31 August 2018, Friday, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from 28 August 2018, Tuesday
to 31 August 2018, Friday (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 pm on 27 August 2018, Monday.

DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

Assuming that the final dividend recommended by the
Board is approved by the shareholders of the Company at
the forthcoming AGM, for the purposes of ascertaining the
entitlement to the final dividend, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 10 September 2018, Monday
to 11 September 2018, Tuesday (both days inclusive) during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the final dividend, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 pm on 7 September 2018, Friday. It is expected that the
final dividend will be payable to those entitled shareholders
on or before 21 September 2018, Friday.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Under the Group’s internal control and risk management
framework, the Board has entrusted the Audit Committee
with the responsibility to review the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Other than the
significant accounting judgements and estimates and the
financial risk management policies of the Group set out in
note 3 and note 38 to the audited consolidated financial
statements, the Group is also exposed to other key risks factors

and uncertainties, among others:

Business and Market Risk

Demand for services and products of the Group is cyclical
in nature and directly correlates with the level of real estate
development, construction activities, liquidity demands and
general economic environment in Hong Kong. In respect of
the Group’s contract works business, it relies heavily on public
sector projects which by their nature are only awarded by a
limited number of customers who are normally the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) Government and/
or various institutional bodies. There is no guarantee that
our customers will provide the Group with new business or
that we will secure new customers. The Group’s business and
profitability may be materially and adversely affected by failure
to tender for new contract works, any material reduction in
spending by the HKSAR Government or various institutional
bodies on public sector works and/or delay in awarding
contracts of such works by the HKSAR Government. In
respect of the Group’s property investment and development
business, growth and sustainable of the business may be
materially and adversely affected by failure to replenish
development projects, significant drop in property prices,
shortage of land supply and other investment opportunities or

changes in government policies.
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Construction Risk

In respect of the contract works business, the Group is
exposed to construction risk in relation to price fluctuation,
duration of works, quality of work, environmental protection
and safety involved in the construction business, which
may adversely affect the Group’s profitability. The Group
manages and mitigates these risks through risk transfer,
improve communication between project teams with project
estimation and procurement department and implementation

of management system which meets international standards.

Compliance Risk

The Group is exposed to compliance risk in relation to various
rules and regulations, including but not limited to rules and
regulations in relation to construction, labour, occupational
health and safety, environmental protection, money lending,
contractor registration and listing in Hong Kong. Non-
compliance may lead to fine, suspension of works, suspension
of tender, legal sanctions, material claims, loss in reputation
and/or loss of business. The Group pays high attention to
the enactment and amendment of laws and regulations
which may cause legal risks to the Group’s business and will
arrange appropriate training and experience sharing activities
for relevant employees. The Group also launched a safety
promotion campaign “Safety ¢ My Habit” in this year to
promote safety awareness and invested in the provision of self-
owned safety tools for sub-contractors or suppliers in high risk

operations like lifting.

Risk on Reliance of Key Management Personnel

The Group’s success and growth depends on our ability to
identify, hire, train and retain suitable, skilled and qualified
employees, including management personnel with the
requisite industry expertise. The Directors and members of
senior management, in particular, the executive Directors,
are important to the Group. If any of the executive Directors
cease to be involved in the management of the Group and
the Group is unable to find suitable replacements in a timely
manner, there could be an adverse impact on our business,

results of operation and profitability of the Group.
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Business Partners Risk

The Group relies on third-party sub-contractors and service
providers in certain parts of its business. The management
realises that such operational dependency may pose a threat of
vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service including
reputation damage, business disruption and monetary losses.
In addition, some of the Group’s businesses are conducted
through joint ventures in which the Group shares control with
other business partners. The relevant risks include that these
business partners may not continue their relationships with
the Group, take actions against the Group’s interests, do not
work for the Group’s interest, undergo a change of control
or not fulfil their obligations under the joint ventures. To
address such uncertainties, the Group only engages/cooperates
with reputable and experienced business partners and closely

monitors their performance.

Cyber and Information Security Risk

Frequency of cyber-attacks like sophisticated phishing
campaigns and ransomware continued increased in recent
years. The potential threat of a cyber-attack is increasing.
Cyber-attacks may lead to loss of information, leakage of
confidential information, unavailability of systems and
disruption of operation that significant costs may be incurred
for data recovery and system restoration, and/or possible
claims. The Group manages this risk by implement security
measures such as firewall, anti-spam and anti-virus protection,
and increase internal communication of cyber and information

security threats to raise staff awareness.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the consolidated
statements of financial position of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on pages 6 to 9 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial

statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to the
audited consolidated financial statements. Further details of
the Group’s land and buildings are set out on page 15 of this

annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued by an
independent professional valuer as at 31 March 2018 using
the fair value model. Details of movements in the Group’s
investment properties during the year are set out in note 15 to
the audited consolidated financial statements. Further details
of the Group’s investment properties are set out on page 15 of

this annual report.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT,
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Details and movements in the Group’s properties held for
development, properties under development and properties
held for sale during the year are set out in notes 14, 18 and 19
to the audited consolidated financial statements respectively.
Further details of the Group’s properties held for development,
properties under development and properties held for sale as
at 31 March 2018 are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this annual

report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2018 are set out in note 26 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. Interest and other borrowing costs
capitalized by the Group during the year are set out in note 7
to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There was no movement in the Company’s authorized
share capital during this year. Details of movements in the
Company’s issued share capital and issued share options are set
out in notes 28 and 29 to the audited consolidated financial

statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company
repurchased a total of 78,878,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.025
each in the capital of the Company on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”) at an aggregated
price (excluding expenses) of approximately HK$90,775,000.
As at 31 March 2018, all of the said repurchased shares have
been cancelled and the issued share capital of the Company
was accordingly reduced by the par value of the cancelled
shares of approximately HK$1,972,000. The premium paid on
the repurchase of the shares of approximately HK$88,803,000
was charged to the “share premium” account.
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Details of the repurchase are as follows: il 1ol 2 B NR
Aggregate
Number of Highest Lowest consideration
shares price price (excluding
Month of repurchase Jik il H £y repurchased per share per share expenses)
i ol i34 533 AR
JBe iy ¥ H It W RS AR (AR
000 HK$ HK$ HK$’000
T BC e T#T
April 2017 —&F—tENA 5,862 1.17 1.07 6,691
June 2017 —E2—tHFEARH 6,564 1.11 1.04 7,178
July 2017 —®—LHELH 19,670 1.20 1.09 23,203
August 2017 —FZ—tH#)N\H 43,898 1.16 1.12 50,393
September 2017 —F—LELA 2,884 1.15 1.13 3,310
Total Ay 78,878 90,775
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The repurchase of the shares was effected by the Directors,
pursuant to the general mandate granted from shareholders
at the last AGM, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a
whole by enhancing the net asset value per share (measured
as net asset value divided by number of shares in issued at a

specific date) and earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2018.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in notes 40 and 30
to the audited consolidated financial statements and in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to
HK$380,234,000 (31 March 2017: HK$413,015,000). In
addition, the Company’s “share premium” account, in the
amount of HK$253,274,000 at 31 March 2018 (31 March
2017: HK$342,430,000), may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made donations for charitable
and other purposes of approximately HK$2,633,000 (2017:
HK$2,530,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining good
relationships with customers, suppliers and sub-contractors
to achieve its long-term business growth and development.
Accordingly, the Group has kept good communications
and shared business updates with business partners when

appropriate.

During the year, contract works revenue earned from the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
98% (2017: 98%) of the total contract works revenue for
the year and contract works revenue earned from the largest
customer included therein accounted for approximately
85% (2017: 60%). Four (2017: four) out of the five largest
customers are from the public sector. The Group has not
entered into any long-term framework agreements with any of

these major customers.

Subcontracting charges paid to the Group’s five largest
suppliers/sub-contractors accounted for approximately 14%
(2017: 25%) of the total subcontracting charges and material
costs incurred for the year. Subcontracting charges paid to the

largest supplier/sub-contractor included therein accounted for
approximately 4% (2017: 7%).

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”) (Chairman)
Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”)

(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LAU Tsz Kwan, Jone (“Ms. LAU”)

Non-executive Director:

Dr. LEE Man Piu, Albert (“Dr. LEE”)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Prof. KO Jan Ming (“Prof. KO”)

The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP (“The Hon. IP”)

Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung, Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”)
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At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. YAU, Ms. LAU, Prof. KO,
The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG shall retire from office in
accordance with clause 87 of the Bye-laws and/or the Code
Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code (as defined in this annual
report) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election to serve for another term at the

AGM.

During the year under review, the appointment of each of
Prof. KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG, as extended based
on the respective appointment letter issued by the Company
and accepted by them, was for a term of one year expiring
on 31 August 2018, or by the end of the forthcoming AGM
and the appointment of Dr. LEE has been extended based on
the respective appointment letter issued by the Company and
accepted by him for a term of two years expiring on 31 August

2019 or by the end of the respective AGM day of 2019.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INEDs
The Company has received from each of Prof. KO, The
Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
the Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 40 to 49 of this

annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU have respectively renewed their
service contracts with the Company on 30 March 2016 for
a fixed term of three years commencing from 1 April 2016,
subject to termination by either party by giving a six-month

written notice.

On 1 September 2016, Ms. LAU entered into a service
contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years
commencing from 1 September 2016, subject to termination
by either party by giving a six-month written notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is of a duration
exceeding three years or which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8

to the audited consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the contracts as further detailed in section headed
“RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” below, no Director
nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to the Group’s business to
which the holding company of the Company, or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for contract of service with the Directors, no contract
by which a person undertakes the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
Company’s business was entered into or subsisted during the

year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and subject to the
relevant provision therein, every Director and officer shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur
in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has maintained appropriate
insurance cover for the Directors and officers in connection
with the discharge of their responsibilities throughout the

year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. NGAI is a Director and/or (substantial) shareholder
of Win Source Investment Limited, Key Fame Limited and
Key Fund Limited, which are companies incorporated in
Hong Kong and engaging in property investment or property
development business. At 31 March 2018, Mr. NGAI’s son,
Mr. NGAI Wing Yin, aged over 18, is a director of Lanon
Development Limited (“Lanon Development”), Lanon
Construction Limited (“Lanon Construction”), Lanon
Building Limited (“Lanon Building”) and Lanon Engineering
Limited (“Lanon Engineering”), all incorporated in Hong
Kong and engaging in construction, maintenance and

engineering contract works.

Meanwhile, Ms. WONG Chui Yee, Mr. NGAI Wing Yin’s
wife and Mr. NGAD’s daughter-in-law, aged over 18, is also
a director of Lanon Development. As at 31 March 2018, Mr.
NGAI Wing Yin holds 100% beneficial interest in Lanon
Development, Lanon Construction, Lanon Building and

Lanon Engineering.

On the other hand, a subsidiary of the Group has entered
into a tenancy agreement with Lanon Development, that the
transaction in respect of this leasing arrangement constitutes
de minimis continuing connected transactions of the
Company as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The power to make material business decisions for the Group
is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board considers that
there may be a conflict of interest between the Group and any
Director (including Mr. NGAI who is an executive Director,
Chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of the
Company), such Director will be required to abstain from
voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of carrying on the
Group’s business independent of, and at arm’s length, from the
business of Mr. NGAI.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates is interested in
any business which competes or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2018, details of the interests and short
positions of each of the Director and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under provisions of the
SFQO); or required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO; or otherwise required
to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) (Excluding Share Options):

Director

W

Mr. NGAI

M

Mr. YAU

(c)

Ms. LAU
Bt

Prof. KO
[CF 2 €54

The Hon. IP
EHE

Mr. FUNG
#5762

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

These Shares are legally and beneficially owned by Winhale Ltd.

Capacity and
nature of interests

X4y B Ml 4 Pk

As founder and beneficiary of a trust

(o a EV:E N

Interest in a controlled corporation
W s2 ¥ il o ) 2 R A

Personal

AN

Interest in a controlled corporation
T — 32 e ) ;A 2 i
Personal

5N

Personal

5N

Personal

5N

Personal

5N

Personal

A

JRA 2y v B B By (1B Ay 1) b Z A2 (A B 46
i JBeHE)

Number of % of issued
Shares share capital
interested of the Company
A2 iR/ C#ET
JBe oy ¥ H BeA Z 4 e
838,760,400 49.84
235,000,000 13.96
6,250,800 0.37
1,080,011,200 64.17
30,888,000 1.84
8,448,000 0.50
39,336,000 2.34
180,000 0.01
992,000 0.06
2,054,800 0.12
2,218,800 0.13

Mt

(“Winhale”), which is ultimately beneficially wholly-owned by The Xyston
Trust. The Xyston Trust is a discretionary trust founded by Mr. NGAI for

the benefits of his family members.

These Shares are legally and beneficially owned by Fame Yield International  (b)
Limited (“Fame Yield”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally
and beneficially owned by Mr. NGAI.

These Shares are legally and beneficially owned by Business Success Limited,  (c)
the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially owned by

Mr. YAU.

Annual Report 2017-2018

(a) UL B Winhale Led. ([ Winhale /) % X B s

HEH > A A HiThe Xyston TrustiZ 4 B s 2 B HE
o The Xyston Trust 24— i H B8 56 2 75 K5 JE e

=R A R i

M SFE 0 H 4 K 1 B A R A A ([ M BB ) 4
REGHR » ZA a2 2 EETIRATT B

PR TR

b 4B Hi Business Success Limitedi% K B 75 HE
H o A A Z 2 EBETIRATT H i 56 A s E R

Hat A -




Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of an Associated
Corporation — Able Engineering Holdings Limited (“Able

Holdings”):

Director

Y

Mr. NGAI (Note)
Bt (MEE)

Ms. LAU
B+

Prof. KO
[ €

The Hon. IP
EHE

Note: Mr. NGAI is deemed to be interested in 1,080,011,200 Shares (excluding
share options of the Company) (representing approximately 64.17% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company), which comprise (i) 6,250,800
Shares held by himself; (ii) 838,760,400 Shares held by Winhale by virtue
of him being the settlor of The Xyston Trust; and (iii) 235,000,000 Shares
held by Fame Yield by virtue of his beneficial interest in the entire issued
share capital of Fame Yield. Accordingly, Mr. NGAI is deemed to be
interested in 1,500,000,000 shares of Able Holdings held by Profit Chain
Investments Limited, a direct-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
under the SFO by virtue of his deemed interest in approximately 64.17% of

Capacity and
nature of interests

Xy B M 4 Pk T

As founder of a trust

ek —fawtAlE A

Personal

(PN

Personal

(PN

Personal

(PN

the entire issued share capital of the Company.
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Long Positions in the Underlying Shares of the Company:

TR A 2 5 A B B By 2 45 AT

Number of underlying

Capacity and nature

Director of interests
W B By B B 2 PE BT
Mr. NGAI Beneficial owner
Bk HislEA N
Mr. YAU Beneficial owner
Vit ey HislEA N

Note: Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 7 September 2011, the
shareholders approved the termination of the then existing share option
scheme and the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2011
Scheme”). The abovementioned share options were granted under the 2011
Scheme on 10 September 2015 at an exercise price of HK$0.526 per Share.
These share options may be exercised at any time commencing on 10 March
2016, and if not otherwise exercised, will lapse on 9 September 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Company
and its associated corporations had no outstanding share
options granted to the Directors to subscribe for the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations.

Annual Report 2017-2018

Shares in respect of % of underlying
the share options Shares over
granted under the issued share capital

2011 Scheme of the Company
/g Sk
Gig BN RS

Vil DB i T 5 B 2 1 B JBe B34 AR 24 ¥l
MBBBEE  C#EOEAZEZ R

(Note)

(HtiE)
4,500,000 0.27
4,500,000 0.27

Mt : REFEWR ZF——F AL H B 5%
Ko R A UE 5 B SR RE AT Y - E IR A
— IR I ([ —— 4G 3 )) - Lk
IR IRIE —F— — G BN ZF— HAFE
T A HEBH > 17 R IRIR 10526380 - %
IR FE R R ZF—NE=H A H B 5 09 (E ]
IEFTE > i RIELTE > HIAF IR ZF ZFFEN
H I H R34 -

B ESCRT it Ah > R R \EZA=+—H >
Ao ) B SO T S AR AT AR T T
LGV R AR 2 ) e B Uk T 2 R 2 R AT
P i T B



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under provisions of the
SFO), or as recorded in the register kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise to be notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES”
above, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2018 was
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their
respective spouse, or children to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the AGM of the Company held on 7 September 2011, the
shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the
2011 Scheme and the termination of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 5 August 2002. Unless otherwise
terminated or amended, the 2011 Scheme will remain in force
for ten years from the date of adoption.

From the adoption date of the 2011 Scheme to 31 March
2018, the Company granted 25,620,000 share options under
the 2011 Scheme to the Group’s employees (including the
Directors). Particulars of the 2011 Scheme of the Company
are disclosed in note 29 to the audited consolidated financial

statements.
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The following table disclosed movements in the Company’s

share options outstanding during the year: HEWTE
Number of share options
B
At1 Granted Exercised Lapsed At31
April during during during March Vesting
Name and category of grantee 2017 the year the year the year 2018 petiod
RoF-LE RREE O RREE O RARE REF-0AE
L ageg Vet WA-H W Wit Wikl ZHAZT-H L ag|
000 000 000 000 000
T TH TH 7 7
(Note (1)) (Note (i)
(Wi() (Wi(ii))
Directors, chief executive and a substantial shareholder and their associates:
3 RETIARR - LERARERRAL :
Mr. NGAI 4,500 - - - 4500 10/09/2015 to
Wik 09/03/2016
10/09/2015%
09/03/2016
Mr. YAU 4,500 - - - 4500 10/09/2015 to
ik 09/03/2016
10/09/2015%
09/03/2016
9,000 - - - 9,000
Other employees:
TIE
In aggregate 1,620 - (180) (240) 1,200 10/09/2015 to
b 09/03/2016
100920152
09/032016
10,620 - (180) (240) 10,200
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Exercise
period of

share options
TR
frfe

10/03/2016 to
09/09/2020
10/03/2016%
09/09/2020

10/03/2016 to
09/09/2020
10/03/2016%
09/09/2020

10/03/2016 to
09/09/2020
10/03/2016%
09/09/2020

Exercise
price of
share options
T B2
fileh

HKS§ per share

BhtEr
(Note (iii))
(W)

0.526

0.526

0.526

JAACAE BE o AR 2 T T4 H T 1 AR M AT Bl P T g e

Date of grant

&g

109/2015

109/2015



Note:

(i) On 1 September 2017, the Board approved the grant of total 9,760,000 share

options under the 2011 Scheme to individual Directors (the “Grantees”),
subject to their acceptance, at an exercise price of HK$1.15 per share (the
“Grant”). The closing price of the Shares on 31 August 2017 (the trading
day immediately before the date of the Grant) was HK$1.15. However, as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5 September 2017, in
order to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules in relation to the time of
grant of share options after the Company repurchased its Shares, the Grant,
which had not been accepted by any of the Grantees, has been cancelled in its
entirety with effect from 5 September 2017.

(ii)

240,000 share options were lapsed due to end of employment of certain
Grantees with the Group.

(iit)

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the cases
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

(iv)

The weighted average closing price of the Company’s Shares immediately
before the dates on which the share options were exercised during this year was

HKS$1.15 per share.

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had 10,200,000
share options (31 March 2017: 10,620,000 share options)
outstanding under the 2011 Scheme. Each share option
entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share of
the Company. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present share capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 10,200,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company, which represented approximately
0.61% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date,
and result in additional “share capital” of approximately
HK$255,000 and “share premium” of approximately
HK$5,110,000 (before issue expenses).

Save as disclosed above, at no time during this period were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the
Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Save as the 2011 Scheme adopted by the Company as
mentioned above, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during this year or subsisted at the end
of this year.
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240,000 Jiff B HE I 27T AR FEN A 7725 A 5 B 14 O
R TR

(i1)
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(iii)
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(iv)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2018, according to the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, the following
persons and companies (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in
the Shares and the underlying Shares of the Company which
fell to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of

W

the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares (Excluding Share Options):

Name of shareholders

B 44

CHENG Wai Chun
195825

Winhale

Braveway Limited

HSBC International

Trustee Limited

Fame Yield
2 18 12 B

Dragon Gate
Development Limited

CHIU Koon Ming Andy
i 565 8

Annual Report 2017-2018

Notes

Mtk

(a)

(b)

(c)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(e)

Capacity and
nature of interests

Sy B il 2k VT

Interest in a controlled
corporation and interest of
spouse

T — 52 ¥ i 0 1 e 2 %
T AE B i

Beneficially owned

His A A

As a trustee

AT YN

As a trustee

AT IN

Beneficial owner

His A A

Beneficial owner

[EEE DN

Interest in a controlled

corporation

TP B2 ) 5 T 2 2

4 B S 2

Number of
Shares held
PRtz
I8y 8 H

1,080,011,200

838,760,400

838,760,400

838,760,400

235,000,000

163,940,000

163,940,000

BB -NEZA=Z+—H o R AL AR
15 25 S ) B R 01 S 33Ok L E T A B 2 B i
it > LT AL R AR (AR 2 7] # 3 sl R AT BOA
B BRAM) TA A2 5 JBe Ay B AH B Jie A3y v B A AL 4%
I7 T 988 AR 9] S X VR 58 2 S 553 40 8 = A6k SCZE IR
A T e 2 ESR BRI A

Ay W A (S 6 356 i JBE ) 2 4 AT

% of issued
share capital
of the Company

iR 2" ey
A Z i be

64.17

49.84

49.84

49.84

13.96

9.74

9.74



Notes:

(a)  Ms. CHENG Wai Chun is the sole shareholder of Braveway Limited and the
spouse of Mr. NGAI.

(b) The above interest in the name of Winhale was also disclosed as interests
of Mr. NGAI under the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES” above. In addition, the
Shares are ultimately beneficially owned by The Xyston Trust.

(c) Braveway Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited are deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Winhale by virtue of the fact that
Winhale is wholly-owned by the trusts of which Braveway Limited and HSBC
International Trustee Limited are the trustees.

(d)  100% interest in Fame Yield is controlled by Mr. NGALI.

(e) 100% interest in Dragon Gate Development Limited is controlled by Mr.
CHIU Koon Ming Andy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, no other
person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares
and the underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or who, as at 31 March 2018, was directly or
indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the

Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an
arm’s length basis. Further details are set out in note 36 to
the audited consolidated financial statements. One of these
transactions also constitutes de minimis continuing connected
transactions of the Company as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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(b) LML Winhale# ##FH 2 #EaE R L [#FHH L
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ZHERE o WEIP 5 MEFER O HI The Xyston Trust# #
Bt H -

(c) Braveway Limited #HSBC International Trustee
Limited # % HEH H Winhalef¥ 5 Z R 2
# 75 o WinhaleZ # _|: 77 Hi Braveway Limited &
HSBC International Trustee LimitedfE % 157N 2
Gt 2 E R -

(d) £ 5 [ B 2 FIr A B ik 7 H B85 2K 1 )
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Hi 8 7 £ 55 2 FEH o
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For the year under review, the Group did not have any
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction in

accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has joined mandatory provident fund schemes
(“MPF Schemes”), which have been registered with the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees (including the Executive Directors). Assets of the
MPF Schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Pursuant to
the rules of the MPF Schemes, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions at rates specified in
the schemes. The only obligation to the Group with respect to
the MPF Schemes is to make the required contributions under

these schemes.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares was held
by the public as at the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF
THE LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company had no
disclosure obligation pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of major events arised subsequent to the year ended
31 March 2018 and up to the date of this annual report
have been set out in note 39 to the audited consolidated
financial statements and the subsections “SUBSEQUENT
ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES AT MAN SHUNG” and
“SUBSEQUENT COMPULSORY SALE OF WOOD ROAD
PROPERTY?” of the section “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” of this annual report.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE GROUP’S
BUSINESS

Please refer to the subsection “OUTLOOK” under the section
“CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT” of this annual report for an
indication of the likely future development in the Group’s

business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance through its continuous effort in
improving its corporate governance practices. Information on
the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the section “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT” contained in this annual report.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and recommended to the Board for approval.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.
A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as

auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board of
VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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To the shareholders of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 104
to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that

context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B it %l e 0 (%)

Key audit matter

B 3 il o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B 0 il Jo o 8 P B kA it e O

Construction contracts

oy aeyit)

Revenue and costs recognised for contract works amounted
to HK$3,112 million and HK$2,863 million, respectively,
for the year ended 31 March 2018. Revenue from
construction contracts is recognised on the percentage
of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of certified value of work performed to date to
the total contract sum of the contract. The contract costs
are recognised by applying the percentage of completion to
the total estimated cost of the contract.

PEREZFE - NE=ZA=ZT—HIEEER > EGLH TR
T 520 Y WL\ e AR 43 3 2 83 1.1 2488 W 8 12 28. 63 T ©
R A A MW ER ) 58 A 43 Lo ER R 0 0B & AE S ST IR
2% B RBEZ O TEEAA BG4 6 %8 e
AR o B AR 58 T 43 He TR DA A wHA 4 A B

Significant management judgement is involved in
estimating the total budgeted contract costs used in the
determination of the contract costs recognised. Any
variations in estimates on the total budget contract costs
will affect the contract costs to be recognised.

1 T 7 E P HE R0 B 4 AR R R Y T SR A A A 4
o Vb R R A BRI B o T A AR B R R Al S
A AR5 AL > 1% €1 5 B 3] i e R B 5 A ROAR o

The accounting policies and disclosures for the revenue
and costs of construction contracts are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

A B B B A SR 6 R BOR K R - WU A
BB R 5E2.4 ~ 31T o

We performed the following procedures to evaluate the
budget contract costs of construction contracts, which
include staff costs, sub-contracting costs, materials and
other costs to be incurred for the relevant project:
FMEHAT T A TRE)T > DARFAl E IS & 40 09 T 5 4 AR
A s bR REHE R BRE B O A R B TR 4 R
A~ BRE B At AR

e discussed with management and the respective project

teams about the progress of the projects;

SRS B B 45 TR L H P B i O O K

e tested the supporting documents of the budgets on a
sample basis, which include sub-contracting contracts,
material purchase contracts and price quotations, etc;
il B 0 T S SR S AR FIA A MORHR
Ji B 50 B R4S 5

e understood and evaluated the Group’s process and
control over the payment of construction costs; and
TR R AN AR A R S A e AR A S
il 5 K

e compared last year budget against current year budget
or actual costs incurred for the contracts on a sample

basis.
ol R 195 2 A4 W S B A A R ) SR R 40 o Ak
P B TS A A AT L R o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

Key audit matter

B 3 il o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B 0 il Jo o 8 P B kA it e O

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

BEE W AT 1 1915 it

The Group held various investment properties in Hong
Kong for rental earning purpose and the aggregate carrying
amount of these investment properties amounted to
HK$2,039 million as at 31 March 2018.

HAEER AR E Y R R g R R\
ZAZE+1—H . ZEREYREARESHE I R2039E
WIC °

Significant estimation is required to determine the
fair value of the investment properties, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
The management engaged external valuers to value the
investment properties at the end of the reporting period.
A B 3 B o P (A ZEAE S R ORAN T o A AR
S 7 R 2 9 R B T 3R DL o A B 2 1 A Al F
Fy B R B B W) SR HEAT A A -

The accounting policies and disclosures for the estimation
of fair value of investment properties are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
A Al w8 P 36 P RUE B S BOR B e 82 > U 5%
A B AN 2.4 > 3R15K -

We performed the following procedures to assess the

valuations of investment properties:

KM COBAT T A TR » DLRFAG 38 4 € i £ 4

e  obtained and reviewed the valuation reports prepared

by the external valuer engaged by the Group;
RS e Bl AR P P 22 1 4 AR A AF B P A
A Al B R s

e assessed the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considered its
objectivity and independence;

WA A1 A AF B A R > SRR I SR - IE R
F R B R M S 5

e involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us to assess the valuation methodologies applied and
evaluate the key assumptions and estimates adopted in
the valuations or perform benchmarking on the value
of the investment properties to other comparable
properties;

0 T A B P R A T 5 2 B Bk B B A A BT E
B4 A5 Ty 5 BT BT R 1 0 32 SRR B AW A - St
BB W 36 B0 (i B b DL A SR AT R B

e compared property-related data used as inputs for the
valuations with underlying documentation, such as

lease agreements on sample basis; and
kRt P A A 0 o i 450 A 1 4 S A B 508 BELRH B S
P () 4m 7L 55 0 ) HEAT EE R 5 K

e assessed the adequacy of the disclosures on the

valuation of the investment properties.

FEAG AT BB A S AN R R A A
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Annual Report 2017-2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

Y88 1A Y i i o

e i B i A% S i e RUR I Y
it
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

m Annual Report 2017-2018
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. CHUNG Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

22 June 2018
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B 45 2 B Al 2 i G £ %
Year ended 31 March 2018 #&E - F—NE=ZH="1—HIF4EF
2018 2017
S® oA SE bk
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
M aE T# T
REVENUE KA 5 3,463,077 2,326,841
Contract works costs B # TR A (2,862,972) (1,982,527)
Property costs LE YW N (140,658) (3,694)
Gross profit LR 459,447 340,620
Other income and gains J At e A B Wi A 5 190,674 12,021
Selling and marketing expenses S B % B BH S (248) (1,672)
Administrative expenses FTBBA 2 (113,985) (122,359)
Finance costs BB E R 7 (27,536) (22,147)
Share of profits and losses of JEAY 8 A 3 2 i F
joint ventures KE#E 9) (18,336)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B wij %t A 6 508,343 188,127
Income tax expense g Bi S 10 (55,670) (34,606)
PROFIT AND TOTAL A J ¥t A B 2 i
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR W 2t 48 7
THE YEAR 452,673 153,521
Profit and total comprehensive income JREA ¥ F) B 2 T
attributable to: W 25 A8 % -
Owners of the parent BAFRHFEH 408,930 141,543
Non-controlling interests J $ae o) 1 W A 43,743 11,978
452,673 153,521
EARNINGS PER SHARE BEA S B R H
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY AV 4 DB ik F
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE (s Al)
PARENT (HK cents) 12
Basic A 23.94 8.07
Diluted i 23.86 8.04
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A R & A

9:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

g T N
31 March 2018 ZF—/#FE=H=1—H
2018 2017
RN ZF—-LF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt 7t T#C F#or
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I U By o e
Property, plant and equipment LE B Y 13 127,503 136,525
Properties held for development BAHIEBRREZ ¥ 14 396,877 396,855
Investment properties E =g //E 15 2,039,000 1,851,000
Investments in joint ventures REEAENRE 16 8,800 8,614
Prepayments and deposits TE AT R B ¥4 212 114,741 -
Deferred tax assets 7 G B IE K R 27 3,678 5,203
Total non-current assets I B E AR 2,690,599 2,398,197
CURRENT ASSETS i ) ¥
Gross amount due from customers EWEBPZGH
for contract works T FR sk 48 % 17 17,306 315,864
Properties under development Bk 18 419,033 413,456
Properties held for sale BAEEREZWE 19 667,226 762,025
Accounts receivable JE Wi B 3k 20 533,348 466,072
Loans and interest receivables JFE Wi sk I A B 21 106,239 39,594
Prepayments, deposits and VA IE S E R
other receivables He At JE Wik 22 70,645 31,040
Amount due from a joint venture JEW— & & A KA 93 93
Tax recoverable W] W [ 5 T 9,609 21,436
Cash and cash equivalents e kBEESSEY 23 1,480,671 1,236,682
Total current assets i B A AR 3,304,170 3,286,262
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £ 4
Accounts payable JE A B 3% 24 444,366 489,491
Accruals of costs for contract works THIE A 4 TR A 224,360 255
Tax payable YA AL H 32,076 12,179
Other payables and accruals HAbEA T R TEEEE 25 136,914 53,547
Amounts due to joint ventures JEA &4 Ak IE 16(b) 8,114 7,919
Interest-bearing bank loans AR RIT R 26 1,380,161 1,681,490
Total current liabilities i B A Al 2,225,991 2,244,881
NET CURRENT ASSETS i ) W 1,078,179 1,041,381
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B A O ) £ 4
LIABILITIES 3,768,778 3,439,578
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BOoE OB OB A R 7]

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A WMEHR LR
31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H
2018 2017
RN L8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
K & T# T #r
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ui By £ A
Deferred tax liabilities 7% %t B JEH £ K 27 10,378 8,987
Total non-current liabilities Bl =R 10,378 8,987
Net assets G ETE 3,758,400 3,430,591
EQUITY BE 22
Equity attributable to owners Bl ) $5 A7 4 REAN B 4
of the parent
Issued capital OB AT A 28 42,074 44,042
Reserves fift 30 3,422,040 3,136,006
3,464,114 3,180,048
Non-controlling interests I e ) 1 E 2R 294,286 250,543
Total equity HARERS 3,758,400 3,430,591
NGAI Chun Hung YAU Kwok Fai
Director Director
B e M i B B
HF HH
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUITY

3 HE i S W R
Year ended 31 March 2018 #E _F—/F=H="1—HILFEZF
Attributable to owners of the parent
LR 1]

Share Share  Property Non-
Issued  premium  Capital Contributed ~  option revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capitall  account  reserve  surplus  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity

et R o e kS a8

RA WEE EARE  MARR Bl EGE RBEA it R ER
Nots  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000
w#E o TEL TEr  TEr TET FET TET TEL TErT TErT TET
(note 30(6))  (note 30(a)) ~ (note 30(c))
(W) (Wa0p)  (W#0c)

At April 2016 REZ-RENA-H 36607 332983 - 14l 33000 204197 1170048 2,765,616 - 1765616

Profit and total comprehensive RER &
income for the year AEEAY - - - - - - W W8 1978 153,521

Deemed partial disposal of subsidiaries %Mty &£ A7

ks 3(a) - - 199969 - - - - 299969 138565 538,534
2016 final dividend ZEOREAMRE U - - - - - S A0 (3490) - (3490
Issue of shares BHkG 28 375 0447 - - (1,932) - - 7890 - 7890
At31 March 2017 and I St
1 April 2017 ZRET-HR
“E-LENA-A 404 3LA30F 199,969 11421% 1368%  204197%  2006,621% 3180048 250543 3430591
Profit and total comprehensive HERRR R
income for the year RS - - - - - - 408930 408930 83 B0
2017 final dividend ZEtERERER 1 - - - - - - B B3I RN LN
Shares repurchased and cancelled HEV &R G 18 (1972)  (89,269) - - - - - (9141) - (0141
Transfer of share option reserve upon AL B 4L
the lapse of share option HR IR 9 - - - - (31) - 3 - - -
Issue of shares BHEG 28 4 13 - - (13) - - 04 - 94
At 31 March 2018 REF- AR
ZAZ+-H 4014 133004 199969 11421% 1304 04197 1651865% 3464114 294286 3758400

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ¥ BEAE AR H B SRS M B R ULER P 2 55 A
HK$3,422,040,000 (2017: HK$3,136,006,000) in the consolidated 1#3,422,040,000% ¢ (Z=F — L4 : 3,136,006,000

statement of financial position. Wwot) o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"oE OB OB A R OA

G|

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FrLows

HABER R

Year ended 31 March 2018 #ZE _~FE—/4FE=H="+—HILEE

2018 2017
—B N\ —E -t
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it F#EL F#T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERHBEZBEHE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax s A5 iy ¥z 1) 508,343 188,127
Adjustments for: T AIIEHE /B e .
Finance costs 1 2 27,536 22,147
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures JEAY & 8 A 3 Z W Al
Mg 9 18,336
Interest income FE WA (6,935) (1,872)
Depreciation e 13 9,388 9,367
Reversal for provision of properties held for B REAENEZ
sale W Z 6 - (4,000)
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant HEWE - B R
and equipment AT H 2 Was 5 - (84)
Gain on changes in fair value of investment & H 2 A FE A
properties, net BB > T 5 (183,413) (3,970)
354,928 228,051
Decrease/(increase) in gross amount due BREFZ &% T4
from customers for contract works SRAFWA (B 298,558 (152,362)
Increase in properties under development B ) K (2,818) (68,811)
Increase in properties held for development Fr A AR e 2 M 3B (22) (72,521)
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale  #HENEZWEIRD
(38 m) 94,799 (9,651)
Increase in accounts receivable R WA R 2k 2 (67,276) (211,531)
Decrease/(increase) in loans and interest W R M ) B
receivables WA () (66,645) 9,224
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, T AR ~ H e At
deposits and other receivables HE Wk A (3 m) 5,395 (17,773)
Increase in an amount due from a joint venture W& — & & A 3 3 H ¥ n - (17)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable JE A Bk 3 (A ) (45,125) 44,208
Increase/(decrease) in accruals of costs for TR G4 TR A
contract works W, (W) 224,105 (74,330)
Increase in other payables and accruals At JRE A K e
T2 5 83,367 21,475
Decrease in amounts due to joint ventures JE AT 5 8 A KT WA - (26,281)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KE (R BEZH 4 879,266 (330,319)
Interest received oA B, 6,935 1,872
Interest paid [REDR PSS (30,295) (25,876)
Hong Kong profits tax paid A 5 v I 153 B (21,030) (69,996)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEEHEE (HH)
operating activities Z B EFH 834,876 (424,319)

Annual Report 2017-2018



v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows

BEABAeNRE
Year ended 31 March 2018 #ZE _~F—/4FE=H="+—HILEE
2018 2017
RN RS
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
W it T F#or
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating memkgEL, ()
activities Z B e R FH 834,876 (424,319)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BHRH AR
ACTIVITIES
Additions of items of property, Hmpy 3k ~ BEER R
plant and equipment RHIEA 13 (722) (2,439)
Additions of investment properties BB & % 15 (4,231) (846,030)
Deposits paid for property, WM - B Rk
plant and equipment FATET & (113,641) -
Deposits paid for property held for MEEAEERZ
development LE SR (1,100) -
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries &t W % i & 2 5] 2 £ 7T & (45,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEYE - KSR
property, plant and equipment I H Z e sk E - 84
Proceeds from disposal of an HE—REWEN
investment property Pt 45 5K 6 15 - 7,500
Net cash flows used in investing activities % & 3 %t A
Z Bl & il B (164,694) (840,885)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEHZBEH R
ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid SR 9s (33,717) (34,970)
New bank loans B B AT B AR 190,000 902,178
Repayment of bank loans 15 1R SRAT Bk (491,329) (101,385)
Proceeds from issue of shares BEAT AR 1A BT A4 K JE 28(a) 94 7,890
Shares repurchased and cancelled Jif 1] e 8 Mty 28(c) (91,241) -
Proceeds from deemed partial PR 8 B 8 A W] 8 43
disposal of subsidiaries, net LW RT3 E » FH 32(a) - 538,534
Net cash flows from/(used in) A EHEL ()
financing activities ZH &R EGH (426,193) 1,312,247
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BREeERBEEHED
CASH EQUIVALENTS B m 3 243,989 47,043
Cash and cash equivalents at ) Z Bla K Bl Y
beginning of year 1,236,682 1,189,639
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SERZBLE RBLEFHY
AT END OF YEAR 1,480,671 1,236,682
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH 814 K Bl & % it &
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Z 0
Cash and bank balances Bl& R SRAT B 1,210,671 1,236,682
Non-pledged time deposits TG A 2 0 A7 K 270,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in Bl B i i 7 A P At i B 4
the statement of cash flows KBl & FAEY 23 1,480,671 1,236,682
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 o TR

31 March 2018

ZEJE=A=1—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2] B4k M %R
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the BREERARAR (ARAF]D B —FKRH
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated R G RO 2 A A F] o ARA F] Z BRI
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is & AL B #e# Clarendon House, 2 Church
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton Street, Hamilton HM 11 o ARA R 2 FE& ¥
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Hb B A A W L BE JLBE S AT B 1555% -
Company is located at No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries AR FE R > A E] BB A R (B 5
(collectively, referred to as the “Group”) were engaged in [AGEME ) g T o) B -
the following principal activities:
® a wide range of construction, maintenance and other o RFHWHRMSHAE KB WM &
contract works in public and private sectors in Hong i R RS TR
Kong
e property investment and development o WMERY LR
e provision of finance o fEtELE
There were no significant changes in the nature of the ARG BE Y > A T 11 = B S S ) R
Group’s principal activities during the year. AT o] B KB B o
In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the HRR R o RAF Z BN F R &R A H
ultimate holding company of the Company is Winhale T T I A T R By ([ S B A A BCRE s 1)
Ltd. (“Winhale”), which is incorporated in the British it % 37 2 Winhale Led. ([ Winhalel)
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).
Information about subsidiaries A BB 2 ) ¥R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as A2 ] R B R A W BRI T
follows:
Nominal Percentage
Place of value of of equity
incorporation issued and attributable to Principal
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company activities
el B 3 B cHfT & A o) REAl
H BBnY B R I8 A i i B v B LEEH
Direct  Indirect
A IA] &
Profit Chain Investments Limited BVI US$70,000 100 - Investment holding
S AR Ordinary g Py
70,0003 70
il
Able Engineering Holdings Cayman Islands HK$20,000,000 - 75 Investment holding
Limited (“Able Engineering”) PSR Ordinary BEEK
LR TR A LA 20,000,000% 7¢
(T Ry ) T i
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(continued)

31 March 2018

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Name

£

Able Engineering
Company Limited
ZRIEAR AR

Able Contracting Limited
ZREFEFMAT

Able Contractors Limited

ZREEARAF

Able Building Construction Limited

ZHREBARAF

Able Maintenance Company Limited

ZHREBARAF

Covalla Limited

R RAF

Place of
incorporation
and operations

ik W 3 B
BB

Hong Kong
LR

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong
(R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

fi

# Ok A R & #

o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
R =

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 NE=ZH=1—H
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

A7 B B0 2 il o R (A1)
Aoy ) FE BEME A 2 A ROR T ¢ (D)

Nominal
value of
issued and
paid-up capital
o R

B0 R e A i i

HK$7,589,000
Ordinary
HK$11,600,000
Non-voting

deferred (Note)

7,589,0009 70 % 18 it

11,600,000 76
0 B2 B A Mt
(H7t)

HK$1 Ordinary
1 703 1

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,0007 76 ¥ i It

HK$1
Ordinary
19 70 5 2 M

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,0007 7c ¥ 1 it

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,0009 76 3 18 it

Percentage
of equity
attributable to
the Company

A2 i) BEAY
JBBE A b
Direct  Indirect
H I #%
- 75
- 75
- 75
- 75
- 75
- 100

VR 5 0 o TR i

2w B 5 B OB (A1)

Principal
activities

ER-E 31

Building
construction

and maintenance

i S35 & 1

Building
maintenance

S5 30

Building
construction

i Sge3i1

Building
construction

 Sge

Building
construction and

maintenance

MR R

Property
development

B2

2017-20185EH &



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 o TR

(continued)

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Name

i 1

Good Trader Limited
EHEARAT

Comfort Home Properties Limited

REEEHMATF

Win Glories Limited
A RAT A

Hobol Limited
34 A H

Win Extra Limited

s A

Frason Holdings Limited

iR A RA R

Wood One Keeprich Limited

Annual Report 2017-2018

Place of
incorporation
and operations

ik b 3 B
BEWE

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
A

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
(R

BVI/

Hong Kong
KRR
B

A7 B B0 2 il o R (A1)
Aoy ) FE BEME A 2 A ROR T ¢ (D)

Nominal
value of
issued and
paid-up capital
o R
8300 IR A i L

HK$1
Ordinary
190 T

HK$1
Ordinary
190

HK$9,600 Ordinary
9,600 7C 15 8 Jit

HK$1
Ordinary
1A ICH H M

HK$1
Ordinary
198 70 ¥ i e

HK$10,000
Ordinary
10,000¥ 7 ¥ 4 i

US$1
Ordinary
198 70 3% 3 M

2w B 5 B OB (A1)

Percentage
of equity
attributable to
the Company
A ] B A
e v B
Direct  Indirect

H#% 1] 8%

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Principal
activities

ER £ 3

Property
investment and

development

UE SV YT T

Property
investment

WELE

Property
investment

UESd48

Property
investment

ES§48

Property
development

B2

Property
investment

LUE S48

Property
development

B2



(continued)

31 March 2018

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Name

i 1

Uni-Dragon Holdings Limited
FHRERGRAF

Metro Advance Limited

WA R

Noble Connection Limited

WA A F

Sureguard Limited

TR IR A

View Finance Limited

REMBARAR

Excelskill Limited
REA A

Note: The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends or to

Place of
incorporation
and operations

ik b 3 B
BEWE

Hong Kong
RG]

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong
il

Hong Kong
(R

Hong Kong
(R

Hong Kong
LR

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 NE=ZH=1—H
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

VR 5 0 o TR i

2w B 5 B OB (A1)

A7 B B0 2 il o R (A1)

Nominal
value of
issued and
paid-up capital
o R
8300 IR A i L

HK$1
Ordinary
18 70 3 it

HK$1
Ordinary
198 70 3 it

HK$1
Ordinary
170 ¥ 1 I

HK$1
Ordinary
198 70 35 4 M

HK$1
Ordinary
198 70 35 2 M

HK$1
Ordinary
19 70 3 2 M

receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of the

company or to participate in any distribution on winding-up.

Aoy ) FE BEME A 2 A ROR T ¢ (D)

Percentage
of equity
attributable to
the Company
A ] B A
e v B
Direct  Indirect

H#% 1] 8%

- 100

Principal
activities

ER £ 3

Property

development

B

- 100

Property

development

B2

- 100
development

UE S

- 100

Property

Treasury

management

A8 B

- 100

Provision of

finance

fepkn e

- 100

Property

investment

ES 3§48

M s S A S T S PR A R WS IR B 5 S S A

T %25 AT B 4 W) 2 A i SRR o 4
R B e L > B A T AR
FHALAT MR o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 o TR

2.1

31 March 2018
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA?”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, which have been measured at fair
value.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency, and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2018. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

Annual Report 2017-2018

2.1

R G
1.

2w B 5 B OB (A1)

A7 B B D 2 0 R (A
BRI E R R AR R BB
o A AR 5 L 3 A A 2 AR A R
J& AT o FEHRRBR > FI A E A W 2 B
BHiF BB R AR IR -

AWM B WRETE R B E A G ((FHee
sl B2 €7 1) AR 2 7 9 1 5 i L ([
WS B A R ) (B9 BT A o T
Q) A Eh R (TRl ]) &
B~ BB R A ata R A s (AT
WA ) 2 19 38 150 5 i A0 Y o A A B R R T
HELJEE B BIAR 6 1) A 3 > M3 S A PR
i wH B BR A -

AW B HA T ([T ) F1H > HAAR
"Wy hE KR e R > B A BWIE SN 5 B
AR = T -

By R e

Ao BB AR LR AR A ) R L B g 4 R A R
SR )FEZHA Z A Bk AR A
o BB 4> W) i AR o ) L D B o )
B (B RRLTTR) o B AR 0 2 B
B Ty 6 1 B 395 38 I R A8 T 4 [ g e B
A RE S AT A LRk > I HLA RE D JE Rl
BT RE ) (B BEACSE B H AT A fE )
BB 7 A AH B B A BN RE R ) B B E
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

2.1 SR (4)

S AR (A1)

A T RS R B DR B T RS
BR e P sRUDLRE R > A5 RFAG LR 75 B
WA 7 WO ) IR > AR I 6 2% B8P A AH B
FEMEED > B4

(a) BEBIEHHMERERAE NS FHZ
HE 3

(b) M Al F 7] % B e A B HER] 5 K

()  AHE B0y 32 e Bl T2 T A G R o

FEF i 2 1 G S 5 R A TR LA A W] — B o
wH ISR B e A 100 TR A ) o BRI 2 W) Y SE A
ASR R A R H R A > R A A A
£ i B 2 W L A R A A o

FH 2 e A 2 THI WAL 2 ) % AL 4 i
ACHR BB A R R B R IR HIPERERS > B AE
U 2R 5| B 4 ol M 2 A R £ M o ACAR
PR A5 A ] 2 T A2 5 R B B R A
i~ BERE - WA B RBLE TR AR A IR
H I 2 G o

T SR e N LS R b S i ) B = T
Tk A S P AR I TR A
HRAIREEBI BB E T7 o B A w] AR
B9 I f22 I RE A B A 3 R 2 58 B AT % 2 A2
RS -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 o TR

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interests and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
included in Annual Entities: Clarification of the Scope of
Improvements to HKFRSs HKFRS 12
2014-2016 Cycle

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a
significant financial effect on these financial statements.
Disclosure has been made in note 32(b) to the financial
statements upon the adoption of amendments to HKAS 7,
which require an entity to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

VR 5 0 o TR i

2.3 TR A 1 NG R 2 280 7 o I i

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING i
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised ARG Sl R 2 25 A S A O ER T T S

HKEFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

A AL v A A 28 B T A AR A T R A o B

in these financial statements. ek Al o
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of TG EABLR  URGBEEE LS
Share-based Payment Transactions' (3T) 094 A 51 A
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial BB RGBS B B B
Instruments with HKFRS 4 (1&37) HSEORE il T A1
Insurance Contracts' BB B R
F4ERBEE 4]
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments' HHMBEREEAF LA TA
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative T B REEAEOSE  AAAME 20
Compensation? (1&37) -
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between HWMBEHGEAEI0 KEZHAGELELS
and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint PR R BRE M EENE
Venture* B8 (R ——14F) 2F B
(#&37)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with U S T e ) HE 2 [0 & 4954 0
Customers' 159 BA!
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue B U T o e ) KT B AR5
from Contracts with Customers' 155 HIHEFZ R &4
(#&31) FEE A 17 57
HKFRS 16 Leases® U S 2 HE
169K
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® ﬁgﬁ? Bk e A W7 P
17%%
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or TR 1998 BN ~ H sk 47 5
Settlement? (FE3T)
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and G 5 A 5285 TR EEEREELFES
Joint Ventures? (f3T) 19 R HE 5
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property! ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁrogﬁ REWENHH
(#&3T)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and il (BB R  SERGAEMNC
Advance Consideration' ZHE)RBEL
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax T (M HEREDRR TR EHN P HE
Treatments? ZEW)REEL%
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and ZENEFEZFN HHEMHREED
2014-2016 Cycle HKAS 28! R 2 4 JE At S R AV & A
LR AR
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of DR HEEFTF-L WETHEMBERGEL
2015-2017 Cycle HKFRSs? GEATH G JE A ICHIE

adoption

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

b AR SR )\ H o H S DR B UG AR

JEE 91 1)

D EHRZF G H— HSR DR B R A

J3E 91 1]

o EHARIZFR I H A HER DR B 4

JBE 391 [H]

S TR T R ) A 28 o BT Ak 4 T BR

2017-20185EH &




VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 o TR

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
The actual impacts upon adoption could be different to
those below, depending on additional reasonable and
supportable information being made available to the
Group at the time of applying the standards and the
transitional provisions and policy options finally adopted.

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August
2016 that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features
for withholding a certain amount in order to meet an
employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a modification
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash-settled to
equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach
used to account for vesting conditions when measuring
equity-settled share-based payments also applies to cash-
settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce
an exception so that a share-based payment transaction
with net share settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax
obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction when certain
conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction are modified, with the result
that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an equity-
settled transaction from the date of the modification. On
adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments
without restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if they elect to adopt for all
three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group
will adopt the amendments from 1 April 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all
previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group will not restate
comparative information and will recognise any transition
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at
1 April 2018. During 2018, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the impairment
requirements and are summarised as follows:

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are
not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under
HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected credit loss
model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis.
The Group will apply the simplified approach and record
lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the
present values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining
life of all of its accounts receivable and contract assets.
Furthermore, the Group will apply the general approach
and record twelve-month expected credit losses that are
estimated based on the possible default events on its other
receivables within the next twelve months.

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate the
application of the expected loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not
yet incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets
measured at amortised costs and other items that subject
to the impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS
9 by the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
if the expected credit loss model were to be applied by
the Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss
to be recognised by the Group as at 1 April 2018 would
be slightly increased as compared to the accumulated
amount recognised under HKAS 39 mainly attributable
to expected credit losses provision on accounts receivable
and contract assets. Such further impairment recognised
under expected credit loss model would reduce the
opening retained earnings and increase the deferred tax
assets as at 1 April 2018.

HKEFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The
standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective
application or a modified retrospective adoption is
required on the initial application of the standard. In
June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS
15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on
principal versus agent and licences of intellectual
property, and transition. The amendments are also
intended to help ensure a more consistent application
when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard. The Group plans
to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to
recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at 1 April 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements only to contracts that are not
completed before 1 April 2018. The Group expects that
the transitional adjustment to be made on 1 April 2018
upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be material.

Annual Report 2017-2018

2.3 TR A 1 NG R 2 280 7 o I i

e (49)

MEBRAS 20 W] 2 S WY REAY > 32 2R R E R
AR A OO R S T - B
R 7 o 1wt 3 F SR 3 O R M R i R St AR
Bb > il A 45 A B P RO P AR R BB > R
HER F )\ — H B T Rt
AL 18 S R R R B o A R AR 4 TR A7
HRBER R A E - P WETEBR %
—J\AEPU T — H A0 A% B i A Dok A e AiE
B JE B 2 B o

T A DY ARG T B Y A B o i
SE1SURRT St B P T B 4 AR A
A S5 BRI T2 BT o LR A 9 B
HERSE 1598 > WA ME 322 B T B T A R
RS 1 it B T % 400 AU Y <
i o A v B 2 ot i ) 5 1 5 P Js B s it
R R M BB B LA A T 3 o YRR
51 JEE Iz i e R R R > LR AR
WA 23 9% ~ A7 B AT B PR - B HE
BERNEARIR P A BR A A I 52 ) > DL KRR
KFVER Rt o A B e It S R AR A
A Y S 5 At A ) Ay A TR R R o R
TR M P % 1 ) 8 4 0 4 T W BR P A
BERTIBWRA - R —AREANH > H#E
s Bl 2 7 % 7 37 o B o v B SR 15 9%
FOAERT - DR BIAT A i i o A6 28 5 1A U
RN £ YN YNIW T T3 Sy
G E - DRI S - TR B e A B
DR TS PR FH 75 98 S0 85 S o 4 B 25 15 5% IR
JA BT — B DA B e 0K B i 5% i JU g o A A 4R
FEME o A5 I G PR P A o B A i U2
55RO MR ST > DA e R g i A — %
— VARG H — H B3I 45 6 4 05 Ul i Ik
PRI 0 BB R o Besb > ACHE G (8 R —
o \AE Y H — H W ARS8 B A 1R F B
RURE o A S 0TI 7 o R R D A 9 A i o
RSB SR % — ) A — H AT
VIR 208 T P ) 1 K



% B O WA A

o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
R =

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The directors of the Company have assessed the impacts
on application of HKFRS 15 and the expected impacts are
as follows:

(a) Building construction and maintenance works
Performance obligations satisfied over time

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when an
entity transfers control of a good or service over time
and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

(i) the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(ii) the entity’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

(iii) the entity’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the entity and the
entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do
not fall into any of these three situations, then under
HKFRS 15 the entity recognises revenue for the
sale of that good or service at a single point in time,
being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators
that will be considered in determining when the
transfer of control occurs.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(a) Building construction and maintenance works

(continued)
Performance obligations satisfied over time (continued)

The Group has assessed that its contracts with
customers fulfil the criteria for recognising revenue
over time under HKFRS 15. Methods that can
be used under HKFRS 15 to measure the Group’s
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation satisfied over time include
(i) output method (i.e. recognise revenue on the
basis of direct measurement of the value to the
customer of the entity’s performance to date) and;
(ii) input method (i.e. recognise revenue on the basis
of the entity’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation). In measuring the
work progress under the new revenue standard,
the Group considers that an output method with
reference to progress certificates issued by customers
and any adjustment, where it is necessary and can
be objectively determined, on the work progress
would appropriately depict the transfer of control of
goods or services to customers for individual projects
under the new standard. So far as the measurement
of progress for the Group’s typical contracts is
concerned, the Group does not expect the adoption
of HKFRS 15 would significantly affect its financial
position and performance based on the assessment
performed so far.

Costs to fulfil a contract
Under HKFRS 15, if the costs incurred in fulfilling a

contract with a customer are not within the scope of
another standard, an entity shall recognise an asset
from the costs incurred to fulfil a contract only if
those costs meet all of the following criteria:

(i) The costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify;
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING e (49)

STANDARDS (continued)

(a) Building construction and maintenance works (a) MU= gk B A8 TR (49)
(continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract (continued) JBAT 6 I 1 A (4])

(ii) The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

(iii) The costs are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate to satisfied performance obligations
(or partially satisfied performance obligations) in
the contracts and costs for which the Group cannot
distinguish whether the costs relate to unsatisfied
performance obligations or to satisfied performance

obligations shall be expensed as incurred under
HKFRS 15.

Currently, contract costs are recognised by reference
to the stage of completion of the contract, which is
measured with reference to the progress certificates
issued by the customers. The Group has assessed
that the adoption of HKFRS 15 may result in earlier
recognition of contract costs that relate to satisfied
performance obligations.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing
the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption. The extent
of impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15
would depend on the progress of and facts specific to
the Group’s individual contracts.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)
(b) Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in
HKFRS 15 are more detailed than those under the
current HKAS 18. The presentation requirements
represent a significant change from current
practice and will significantly increase the volume
of disclosures required in the Group’s financial
statements. Many of the disclosure requirements in
HKFRS 15 are new and the Group has assessed that
the impact of some of these disclosure requirements
will be significant. In particular, the Group expects
that the notes to the financial statements will be
expanded because of the disclosure of significant
judgements made on determining the transaction
prices of those contracts that include variable
consideration, how the transaction prices have been
allocated to the performance obligations, and the
assumptions made to estimate the stand-alone selling
price of each performance obligation. In addition, as
required by HKFRS 15, the Group will disaggregate
revenue recognised from contracts with customers
into categories that depict how the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by economic factors. It will also disclose
information about the relationship between the
disclosure of disaggregated revenue and revenue
information disclosed for each reportable segment.

HKEFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Ewaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to
use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the
right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates
to a class of property, plant and equipment to which
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on
the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of
certain events, such as change in the lease term and
change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS
16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases
using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17
and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make
more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees
can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16
upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose
to take advantage of the practical expedients available
and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted.
As disclosed in note 34(b) to the financial statements,
at 31 March 2018, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
aggregate of approximately HK$504,000. Upon adoption
of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may
need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed to
determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease
liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to,
any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and
short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs
chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of
adoption.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including
property under construction or development, into or out
of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases
to meet, the definition of investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in
management’s intentions for the use of a property does
not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments
should be applied prospectively to the changes in use that
occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendments.
An entity should reassess the classification of property
held at the date that it first applies the amendments and,
if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions
that exist at that date. Retrospective application
is only permitted if it is possible without the use of
hindsight. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2018. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Company the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Company’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint ventures, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of the joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in

active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than properties held for development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, construction
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant policy for
that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Changes in the values of revalued property, plant and
equipment are dealt with as movements in the property
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis,
the excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss
to the extent of the deficit previously charged.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Leasehold land under

finance leases

Over the lease terms

Buildings Opver the shorter of the
remaining term of the
land lease and 40 years

Leasehold improvements Opver the shorter of the
lease term and 20%

20% to 24%
20% to 33%

Machinery and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles 24% to 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at cost less
impairment losses. These properties are reclassified as
properties under development or investment properties, as
appropriate, when development commences.

Properties held for development are classified as non-
current assets as the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete
beyond the normal operating cycle.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development for re-sale are included
under current assets and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises acquisition costs,
construction costs, interest and other direct attributable
costs.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
estimated selling price less estimated total cost of the
development and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale of the properties.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale of the
properties.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of
a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including
prepaid land lease payments under finance leases,
are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as loans and receivables. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts and other receivables, deposits, an
amount due from a joint venture and loans and interest
receivables.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and interest receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method
less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in profit or loss in finance costs
for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as loans and borrowings.
The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and
other payables, accruals of costs for contract works,
amounts due to joint ventures and interest-bearing bank
loans.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to
use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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31 March 2018

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from construction, renovation and other contracts,
on the percentage of completion basis, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Construction,
renovation and other contracts” below;

(b) from work orders of contracts for alterations,
additions, repairs and maintenance, based on the
value of individual work orders certified by relevant
employers;

(c) from the sales of completed properties, by the time
the properties are delivered to the purchasers and the

sales agreements become unconditional;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims
and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed
construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the percentage of certified value of work performed to
date to the total contract sum of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they
are anticipated by management. Where contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as an
amount due from customers for contract works. Where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as accruals of costs for contract works.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details
of which are given in note 29 to the financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken as at the end of the reporting period
is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the
respective employees in the following year. An accrual is
made at the end of the reporting period for the expected
future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by
the employees and carried forward.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQ”) retirement benefit scheme for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the ORSO scheme. This
scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior
to his/her interest in the Group’s employee contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited
employer’s contributions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the note 11 to
the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for these portions separately.
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, revenue and profit recognition on contract
works is dependent on the estimation of the total
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date. Based on the Group’s past experience
and the nature of the contract activities undertaken
by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and the revenue can be
reliably estimated. As a result, until this point is reached,
the amount due from customers for contract works as
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements will not
include profit which the Group may eventually realise
from the work performed to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total contract costs and/or revenue
may be higher or lower than those estimated at the end of
the reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years.
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31 March 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Construction, renovation and other contracts (continued)
Significant assumptions are required to estimate the
total contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based on past
experience and knowledge of the project management.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements,
investment properties are revalued at the end of the
reporting period on market value, existing use basis
by independent professionally qualified valuer. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions and
estimates, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual outcomes. In making the
judgement for valuation of investment properties, the
Group considered the discounted cash flow projections
based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported
by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts
and (when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same location
and condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of the cash flows.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the contract works segment engages in contract
works as a main contractor or sub-contractor,
primarily in respect of building construction and
repair, maintenance, alteration and addition works;

(b) the property investment and development segment

engages in investment in retail and commercial

premises for their rental income potential and the
development of properties for rental or for sale
purpose; and

the provision of finance segment engages in money
lending business.
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31 March 2018
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted
profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that interest income, finance costs, share of profits
and losses of joint ventures as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third

ZEJE=A=1—H

4. YRR (H)
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parties at the then prevailing market prices. 5 e
Property investment and
Provision of finance Contract works development Total Eliminations Consolidated
etk TR MRS RRR it it Ei
2018 oy 2018 n 2018 0 018 0 018 0 018 JlY
SE-ME | CERE | ZR-ME | CEbE | ZE-NE | CEbE | CRME | DE-bE | SB-MR | ZE-bE [ 2F-0R | D3R
HK$°000 HKS'000 | HKS'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000 | HK$'000 HKS'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Fitr
Segment revenue: ARHA :
Sales to external customers — HETHKEF - - | 3112264 103089 332,384 T4 | 3,444,648 1310320 - - | 3,444,648 1310320
IH[eTES[ ncome {Nm * E%%ﬁﬁ m
loans receivable HAHA 18429 16,511 - - - - 18429 16,511 - - 18429 16521
Intersegment sales AR E - - - 8542 2,640 2689 2,640 88,107 (2,640) (88,107) - -
Total it} 18429 16510 | 3,112,064 | 1318317 335,024 80,110 | 3,465,717 1414948 (2,640) (88,107) | 3,463,077 1326841
Segment results MRS 18,429 16,521 249,291 153,03 371,351 80,386 045,072 349939 (2,460) G300 | 642612 344,590
Interest and unallocated HERAARZ
income and gains WO T 7,261 8,031
Unallocated expenses 317451 (113,983) (124.031)
Finance costs agi -4 (2,536) (2140
Share of profitsand losses MM AR A%
of joint ventures BN RER - - - (18,336) ) - [¢) (18,336) - - o) (18,336)
Profit before tax ol 508,343 188,127
Income tax expense iR (55,670) (34,600)
Profit for the year ERRH 452,673 153,521
Other segment information: S AHBEH :
Depreciation ik - - 2,193 2,840 851 84 3,644 3,624 - - 3,644 3,624
Depreciation on KAREELTE
unallocated assets 5,744 5,143 - - 5,144 5,143
Capital expenditure BARERL - - 114358 241 4236 | 846,042 11839% | 848469 - - 118,59 848,469
Investments in joint ventures — HA 8 RE M & E - - 8,614 8,614 186 - 8,800 8,614 - - 8,800 8,614
Gain on changes n fair valie B EA TR
ofinvestment propertes, net £ A » FH - - - - 183,413 3910 183413 3970 - - 183,413 3970
Reversal for provision of IR
propeties held for sale hE R - - - - - 400 - 4000 - - - 400
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. YRR (H)
Geographical information b it 5 R
The Group’s revenue from external customers is all AL E R EINRE P HRAZ R RA LFE
derived from customers in Hong Kong and the Group’s WRT A< 4R i I B A A R AL
non-current assets are all located in Hong Kong. B o
Information about major customers THREFER
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for A A 4R A4 A 10% B DA H i 4% %
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year, is set F B ARSI -
out below:
2018 2017
RN | ZF L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#c F#x
Customer A %P H 2,656,907 1,330,813
Customer B BHRZ N/A A% = 357,252
Customer C BN N/A A% = 385,748
* Less than 10% of the Group’s revenue ko R AR E A 10%
Information about products and services VE i B¢ IR 5 Rt
2018 2017
RN | DL
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T# T
Revenue from external customers: KEIKREFZWA :
Contract works for building construction M F &4 & £ T.F7% 3,015,304 1,952,384
Contract works for repair, maintenance, A& ~ R - S Kmg
alteration and addition BEH TR 96,960 280,511
Gross rental income FH 4 e A SR 80,088 77,425
Sales of properties SE SRR YN 252,296 -
Interest income from loans receivable AR B HE R KRB U A 18,429 16,521
3,463,077 2,326,841

2017-2018 EEH & m
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7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 o TR

31 March 2018
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, represents the appropriate proportion of
contract works revenue from construction, maintenance
and other contracts; revenue from sales of properties;
gross rental income received and receivable from
properties; and interest income received and receivable

from loans receivable during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and

R G
5. WOA - BN B

WA T4 B R - DR B A £ 0 T A
B 2 B K TR s e O 5
W 3 B WA T M MR e M N RV 5 R A
W Ak v L R B

A G Z oA ~ Al e A\ R W aR =2 43 BT

gains is as follows: T
2018 2017
RN | DL
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M ik T# T# T
Revenue KA
Contract works revenue HH TRRIBA 3,112,264 2,232,895
Sales of properties W2 8 B WA 252,296 -
Gross rental income* H 4 W A\ 48 Fix 80,088 77,425
Interest income from loans receivable KA REBCR K
A EWA 18,429 16,521
3,463,077 2,326,841
Other income and gains Al B A B W 2
Interest income F B WA 6,935 1,872
Gain on changes in fair value of BEYENVFHME
investment properties, net WL - FH 15 183,413 3,970
Gain on disposal of items of HEE - SR
property, plant and equipment R IEH Z WA - 84
Confiscated deposits and compensation WWIE 4 Bl
received w1 4 - 5,991
Sundry income R E A 326 104
190,674 12,021

*

Gross rental income included contingent rents received under

operating leases of HK$446,000 (2017: HK$324,000) during the

year.

Annual Report 2017-2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 5 i B ik
31 March 2018 ZFE—/N#F=H=4+—H

6. BB & A
A W 2 B BL T R LA BR 7 (REA) TR

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting): %I
2018 2017
RN | DL
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M ik T# T# T
Depreciation®** P ek 13 9,388 9,367
Auditor’s remuneration A% B Rl T 4 4,095 3,900
Reversal for provision of properties EEREAENEZD
held for sale* E P 19 - (4,000)
Cost of properties sold* B 3 2 B AR 131,773 -
Direct operating expenses (including PRI ¥ 0y S Bl BBURHL 48 Thg
repairs and maintenance) arising on EAEMERZE T
rental-earning investment properties* (ELHG A1 f R 38 ) * 8,586 7,408
Employee benefits expense fié 5 8 A b 32 (A B 4%
(exclusive of directors’ M AE -
remuneration — note 8)%%*: Bt k) *#* ¢
Wages and salaries TE R 4& 205,482 153,396
Pension scheme contributions FER N o R
(defined contribution schemes) (F e Bkt i) 5,764 4,670
211,246 158,066
Minimum lease payments under A AR Z
operating leases KemEmse 21,787 20,367
Government subsidies™* B & Bl (1,024) (45)
* These items are included in the “Property costs” on the face of the * JE ST H R A A TR A R Al 2 W R
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive NPAEE S ¥ NI

income.

ok

A S I OB AR % B 4 L A
A AT A A T S I 0 R e e i S el o (FF
W I BT R 0L 2 M) 2 BBl o NI ST B
%W R EAT VR R AR o

Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational
Training Council and the Construction Industry Council,
institutions established by the HKSAR Government, for
providing on-the-job training for graduate engineers and trainees,
respectively. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these subsidies.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, depreciation and employee ek WE R NEZA=Z4—HIRERE > 57

benefits expense of HK$755,000 (2017: HK$565,000) and
HK$198,361,000 (2017: HK$152,116,000), respectively, are
included in “Contract works costs” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

5 K AR B 8 A B S 43 51755,0009 08 (Z
EF—L4E 1 565,000%78) K 198,361,000 J&
(= —-b4E £ 152,116,00087C) T Ft Adi &
B M TS RN Z [ A A TR A |
o

2017-20185EH &
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WHEN

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AREEZHHEETSHWT -
2018 2017
ZENE| ZF—LH
HKS$’000 HK$’000
TF# T
Interest on bank loans AT ERZ A B 30,295 25,876
Less: Interest capitalised Wk ©EAALF B (2,759) (3,729)
27,536 22,147

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(The “Stock Exchange”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. P&

U U 5 32 5 P AT PR A ) (T I 22 P ) e
Zr L BLAI (T gl l) ~ 7 (Rl i)
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () B(O)BRVA B (2 ) (3
5 3 S 0 2 EORE) B ) 55 2 98 2 8 v A 4
EEHMMT

2018 2017
ZR N ZF LS
HK$’000 HK$’000
T #C F# T
Fees 4 960 734
Other emoluments: JL Al 57 T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind* %4 ~ HBHE R B F) 25+ 13,311 12,303
Discretionary performance-related B R B AH B 2 1% A6 4L
bonuses 51,020 55,000
Pension scheme contributions (defined iR R4 T B At K
contribution schemes) (S Btk st #) 90 53
64,421 67,356
65,381 68,090

Annual Report 2017-2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018 ZFE—/N#F=H=4+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WY W4 ()

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) Mo IePifrkg
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors A BE R S A PR IR AT E A
during the year were as follows: mE
2018 -2y 2
Fees
o
HK$’000
T#7x
Professor Ko Jan Ming [k =gk €5 240
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP 3£ B #l ik B (A £mm & - # 2% - kFat) 240
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene 3 e 240
720
2017 —Z L
Fees
i
HK$’000
T#x
Professor Ko Jan Ming (R Lk &4 198
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBM, GBS, JP 3E W5l B (A8 5 - & 4002 5% ~ & Fapt) 198
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene W R e A 198
594
There were no other emoluments payable to the TAARAEFE P > W SR S IR AT
independent non-executive directors during the year ZIH AL A (ZF— L4 ) -
(2017: nil).

2017-2018 FEHE 157
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31 March 2018

e =V v
8. A& (FH)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

Annual Report 2017-2018

(b) AT H P R IEPuAT P

2018 ZE®— N\
Salaries,  Discretionary
allowances  performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions  remuneration
FaouE  HEBKR BikE
g REWHAE  ZERRL il # gk B2
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T F#x TF#x T
Executive directors: WhES:
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung 8y Sl
(“Mr. Ngai”) ([HEE] - 8,437+ 42,900 36 51,373
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai i e - 3,834 8,000 36 11,870
Ms. Lau Tsz Kwan, Jone HERLL - 1,040 120 18 1,178
Non-executive director: FUfES:
Dr. Lee Man Piu, Albert EVREE 240 - - - 240
240 13,311 51,020 90 64,661
2017 —E L
Salaries,  Discretionary
allowances  performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions  remuneration
HEul EERBHE Bk
e REDHNE  ZBERA il BB S
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
T Fir T i F#x
Executive directors: WES:
Mr. Ngai Wk - 8,052* 43,000 U 51,073
M. Yau Kwok Fai i 0 2 - 3,691 12,000 1 15,712
Ms. Lau Tsz Kwan, Jone LEYinen - 560 - 11 571
Non-executive director: FUfES:
Dr. Lee Man Piu, Albert BYRRE 140 - - - 140
140 12,303 55,000%* 53 67,496
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 5 i B ik
31 March 2018 ZFE—/N#F=H=4+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WY W4 ()

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BATHH K IEBAT RS ()

(continued)

* The remuneration disclosed above includes the estimated * X EAME SR T AL
monetary value of residential accommodation provided to a ] — 4 e BT A Al A o
director of the Company. The estimated monetary value of ARG TZLERENENAMAGT R
such residential accommodation provided to the director, WA (B A AR EER) B R
not charged to profit or loss for the year, was approximately 1,677,000# 5 (—F—-L4F : 1,812,000
HK$1,677,000 (2017: HK$1,812,000). woit) -

**  The discretionary performance-related bonuses paid to the wE AR N AT ARA R AT E S
executive directors of the Company during the year were BLRBIAH N Z WG AL » AR
determined based on the Group’s operating performance for bl A AR R Y T R B -
the preceding financial year.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived ARy ] R AR AR BE AR AR AT R HE - BfE

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year WAL R E R B (SR
(2017: nil). — L4 ) o

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. 4 e wh hi R H

The five highest paid employees during the year included AN LA B R R B SRR A (2

two (2017: two) directors, details of whose remuneration F—LE WL EF FEZIMEFED

are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration WA E SO EES o R HER =S (ZF—L

of the remaining three (2017: three) non-director, highest FZH) A HMmIERFZIER M4

paid employees for the year are as follows: FEREIE -

2018 2017

ZE N R

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#C F#oT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind P4 HE K EYR S 4,454 4,311

Discretionary performance-related bonuses 523 5L A B Z ¥ 1% 6 41 6,195 1,559

Pension scheme contributions R AR 4 5B 54 54

10,703 5,924

2017-2018 EEH & m
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31 March 2018
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as

follows:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000

/A\

7

ZEJE=A=1—H

1,500,001 7t %2,000,000% ¢
2,000,001 7C %2,500,000% J&
2,500,001 7T %3,000,000% J&
3,000,001 % 7€ %3,500,000% ¢
4,500,001 7€ £5,000,000% 7T

9. T4t AR B (%)
T 62 T 570 26 A0 1 e 8 0 S O L A
BT

No. of individuals

i B A B

2018 2017

“E N ZF L
- 2

- 1

1 _

1 _

1 _

3 3

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits

10. Wi 138
T s A5 B0 T R 8 AR A T T Vs 7 A 2 A
S e SR s 4B R 16.5% (TR — LA

arising in Hong Kong during the year. 16.5% ) 1E th #4 -
2018 2017
“E-NE| DR L4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T#r

Current — Hong Kong: - A

Charge for the year ARG E 52,459 32,992
Underprovision in prior years VL A5 BE 4 A 2 295 7
Deferred (note 27) IEIE (M idt27) 2,916 1,607
Total tax charge for the year AR AR BE B IE 32 A 55,670 34,606

Annual Report 2017-2018
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10. Wi f3 8L (%)
308 P ) FE 0 5 B 3 6 ) R i R ) 2 A
IE S b4 SRR PR W B 2 A BAIE S v

31 March 2018
10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate is as follows: HERWT
2018 2017
RN | R B
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x TF#x
Profit before tax I3 A5t i ¥ A 508,343 188,127
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax A W i E B 16.5%
rate of 16.5% At 5 Z B 83,877 31,041
Adjustment in respect of current tax of S DL S ] A
previous periods ) ) B 295 7
Adjustment in respect of deferred tax of 3 D) iy i [ 4% #iE i 35
previous periods A 2% - (1,083)
Profits and losses attributable to joint R A s
ventures it ) S s 15 - 3,025
Income not subject to tax VIR R N (31,398) (4,017)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR B Z B X 3,725 7,017
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  FI Fi DA 5 5 [ i 58 %5 s 48 (1,199) (1,822)
Tax losses not recognised e R Z B s 1R 683 568
Others Ho At (313) (130)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate AN [ 3% B PR Bl R 51 5
Z BLIH 32 55,670 34,606

2017-20185EH &
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11.

12.

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H

DIVIDENDS

Proposed final — HK2 cents
(2017: HK2 cents) per ordinary share

11.

HBEIR R I I B, — i M 3 9 i
LA (ZF LA

JBE B
2018 2017
ZR N 2R -LH
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF# F T
29Al1) 33,659 35,116

The final dividend proposed subsequent to the end of
the reporting period is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all the dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Annual Report 2017-2018
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TP S 38 B R AR St R DR 2 AR B A AR
B B AT R J R A K R SRR A
e > J5 AR o

BEO v W R A 17 AT A WA 4 B %

o e B A i ) 5 TS AL B A A B B 4 I A
P2 5 A i R e AF B LR AT R
Z e F Y YR 5

Al O R R N > DUACAE R RE A T
W3 R 25 A AR A 2 SR > SR B
FH 1 5 308 e 4 o AR - 3 SO S M B A i
AUIE BT A ACAE B L3 AT 2 3 A M > DA
B A i F A L 9 0y =2 3 30 P A 4 R AT B
S A5 2 3 e i DA AR B AT R e 2
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

12. BE 2y vl 35 70 B 2 15 A7 % M A A5 B it

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE A ()
PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ¥ DL Wl S R S AR R M W A
are based on:
2018 2017
“E-NE| DR L4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#or
Earnings it A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity g B FE A 36 A =P BT
holders of the parent, used in the basic B AR EMEL A H
earnings per share calculation JRE A7 a2 1) 408,930 141,543
Number of shares
JBe ) ¥ H
2018 2017
“E -\ e Sl w2
Shares JBe By
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 4 I 3 A i 1l 51 3 o iy F 9
in issue during the year used in the basic AR B OB AT 08 I 1
earnings per share calculation IR SF- %) B 1,708,342,845 1,752,894,318
Effect of dilution — weighted average 25 — 5 Bt v e
number of ordinary shares: Ty
Share options T ot W 5,195,498 7,442,399
Weighted average number of ordinary shares % i 4 # ¥ 1 5t 55 b Bt I /4
in issue during the year used in the diluted AR JBE LB AT 5 98 M 1
earnings per share calculation T 1,713,538,343 | 1,760,336,717

2017-20185EH &
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31 March 2018 ZFE—/EFE=H=4+—H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. B3 ~ BRAY Bt il
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
fff
fik BE  HEKER
ERVY S E Rk WAERM 1 it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#x T#x T#r T#1 T#71
2018 RN
At 31 March 2017 REF-tEZA=ZT—-HER
and 1 April 2017: “F-tENA-R
Cost TES 159,433 13,923 4,167 13,262 12,900 203,685
Accumulated depreciation 2ty (31,847) (10,819) (3,870) (11,863) (8,761) (67,160)
Net carrying amount W E 127,586 3,104 297 1,399 4,139 136,525
Net carrying amount at RZZ—-LHEMA—H
1 April 2017 IR 127,586 3,104 297 1,399 4139 136,525
Additions HE - - 10 2 690 m
Transfers, net (note 15) i B () - - (45) (311) - (356)
Depreciation provided during R RATE (o)
the year (note 6) (4,010) (2,462) (74) (537) (2,305) (9,388)
Net carrying amount at RZZ-\EZH=1—H
31 March 2018 IR A 123,576 642 188 573 2524 127,503
At 31 March 2018: RZZ-NEZA=1—H:
Cost AR 159,433 13,923 4,075 12,665 13,590 203,686
Accumulated depreciation EEEi (35,857)  (13,281) (3,887)  (12,092)  (11,066)  (76,183)
Net carrying amount M I 123,576 642 188 573 2,524 127,503

m Annual Report 2017-2018
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y3~ RIS Beasefli (48)

(continued)
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Land and Leasehold and and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
R
s BE HEEER
THRETE  WEEER Rkt WA B st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T#T T#x T#T T#T T#T T#T
2017 Y Sl 3
At 1 April 2016: REF-NENH—H
Cost B 159,433 13,340 4491 12,938 13,1712 203,375
Accumulated depreciation EHEN (27,837) (8,687) (4091)  (11,692) (1515 (59,922)
Net carrying amount M T 131,596 4653 301 1,246 5,657 143,453
Net carrying amount at REZZ=AENA—H
1 April 2016 IR 131,596 4,653 301 1,246 5,657 143,453
Additions WA - 606 89 736 1,008 2439
Depreciation provided during NI (Hito)
the year (note 6) (4,010 (2,155) (93) (583) (2,526) (9,367)
Net carrying amount at RZF-EEZH=1—H
31 March 2017 bd Y 127,586 3,104 297 1,399 4139 136,525
At 31 March 2017: R-F-LEZH=1—H:
Cost FA 159,433 13,923 4167 13,262 12,900 203,685
Accumulated depreciation LEE (31847 (10,819) (3,870)  (11,863) (8,761)  (67,160)
Net carrying amount W T 0 127,586 3,104 297 1,399 4139 136,525

2017-20185EH &
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13.

14.

15.

31 March 2018
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

At 31 March 2018, the Group’s land and buildings with
an aggregate net carrying amount of HK$85,354,000 (31
March 2017: HK$127,586,000) were pledged to secure
certain bank loans and general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 26).

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

At 31 March 2018, the Group’s properties held for
development of HK$146,877,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$324,340,000) were pledged to secure certain bank

loans and general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 26).

ZEJE=A=1—H

13. P38 ~ B4 Bt i (4)

RoZ— )\EZH=Z1—H > A R H
{8 A #£ 7%585,354,0008 8 (ZF —LHE=H
=+—H :127,586,000% 7T ) iy + H1 Sz H 5=
TR HEH > DIBUS 2 T AR 35 T 4R AT
K B — SR AT Ab B (B 5E26) o

RAEERZYE

W \NE=ZA=+—H » KEMEHEH
146,877,000 6 (= —LtHE=H=+—
H : 324,340,000 70) M AR B R Z W ¥
COBHRAT > DIRG9 T A4 2 T 4R AT &
K e — e SRAT R (M 5E26)

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. ¥R
HK$’000
T # T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2016 B ZF—NAENH — H R AE 1,008,500
Additions (note) a8 (Mt it) 846,030
Disposal & (7,500)
Net gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) O - AR R AR W W AR (M AES) 3,970
Carrying amount at 31 March 2017 R-F—LE=ZH=Z+—HK
and 1 April 2017 R —BAEN ] — H AR T AE 1,851,000
Additions B 4,231
Transfers from property, plant and equipment A Y~ WA B (W AE13)
(note 13) 356
Net gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) O P8R o R A B RS (M AES) 183,413
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018 R )N\E=ZH=1+—HREE 2,039,000

Note: On 31 May 2016, the Group had acquired a 3-storey commercial/
car park building as well as associated areas within Kam Ying
Court, 9 Kam Ying Road, Ma On Shan, Sha Tin, New Territories
and a 3-storey commercial centre and an adjoining 5-storey car
park building within Tin Ma Court, 55 Chuk Yuen Road, Wong
Tai Sin, Kowloon, Hong Kong at cash considerations of HK$471
million and HK$308 million, respectively.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 March 2018 by Cushman & Wakefield Limited,
an independent professionally qualified valuer, at
HK$2,039,000,000 (31 March 2017: HK$1,851,000,000)

on market value, existing use basis.

Annual Report 2017-2018

Mat: R-B—ANELA=Z+T—H » REEK
S T S 0 TS B L S 5 B O R 8 9 2t
TN Z — W3 o o T 3 I K DA R
199 0 1] DA % A 9 U B R A AT B 555
R IG A6 W Z — W03 g v 7 5 e ROt 2 — ik
5P v 5 B35 R B > A R B AR 4 B
471,000,000 7€ 5 308,000,000 JC °

W \EZHA=Z+—H » REFMIE
) 3 T 28— P8 Sr B R A B SRR R AT
B w3 6 T BUA i 5 4 T8 A i
2,039,000,0008 I (ZF—LtHE=H=+—
H : 1,851,000,000% %) °



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofE OB OKR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SO 5 3 B

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. e EW¥E ()
Certain of the Group’s investment properties are leased AR TREYEZEREMAMTHE
to third parties under operating leases, further details =F > R 5 WO B R R M
of which are included in note 34(a) to the financial 34(a) °
statements.
At 31 March 2018, the Group’s investment properties WZF-NFE=ZH=Z1—H  REFKE
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,039,000,000 {H 44 %i2,039,000,000% 8 (ZF— LHE=H
(31 March 2017: HK$1,851,000,000) were pledged to =-+—H :1,851,000,000%% jC) W) # &P %
secure certain bank loans and general banking facilities TR > DRI T AL E M E T IRTE
granted to the Group (note 26). K e — R AT b (i RE26) o
Fair value hierarchy AR e K
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement T 2R BN AR AR 4 SR AP E
of the Group’s investment properties using: 7

Fair value measurement
using significant

unobservable inputs

(Level 3)
5 UL R
KA W B i AR
GBE=RK)
2018 2017
“E N | ZE L
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#x
Recurring fair value measurement for: P e N P AR
Office property WA EY#E 174,000 154,000
Retail properties TEYE 1,614,000 1,472,000
Hotel property Y/ ES 251,000 225,000
2,039,000 1,851,000
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FAEEEN > BEEAESE — R IR
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no LS Y YNGR L N AR R (i
transfers into or out of Level 3. o
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31 March 2018

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties

classified as Level 3:

Valuation techniques

A L 452 4l

Office property Income capitalisation

b NELYES method
NN (473
Retail properties Income capitalisation
ey E method
LN E N (#75
Hotel property Income capitalisation
YA ES method
LN E N [#75

—ENEZH=H

15. B EH% (i)
2 VBB K (40
DA R 4350 38 = G -8 6 3 1 48O
B FH B £ 1 2% 2 B 0 A\ B

Significant
unobservable inputs

KA B A

Range (weighted average)

B Bl B - 3 )
2018

—F N\
39

2017

S
Estimated rental value per 37

square foot and per

month (HK$)
i 1 B UL 4

fE B (T)
2.13%

Capitalisation rate 2.00%

EARAL R

5-280 5-300

Estimated rental value per
square foot and per
month (HK$)

st 4 H 8 F 05 WAL &

i (#5T)
3.25% - 5.50%  3.75% - 5.50%

Capitalisation rate

BAAL R

42 40

Estimated rental value per
square foot and per
month (HK$)

it 45 H & °F J5 WA 4

E (#7T)

Capitalisation rate

3.50%
B AL b

4.00%

MREF-NFEZH=1—H > BEW RN

As at 31 March 2018, the valuations of investment
properties were based on the income capitalisation
method by capitalisation of net income derived from the
existing tenancies with allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2018
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in estimated rental value
per square foot in isolation would result in a significantly
higher/(lower) fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation rate in
isolation would result in a significantly lower/(higher) fair
value of the investment properties.

Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value per square foot is accompanied
by a directionally similar change in the fair value of
investment properties and an opposite change in the
capitalisation rate.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included in the “SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES”

section of the annual report.

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEJE=A=1—H
15.

B (H)

AP R R X ()

il it 4 7 5 WA 4 60 i WL K R BT CF
We) EE BB E YA RUE KR LT CF
W) o EAMLEL R BB R LT (R ) &
BHBEWHENFRERE TR (LT -

B A R AP O OB B RUEAE Hh Y
B S By > G P B 1 W 3 A R )
T F) 50 58 T S A AL b A I T 1) e B

A B A SR [ B W S i — B R > R AR
P [ SR 4 o o

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 16. RS BAENBE
2018 2017
RN ZF L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#c F#x
Share of net assets JE Al B & 2E A 8,800 8,614
Notes: Mt -
(a) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information (a) FTEEFAAEBFANFEAGSELENG
of the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: %fﬁjﬁﬁ*‘—l .
2018 2017
it SIS 2 R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x Fi#or
Share of joint ventures’ loss and total JREAYG 5 85 i S A B G 18 % 2 i
comprehensive loss for the year Ji 48 A A 9 18,336
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ARG T A8 A SE B () R T
investments in the joint ventures S HE AR 8,800 8,614

The amounts due to joint ventures included in the Group’s current
liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

45 A0 AR 4 4 3 B P B A A SR
JE TS JEHEAT - S 8 T J ] S R R Y o

(b)
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17. CONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION AND
OTHER CONTRACTS

—FSESHEH
17. RS~ WW B S04 TR 49

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T#x

Gross amount due from customers for JEWE P 2 A %) TR sk A g
contract works* 17,306 315,864

Contract costs incurred plus recognised HRBRAMBL R CHERZ

profits less recognised losses to date it Al B IRE LR R 2 s 4R 157,296 2,175,276
Less: Progress billings V¢ A R R K OE (139,990) (1,859,412)
17,306 315,864

* All of the above gross amount due from customers for contract

works are expected to be recovered within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

U R CE P 2 A R TR AR
RS R AR A8 R .

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 18. R %
2018 2017
R NE| ZF L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x F#or

Carrying amount at beginning of year T AE 1 0 HR THT 42 9 413,456 579,105
Additions WE 5,577 72,540
Transfer to properties held for sale WAFAE L&Y%

(note 19) (Kfat19) - (238,189)
Carrying amount at end of year A A 14 i T 42 419,033 413,456

All the Group’s properties under development are
expected to be completed within normal operating cycle
and recovered after more than twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s properties under
development with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$419,033,000 (31 March 2017: HK$413,456,000) were
pledged to secure certain bank loans and general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 26).
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BRIIASER > 7 R AR - A
HEHB -

W R NE=ZH=Z+—H » AEHIKH
AR A $£419,033,0008 00 (= F—L4E=H
=Z=+—H : 413,456,000 7C) 1Y 3§ g iy ¥
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19. F A4 A 2 W 2k

31 March 2018
19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

20.

2018 2017

SE | CELE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHE T

Carrying amount at beginning of year T AEH) B R THI 4 7 762,025 510,185

Addition B4 3,954 9,651
Reversal for provision of properties MR ENEZ

held for sale (note 6) Wy B (K AE6) - 4,000

Transfer from properties under LR YL ES

development (note 18) (Kfat18) - 238,189
Recognised in property costs A AR BE N AE ) 3

during the year J A H i R (98,753) -

Carrying amount at end of year 4R R R ) 48 A 667,226 762,025

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s properties held for sale
with a carrying amount of HK$246,053,000 (31 March
2017: HK$762,025,000) were pledged to secure certain
bank loans and general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 26).

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of receivables for contract
works and rentals under operating leases. The payment
terms of receivables for contract works are stipulated in
the relevant contracts. Rentals are normally receivable in
advance.

At 31 March 2018, retentions receivable included in
accounts receivable amounted to HK$203,219,000 (31
March 2017: HK$187,249,000), which are repayable

within terms ranging from one to four years.

The Group assigned its financial benefits under certain
contract works and rental arrangements to secure certain
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26). As at 31 March 2018, the aggregate amounts of
accounts receivable related to such contract works and
rental arrangements pledged to secure the relevant
banking facilities amounted to HK$220,143,000 and
HK$2,689,000 (31 March 2017: HK$231,567,000 and
HK$2,674,000), respectively.

20.

N NFE=ZHA=+—H  ALHEH
4 % £5246,053,000 6 (ZF— LE=H
=+—H : 762,025,000 58) 15 A 1 H &
Z P CHI > DIBER T ARE NS T
SRAT B M — B ERAT LA (B k26) o

R o W sk

HE B 47 P 40 T A L O L 2 M
WO © £ 40 TR REWCIOR 2 3 AR AT
Bl 40 P T W) o L B R D R o

W )EZA=Z+—H > BlEXP A
I WE W AR B8 4K 36 203,219,000 70 (—F—+&
FEZH=1—H 187,249,000 L) » H &
SEMIMGR R — BENUERE -

AR A A T A 4 TR R e B
TR 25 W > R ARG R T — AR AT
A (B RE26) Z MMy - R T — N\F=
AZ+—H > ARZSEAHATREMEZH
FAVERRHR > DLEUSA BR SR AT fil i EOIR 3k
K% 4> B %5220,143,0009 5T & 2,689,000 7T

ZE—LHFE=H=+—H :231,567,000%
JG 5% 2,674,000%7C) °
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31 March 2018 ZFE—/EFE=H=4+—H
20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 20. MEBOR K (4)
The following is an ageing analysis of the Group’s IR » ARG Z ERR K R R H B
accounts receivable presented based on the invoice date & Z BB AT T -

at the end of the reporting period:

2018 2017
RN | DL
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T# T
Current to three months B == H 329,494 297,190
Four to six months eSS (T WE] 5,473 19,575
Over six months & 3 N fE A 198,381 149,307
533,348 466,072
The ageing analysis of the accounts receivable that A A1E] 1) 8 £ R R R Vil L ¥ R AR K IR
are not individually nor collectively considered to be SIHTIE ¢
impaired is as follows:
2018 2017
RN DR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#xT
Past due but not impaired: 78 31 48 37 i A -
One to three months past due B 1E3MEA 1,493 35,147
Four to six months past due w4z 6 H 8,736 -
Seven to twelve months past due ATE12M8 A 270 4,343
Over one year past due 760 101 6 9 1 47 8,085 -
18,584 39,490
Neither past due nor impaired U 42 26 HH S JHE Yk {E 514,764 426,582
533,348 466,072
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31 March 2018

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

21.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that have
a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. Except for certain
deposits received and/or bank guarantee amount covered
from corresponding tenants, the Group did not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

Accounts receivable that are neither past due nor
impaired relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEJE=A=1—H

20. MEWCHR 3k (748)

A 391 L SIS 1 Py R WSS K T R A T B
FF o A BLACER [ 22 By WA Sk AT o AR
DRSS » AN ERR R > A5 EA
AR A > DA B AR PR A I K K
5 > HLAGARGE A T A MBIl A B AN B o B
TAELT R A AL B e e SRERATHE PRSP
7S [ SN 8 2 4 A R A A R R
oA FH 3 A% o

IE S 26 S0 7 S k1 Py R A SRk B2 U 2 G
TS PR B > A8 S5 I S0 0 9 R A A B

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 21. HEWCEE K K A B
2018 2017
ZE N | ZFE L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#r
Secured EEE L 106,239 4,515
Unsecured JHE K - 35,079
106,239 39,594

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s loans receivable bear
interest at rates ranging from approximately 4% to 8% per
annum (31 March 2017: 12% to 41% per annum) and are
repayable within one year. The carrying amounts of these
loans receivable approximate to their fair values.

An ageing analysis of the loans and interest receivables
that are not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the payment due date, is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired

W 488 360 391 715 28 Uk

R NEZH=1—H » REHZ EIL
Bk AT BER4%E8% 2 MR (ZF -t
ZA=Z+—H  HE12%E41%) > WRH—4F
A TR o % o M i B AR 2 R T e B A A
HEH A -

TR IR > MR EIAE H T8 5 Z 3 2 7 B
AR T R 2R TR AL 1 B MR Bk B P B 2 R
ot

2018 2017
RN CF L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
106,239 39,594

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relates to borrowers for whom there was no recent history

of default.

IS S 7 91 1 S0 L 1 B Gk 2 A I % SIS
AL R B 8% o
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R 5 0 o TR

22.

23.

31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. AT AR ~ 354 B T il M WOk
RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
ZE-NE| 2L
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T # F# T
Prepayments TE A R TEH 16,345 11,771
Deposits and other receivables ¥ 4 B 3 At JE Wk 169,041 19,269
185,386 31,040
Non-current portion F I ) & 43 (114,741) -
Current portion B 70,645 31,040

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of

default.

ot ¥ R AR 2 YT A S A o bt A A T
3% 114 < S T T I S 8 20 9 R A8 gk v R
Woskom -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23. B RBEFMHY
2018 2017
ZE-NE| ZF-LH
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# T T

Cash and cash equivalents: BReE kB &%EEY -

Cash and bank balances Bl B SRAT & 1,210,671 1,236,682
Non-pledged time deposits KA 2 A K 270,000 -
1,480,671 1,236,682

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and twelve
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances and non-pledged
time deposits are deposited with banks with high credit
ratings and no recent history of default.
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31 March 2018

24. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

25.

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEJE=A=1—H

24. MEAY MK
TS IR > MR EE ST T 43 2 HE A IR K

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as B MR A AT IR F ¢
follows:

2018 2017
Sy C I
HKS$’000 HK$’000
TF#x T
Current to three months BP9 348 H 193,985 248,976
Four to six months 42 6ff A 20,916 24,410
Over six months HaEofE H 229,465 216,105
444,366 489,491

At 31 March 2018, retentions payable included in
accounts payable amounted to HK$197,699,000 (31
March 2017: HK$172,933,000), which are normally

settled within terms ranging from one to four years.

Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing. The payment
terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

W \E=ZA=Z+—H » EAEXP A
1% WA P B8 3K 3H 197,699,0008 0 (& — L
E=H=+—H :172,933,00085T) > —
TR B — U4 o

MR IR A2 SR8 o R BEARIAT B A 20
AT -

25. J0fib ME A K B TUE e M

2018 2017

RN L8

HKS$’000 HK$’000

T# T

Other payables il B A 3K 134,916 52,092
Accruals THREH 1,998 1,455
136,914 53,547

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected
to be settled within one year.

JC At A R 2 St FULE, > M T A — 4 9 i
ﬁ o
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 26. wt B 847 8K
2018 2017
RN BB
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# F#or
Current b U]
Bank loans — secured and at floating AT R — AW &
interest rates e A R AR 237,285 319,838
Long term bank loans repayable on JiE B SR AE R 1R SR AT Bk
demand — secured and at floating interest  — 7 HLHH S %% B Fl K
rates (note) wE RS (M EE) 1,142,876 1,361,652
1,380,161 1,681,490
Analysed into: AW
Bank loans repayable: SATE R - EEHWM T -
Within one year or on demand (note) — AR Y B R BRI R
(Ktit) 1,380,161 1,681,490
Note: As further explained in note 38 to the financial statements, Bt : B B R M R38N A A — b R > AR

the Group’s term loans with an aggregate amount of
HK$1,142,876,000 (31 March 2017: HK$1,361,652,000)
containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current
liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loans are
included within current interest-bearing bank loans and analysed
into bank loans repayable within one year or on demand.

Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts repayable in
respect of the loans are:

45 [ 44 % #51,142,876,0008 6 (—F— &
EZH=Z+—H :1,361,652,000%55) 1Y
W Bk R T 2 R B s AR %) ©
AR BREAE - B Bl > &
AR B R RIT RN » 0 A
— A DY B B R A R Y BRAT Rk o

AR S0k G BT K -  E k E 2

2018 2017

BN\ e S S

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#70 T

Within one year or on demand —4E Y BRI R 237,285 319,838
In the second year BAER 92,414 262,700
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEERHAEN (BB ERMEAE) 989,791 997,362
Beyond five years HAEY - 60,671 101,590
1,380,161 1,681,490
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31 March 2018

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS
(continued)
The interest rates of the Group’s bank loans are primarily
repriced every month based on the prime rate or HIBOR
changes.

The Group’s secured bank loans and/or banking facilities
are secured by:

(i)

(ii)

legal charges over the Group’s investment properties,
which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end

of the reporting period of HK$2,039,000,000 (31
March 2017: HK$1,851,000,000);

legal charges over the Group’s land and buildings,
which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of HK$85,354,000 (31 March
2017: HK$127,586,000);

(iii) legal charges over the Group’s properties held

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

for development, which had an aggregate
carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of HK$146,877,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$324,340,000);

legal charges over the Group’s properties
under development, which had an aggregate
carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of HK$419,033,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$413,456,000);

legal charges over the Group’s properties held for
sale, which had a carrying amount at the end of
the reporting period of HK$246,053,000 (31 March
2017: HK$762,025,000); and

the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits
under certain contract works and rental arrangements
with accounts receivable related to such contract
works and rental arrangements amounted to
HK$220,143,000 and HK$2,689,000 (31 March
2017: HK$231,567,000 and HK$2,674,000),

respectively.

The Group’s bank loans are denominated in Hong Kong

dollars.

ZEJE=A=1—H

VR 5 0 o TR i

26. w2 85T £k (A7)

A5 I SRAT SR A R 3% S AR Bt e B AR
A W SR AT IR SE AR S ) A R

18 -

ACEE T 2 AT HEA BRAT BRI B SR AT Rl DA
THEE R

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(v)

AN S5 ] B B W 2 D R
39 K > H 48 AR T & %52,039,000,000
WL (mE—LE=ZA=Z+—H:
1,851,000,000%7¢) 3

A A T A R M g 0 A D o R
e R » 48 R i (A % 85,354,000
WwrT(ZZ—-t#£=A=Z+—H:
127,586,000# ) 3

AKEBAREEBRZIYENLE
146,877,000 t (ZF — L4 =H
=+—H :324,340,000#J0) 3

AR B R e R R
e R > 4 IR i E 25419,033,000
WL (—F—bLE=ZH=+—H:
413,456,000 T) 5

AEE T R AR 2
AL o 7 R 5 T R HR T E £5246,053,000
Wit (ZZ—-LtHE=A=Z+—H:
762,025,000 78) 5 &

MEREFNLE TAHTRERIMER
PR 2 > BRZSEAA TRERM
5 22 Bk 1Y JRE W HR 3k 43 7l £5220,143,000
Wt ) 2,689,000 0 (Z&F—L4E=H
=+—H :231,567,000% ¢ % 2,674,000
Wot) °

A4 [ 1 SR AT Bk DA W T B BLAL o
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H

27. DEFERRED TAX 217.

The components of net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
with the net balance recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during
the year are as follows:

IE %iE B

TR A JBE P9 A 3 B 2 1R O 3 o e ) R A
BLIH (& ) /853 BUAL IR 1 B i3 45 iR

DRA BT

Depreciation ~ Losses available
allowance in for offsetting Deductible
excess of related against future temporary
depreciation taxable profits differences Total
ikl WHEH R K
LB HERRBERE A G
il B Z K #i iF3 i
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T#x T# T#x TH#x
At 1 April 2016 RZF—=AENA—H 7,039 (4,317) (545) 2,171
Deferred tax charged/ (credited) R4EFERHA,/ (GIA)
to profit or loss during the year 2 #E &L B
(note 10) (HfiE10) 2,619 (1,331) 319 1,607
At 31 March 2017 and S v Y
1 April 2017 Z+—HE
“F-tLENA—H 9,658 (5,648) (226) 3,784
Deferred tax charged to profit or 4B M 11 B R £5 1
loss during the year (note 10) ERERLIE (M 7E10) 1,403 1,287 226 2,916
At 31 March 2018 =% )\
=A=Z1+—H 11,061 (4,361) - 6,700
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=1+—H

27. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting
purposes:

27. EHEBL I (A)

T BV > AR IR IE A i B AR AR
BMBERINENCR LA o DLT AL
V) 20 A0 G YE 4% % % B B R B 1 W 4
Bro:

2018 2017
R CA Ry
HK$’000 HK$’000
L | THE
Net deferred tax assets recognised in 1 55 A B IR DL R 9 e w2 Y
the consolidated statement of AR HE I A
financial position 3,678 5,203
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised TE 55 A W 5 IR DL R 9 e w2 1Y
in the consolidated statement of AR 3 B I A AR A
financial position (10,378) (8,987)
(6,700) (3,784)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$93,417,000 (31 March 2017: HK$83,951,000).
Subject to the final assessment of the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, these tax losses are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of HK$26,431,000
(31 March 2017: HK$34,231,000) of such losses. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
remaining amount of HK$66,986,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$49,720,000) as it is not considered probable that
there would be sufficient future taxable profits to utilise
such amount.

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability for taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the
Group’s subsidiaries or joint ventures as the Group has
no liability to additional tax should such amounts be
remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

A 4 [ AE W A 2R 2 B S 1 593,417,000
WK (ZF—LtHE=A=1—H : 83,951,000
Wot) o EBBERBRETRZ > ISR
BER R E BRI AR Z
AR 2 HE SR 9 A o % 45 s 126,431,000
TE(ZFE—LEZH=+—H :34,231,000%
JG) OB B B TE B R o R R A AR K]
A AR 2 A JE S JE B T DA HK B AR > Wk
W AR 7K 66,986,0009 78 (—F—-L4EZNH
=+—H : 49,720,000 5T ) T 58 1% 2 HLIH &
% °

PR NERZF-EE=ZH=1H
AR T PO A ) A R T SR
T8 AR A o A AR 0 R R AR Tl 2 S A JEL £
it > PR 43002 S5 ) A S iy B0 A 43 e 7
AN BLIH FLAR -

A ] i L B SR S A e B A i A BT AR AR
R

o
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31 March 2018

ZEJE=A=1—H

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. AR
Shares I By
2018 2017
ZE-NE| ZFE L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T #r
Authorised: BB BA
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 8 % JB 1hi {&
of HK$0.025 each 0.025% 0 Z % 18 %t 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CEAT R R B AR
1,682,966,400 ordinary shares of 1,682,966,400 (—F— L4 =H
HK$0.025 each (31 March 2017: =+—H :1,761,664,4008¢)
1,761,664,400 ordinary shares) A B I E0.0259 76 2 3% 78 B 42,074 44,042

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued

ordinary share capital is as follows:

AN F CBAT A S B REREIE

Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
CEAT B oA B B3
W ¥ H JBe A e 5 M ot
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
/i ¥ T ¥
At 1 April 2016 RF—NENA—H 1,746,664,400 43,667 332,983 376,650
Share options exercised O 47 5 P P M (a) 15,000,000 375 7,515 7,890
Transfer from share I B fo¥ i o A\
option reserve (b) - - 1,932 1,932
At 31 March 2017 and N _F— L4
1 April 2017 ZA=Z+—HH
—“F—tEWNH—H 1,761,664,400 44,042 342,430 386,472
Shares repurchased and ~ Jif§ [1] J 5 8% Bt 4
cancelled (c) (78,878,000) (1,972) (89,269) (91,241)
Share options exercised O A7 i e 1 (a) 180,000 4 90 94
Transfer from share BB i A
option reserve (b) - - 23 23
At 31 March 2018 A% 4
=H=+—H 1,682,966,400 42,074 253,274 295,348
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31 March 2018
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a) The subscription rights attaching to 180,000 share options (2017:

15,000,000 share options) were exercised at the subscription prices
of HK$0.526 per share, resulting in the issue of 180,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.025 each (2017: 15,000,000 ordinary shares) for
a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$94,000 (2017: HK$7,890,000) during the year.

An amount of HK$23,000 (2017: HK$1,932,000) was transferred
from the “Share option reserve” to the “Share premium” account
upon the exercise of the share options during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company repurchased
a total of 78,878,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$91,241,000
(including direct expenses of approximately HK$466,000) (2017:
nil). All of these repurchased shares were cancelled during the
year.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are
included in note 29 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 7 September
2011, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the existing share option scheme (the
“2002 Scheme”) and the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “2011 Scheme”) (collectively, known as
the “Schemes”). As a result, the Company can no longer
grant any further options under the 2002 Scheme.
However, all options granted prior to the termination
of the 2002 Scheme will remain in full force and effect.
Unless otherwise terminated or amended, the 2011
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
adoption.

The purpose of the 2011 Scheme is to provide incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the 2011 Scheme include full-time employees, including
any executive and non-executive directors of the Group.
The 2011 Scheme became effective on 7 September 2011
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

29.

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEJE=A=1—H
28.

JBe A (%)
Wi -

A4 B o B 180,0004 B B HE (&
—-L4F 1 15,000,000 5 BEHE) b2 S RE
1 B 80,5269 J0 1 58 I (B AT 06 > P %
£7180,0008% (—Z—-L4E : 15,000,000 ) &
JE T B 50,0259 I W35 3 I e 4y > A il B
JH A 58 B 4 IRAE 49 594,000 78 (R — &
4R 1 7,890,000 78) o

(a)

JA A A B PO R D TR A AT B B o 4
23,0009 00 (=& —-L4F : 1,932,000870) &
T A 0 R 9 2 A i R

WERER - )E=ZA=Z+—HILEER >
A2\ ] i 18] A 378,878,000 A 2 ] ¥ 3E
W o A B AR A 91,241,000 70 (L HEH
2 B X #1466,000978) (=R —L4E « fK) -
FIT A W% 5 W T JBE A O 8 A 4 JBE 9 i 41 o

ik B HiE
A i Ji P AR T ) A LA B S
29 -

Yl JB it 20

MR T — A L H B W
e > AN T JB A e A Ik B AT I PR T
(T=FF AR EHE 1) B4R 49587 M B0 A st 1
(T=F— 458 ]) (WA at#]) -
B> ARA T RS R A #RT
LA — 35 S SRR SR » AR AC L —FF
AEHE TP T R PR RS R R 2
B BARR » % ——4E 58 A R4 H R
1042 WA B > BRIk 3 Mk sl i ke

"R ERHEIZ BB B ACHE R
BAeEZRIEHERZ GEMZH]ER TN
HEAIAEH) » % — 4Gt Z A ER 2 0E
BEAEEZ 2R E > SFEEMRT R
S - 2 H5HER ZF 4N
HEHAER By A P RE S B w4 > %
AEEDIF B % H R AR A A 1048 o
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31 March 2018 ZF—/NFE=H=—1+—H
29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the 2011 Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as
at the date when the 2011 Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company in a general meeting. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the 2011 Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, officer or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors. In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors and ends on a date which is
not later than 10 years from the date of offer of the share
options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors, but should not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in The Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
The Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company.

Annual Report 2017-2018

29. Jk B Al (%)

Mg R — 458 B o A F R 2 RATHE
BERERES B Z B ey 85 B >y — SR &
A B SRR AR A ) R b R ——
AEGHEZ H A A R AT B0 B E10% Z 3K
B o FEAEAT T+ AR A 390 P9 AR 0 I B R > T
AR B EAL A B2 E R
TP EEAT RN Z 5w A B s DAAR A W] R
AWz AT AR 1% % B o AT ] P — 2B
352 H 0 3 a2 i PO A 2 A I SO I RO
& LAtk -

BPARAFESE - R TBAN BB ER R
B B4 B AT T N 2 B RE s
F R L I AT I AL o UL 5 FEAT A
et DE R 11 P R R O NS [ o Y
VBT EFEMESEZEMBFEALZ
AT il B BE > I A A B R e B BEAT A
0.1%2k 454 48 155,000,000% 7C (M 8 A< 2 7]
W H 2 B RN & JHE SRR
B Ak o

2 H 2 M bl TR 4 H SR Y H A
BB A > MR N MG &
P o 43 H 2 i JBEHE 2 A7 0 0 ] 28l 2 o
RE > M %9 ] 0k FR o AN AR M A
i H AR 5 104F -

Vi T AT O RO o MR R
PI=F Z i+ (1) A2 BB I 1B e 32
H 97 6 A2 P 4 S AR A O 31 2 T
(i) A 23 W) Je o 5% e 932 thy F 90 i 18 22 5 H
TP Y6 A2 o P e 2 P 3 W R 5 R (i) AR A T
JBe A7 T i
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29. Jk B Al (%)
S Fe ARSI 20 R A SRR R BB RO

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the

g EREZHER -

MR ARG > A BB AT LR S i

2011 Scheme during the year: JEHEI T -
2018 2017
e 2% R4
Exercise Number Exercise Number
price of options price of options
A B S It HE
A7 148 ¥ H AT ¥ H
HKS$ ’000 HK$ 000
per share per share
(787 37n Tt B¢ 7 T T
At beginning of year AR 0.526 10,620 0.526 25,620
Exercised during the year 4 & 7 0.526 (180) 0.526 (15,000)
Lapsed during the year AR N R 0.526 (240) 0.526 -
At end of year AR 0.526 10,200 0.526 10,620
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 29. Jik I8 HE it (4E)
TP B o T AR AT R M Y AT O AR B AT
FERIIE

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

2018
it 2GS
Number of options Exercise price*
ik DB HE 3 H A7
’000 HK$
per share
T AR
10,200 0.526
2017
R b
Number of options Exercise price*
S Je i 9 H A feg
'000 HK$
per share
T AT
10,620 0.526

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
10,200,000 outstanding share options (31 March 2017:
10,620,000) under the 2011 Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
10,200,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of HK$255,000 and share
premium of HK$5,110,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 10,200,000 share options outstanding
under the 2011 Scheme, which represented approximately
0.61% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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*

Exercise period

A7

10 March 2016 to

9 September 2020
ZR2-NEEHATHE
R RELANH

Exercise period

AT

10 March 2016 to

9 September 2020
“E-NEZATHE
ZRIREJUALE

WRA BB AL B B AT > B AR A | A5

A A JSTOLSE Bl > i PR MR P 4T 0 AT T 20
TTiE -

P BIAR » ZR——4EF B T AR F BT
A A 1 B BE %5 10,200,0000 (2 — L 4¢
=H=4+—H :10,620,0004) o FHAA 7]
BB AKEME > AT AR A B 5 A
A7 > A% 24 W) 1% 3% 4710,200,000/8 % Ah % 38
JB > 34 hm B A< #5255,0008 7T A0 B A 1 18 2
5,110,000 70 (RABREEITEH) -

PSS EREZH > R ——45
BT A 2 T B AT A8 A Y B RE 3£ 10,200,000
By s B0k AN ) B B EEAT AR BH0.61% o
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30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a) Contributed surplus

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the
excess of the nominal value of the shares and the
share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company’s shares, over the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.

(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
amounts of net consideration and the carrying values
of non-controlling interests acquired or disposed of.

(c) Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of
share options vested which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy of
share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to
the share premium account when the related share
options are exercised, or transferred to retained
profits should the related share options lapse or be
forfeited.

30. fl

AR [T AR 47 B T ATl 4 B2 2 ok A K o ok
5% B O 2 PR AR A R AR S B -

(a) BAAZBR
AEE Z BB TR AR A 7 By b
TR 5 A 4 [ A O = PR A R 2
T A7 Ve AL % P A i 1 VU AR 008 A AR MR
i S 2 i) 2 IR0 T B8 AT 2 A 2 ) JBe Ay T
E ) #B 43 o

(b) ¥ A ff

B Al 4 T A ) e 4 o P 2
P A 0 L R 2 ] ) 2

(c) Dk DB it ik 5
S P AR ft A P B~ G AR AT P D
HEZ PRI IR - S AR S 785 A i
RE2. 4% VLB A s B W B4 S A & BUR
R AFERE o A R SRR AT B AR > A A
R < R A P i (RG> 3 I
B SR Ak i 8 AR > DR B HR A
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31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 31. A7 TR J 5 A 2 0 3 23 B AT B
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING J& 2 vl
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non- A R I e i kR A Y A AR [ R R A D R
controlling interests are set out below: g I F
2018 2017
RN | DR b
Percentage of equity interest held by e e il 4k WE 25 R A IR AR
non-controlling interests: REZEH AL -
Able Engineering AR Y B 25% 25%
2018 2017
RN DR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T#xT
Profit for the period allocated to non- 43 W 22 422 ) 1k RE 25
controlling interests: A [ i )
Able Engineering LRI I 43,743 11,978
Accumulated balances of non-controlling ¥t H ] I ¥ i P # 25 1
interests at the reporting date: BEt AR -
Able Engineering TR YE R 294,286 250,543
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31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised
consolidated financial information of the above

31. A7 TR J i A 2 0 3 23 B AT B
J& 2 ) (%)

AR b R 4 ) B A B R
BE o Bt 49 8 3 2 R w2 ) [ 36 8 A 4

subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- o
company eliminations:
Able Engineering TR PE B
Period from
Year ended 20 February
31 March to 31 March
2018 2017
BE e S
RN ZAZTHRZE
“A=+—H| ZA=Z+—H
14 M
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x T#r
Revenue KA 3,112,264 276,581
Other income and gains F A e A T e 25 4,793 133
Total expenses PH 3 4% (2,942,086) (228,802)
Profit and total comprehensive A PR A S 2 2
income for the period/year ookl 174,971 47912
Current assets WHE E 1,761,665 1,560,050
Non-current assets FERBEE 125,801 14,248
Current liabilities i By 1 £ (710,280) (571,855)
Non-current liabilities FE B A R (43) (271)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mmEHESY (HH) K
operating activities ReRegs 618,432 (288,233)
Net cash flows used in investing activities P& SEH T i B A & (114,358) (2,343)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBEHRANEERERH (50,769) (62,046)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeRBESHY
and cash equivalents ¥/ (WA 5 453,305 (352,622)

2017-20185EH &
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31 March 2018

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Deemed partial disposal of subsidiaries

In February 2017, the Group successfully spun off
its business of contract works through a separate
listing of its then wholly-owned subsidiary, Able
Engineering, on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange (the “Able Spin-Off”). The Able Spin-
Off involved the offering of 500 million shares
of HK$0.01 each by Able Engineering at an offer
price of HK$1.1 per share to the public (the “Able
Offering”), which raised a total net cash proceeds
of HK$538,534,000 (after deduction of capitalised
expenses) by Able Engineering. Immediately
following the completion of the Able Spin-Off, the
Group’s equity interest in Able Engineering was
diluted from 100% to 75% and thus the Able Spin-
Off is considered as a deemed partial disposal of
Able Engineering by the Group. Since the deemed
partial disposal of Able Engineering did not result in
any loss on control, such transaction was accounted

ZEJE=A=1—H

32. SR 4T Bl AU B Wk

(a)

BUARE s 85 B )R 2 )3 2 HE 2%

WoB—UEZH » REMBEREHLE
I 114 2 Y DB 2 ) 2 R e e A T A2 BT
AR PR B > R AT
REZ ST LW (TRBESHF LA -
BRSO B R
LG BEENARALELHEE
500,000,000 % 4 i i 1E.0.01 35 7T i) St 4y
(TZREHBEE] > RREREET
B4 B A3 K 4R i A A 36538,534,0009 70
(BaprOEAILER) - REBEZRS
Yo Bl SERLAR > A [ 2 AR b B 1 I
AHERE T 100% WM % 75% » I » 2R
A5 b B RAE AR A ] B e AR B
SrHERS o B BIAE H B 2 DR 3 P 4
M BRI > B s FRIR
GVE R IERERS M5 » RARBER BB
JIF A5k T B2 A 5 R P9 25 % ME 25 R MR T
B8 2 [ 9 258145 299,969,000 76 » B

for as an equity transaction and the excess over T W 2 AR AR T R At AR
the proceeds from the Able Offering and the 25%
carrying value of Able Engineering amounted to
HK$299,969,000 was recognised in capital reserve of
the Group.
Change in liability arising from financing activities (b) B ol o % ) s Ak W £ 5 )
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
w87 Rk
HK$’000
T#T
At 1 April 2017 BoF-LENA—H 1,681,490
Changes from financing cash flows il B 4 i B A A Y S ) (301,329)
At 31 March 2018 B NE=ZH=+—H 1,380,161
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31 March 2018

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) At 31 March 2018, the guarantees given by the

Group to certain banks in respect of performance
bonds in favour of certain contract works customers

amounted to HK$179,443,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$291,836,000).

(b) Claims

(i)

(ii)

Personal injuries

In the ordinary course of the Group’s
construction business, the Group has been
subject to a number of claims due to personal
injuries suffered by employees of the Group or
the Group’s sub-contractors in accidents arising
out of and in the course of their employment.
The directors are of the opinion that such claims
are well covered by insurance and would not
result in any material adverse impact on the
financial position or results and operations of
the Group.

Sub-contractors’ claims

In the ordinary course of the Group’s
construction business, the Group has been
subject to various claims from sub-contractors
from time to time. Provision would be made for
claims when the management assessed and can
reasonably estimate the probable outcome of the
claims. No provision would be made for claims
when the claims cannot be reasonably estimated
or management believes that the probability of
loss is remote.

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEJE=A=1—H

33. AR
(a) RZFB—NFE=ZHA=+—H  KEHER
BTYTEHNTREPZBAMRBNGETHE
TSR AT 1 35 IR 5 8501 79,443,0009 7T (=
F—-LFE=H=1+—H :291,836,000%

JG) °

# Mg

(i) A&
TEASE B 2 H W s S
AT AR A G o I T 2 R
X1 5% {391 1] 280 488 T B DA 52 485 1 1k
AL R o HF R R A B R
ARBEZ 2R > HOH B R A
7 3 A 55 1 2 B IR P ek S A
AR SR A Ao B K L TR o

(ii) #H B 1

EARBEEZ HE BB
SFITARE R AREE R AR
1 o A B AE W AT 3 A A B,
FHRE T REA SN > AFTEHIR R K
AR o SR ELAL SR A AR
S B AH 5 R R T RE AR A »
AR G R R L% -
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 34. BB X

(a) As lessor

(a) fEkhALA

The Group leases its investment properties (note
15) under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from one to six years.
The terms of the leases generally also require the
tenants to pay rental deposits or arrange guarantee
from bank.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
total future minimum lease receivables under non-

ACHR B AR R AR A I PR L R
F(MaES) -PIEZHEN S —F 5
ANAE o FLE MK — AL LR ZH SO A AL
BRERLIRITHER -

TR IR > AR AR 4t R R AN 5%
A AR T S A AL T B 2 H AR

cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling WO AR A SR A HII T -
due as follows:
2018 2017
S| b
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#or
Within one year —4E N 40,325 56,395
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BB HAE
(BIEERWAE) 56,771 65,377
After five years TLARAR - 1,362
97,096 123,134
(b) As lessee (b) FEZR7RBLA

The Group leases certain of its office properties
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one
to six years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

AR AR 4 A L B PR T
K3k o MW E Z MNP
R VA

TR IR > AR AR A T B A
R i B AT 2 02 A e L sk A
wE

2018 2017

ZR N ZF LS

HK$’000 HK$’000

T #C F# T

Within one year —4EN 501 3,194
In the second to fifth years, inclusive BB TR

(BHEH R4 3 424

504 3,618
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 34(b) above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

35. ¥ ARk

B b SCBR E34(b) sk At B 288 AL B G A »

T A IR > ACSR B LR A R G

2018 2017
RN DR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T# T
Expenditure for development or MU THECEAER
redevelopment projects, contracted, BB RN ERE
but not provided for, in respect of: JHHZB X

Properties under development By 57,168 8,079
Investment properties wEYE 1,960 2,707
Property, plant and equipment LEE 1Y & 556,740 -
615,868 10,786

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had
the following transactions with related parties during

the year:

Rental income from Lanon
Development Limited

(“Lanon Development”)

36. WA TR 5

(a) BRI A B AR JE A 0D BT bt 2 5%
B2 5y Be AR AN o AR A AR BE A o

BT AT T RIS
2018 2017
2N | B L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T
e RARA
(MR l) ez
e A 2,232 2,208

Mr. Ngai Wing Yin, the son of Mr. Ngai, who is the
chairman of the board of directors of the Company
and a controlling shareholder of the Company, has
a controlling interest in Lanon Development. The
rental income was determined with reference to
the rate of other similar premises and comparable

transactions.

Ay ) A L S A ] 5 B R
o2 1 5L 7 BURUAR S e i SR A 5 e v e
Frehl s o HMBERATIR S A

ANy S B AV A2 By 1 L 4 T A A
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37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

R 5 0 o TR

31 March 2018
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

ZEJE=A=1—H

36. BT RS (H)

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) RS B4 ELA B 0l A
Group
2018 2017
RN | ZF L
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x F#x
Short term employee benefits LR B R A 11,685 69,578
Post-employment benefits Al i 1% @ ) 108 72
Total compensation paid to key M TEEEHEANED
management personnel kL=t 11,793 69,650

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included

in note 8 to the financial statements.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, amount due from
a joint venture, loans and interest receivables, other
receivables and deposits, accounts payable, other payables
and accruals, amounts due to joint ventures and current
portion of interest-bearing bank loans approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term

maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are

included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include
interest-bearing bank loans, accounts and other
receivables, loans and interest receivables, accounts and
other payables and bank balances and time deposits.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes to the financial statements.

The Group’s ordinary activities expose it to various
financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The risks associated with financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. Management monitors closely
the Group’s exposures to financial risks to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

At 31 March 2018, it is estimated that an increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease/increase
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
HK$2,881,000 (2017: HK$3,510,000), arising as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on the Group’s floating-
rate borrowings. There would be no impact on other
components of the Group’s equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period. For the purposes of
the analysis, it is assumed that the amount of variable-
rate borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding throughout the whole year. The
25 basis point increase or decrease represents management
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the reporting date of the next
financial year. The analysis was performed on the same
basis for the year ended 31 March 2017.

38. W 5 M B 4 P H B R BOR

ACSR Y A Rl TR B RAT R
JFE M ik e Al FRE WAk~ B W B sk S LS,
JREASE Mk o A A3k > DA B SRAT &5 B B R
WIA7K o A7 B % 55 S Bl TR AR > A28
e A B P P R o

2K 45 [ 1 2 3% B 0 2 7 i 3 2 R T
B o 45 ) RO B~ 5 R R B R B R
B o A < i LA B DA B o IR % S
JE I PR IBSRE o AT SO A o AR L R
AR [ o T Sk 1 A 5 L > DL RO R
28 £R U 45 o

RSN
A5 0 i v 34 R 355 ) 5 5 ) g e g 1 22
A7 TR A 4 I B A D ) R A BAT:

HE— ) EEZH =1 —H > s AR
Wam WA 25 B s A AR R R
A > RI) H R A A 1) ¥ 58l R SRR R A R R B 2
Wam, WA s AR S G R AR R A % R B R
R 1 02,881,000% 76 (& —L4E ¢
3,510,0009 76 ) o A 45 [H HE 25 (14 L Ath 40 B 35
AT ZF R o

ot R B A % AR R R R A B R 4
R o RIEAT AT > BB HCE HIR MR
A3 27 BBl A0 A k< L 2 4 T 3 R A
B o SR SR B B A R A R E T
—fFl B B4 R ik 9 2 S0 ] P B T
BEEFHE c RE-F-LE=A=Z+—H
k4 B 8 DA ] 56 e 47 3 A -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances and time deposits, loans and interest receivables,
accounts and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
credit risk exposure at 31 March 2018 in the event
of other parties failing to perform their obligations is
represented by the carrying amount of the financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis.
The Group’s accounts receivable from contract works
represent interim payments or retentions certified by
the customers under terms as stipulated in the contracts
and the Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables. As the Group’s customers in respect
of contract works primarily consist of government
departments and developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the
risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract works is
not significant. In respect of rentals receivable, to limit
the credit risk exposure, deposits are required from each
tenant upon inception of the leases and monthly rentals
are received in advance. Payments from each tenant are
monitored and collectability is reviewed closely.

In respect of loans and interest receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all borrowers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the borrowers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the borrowers. Certain
of these loans and interest receivables are secured by the
properties owned by respective borrowers.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had certain concentrations
of credit risk as 68% (31 March 2017: 48%) and 81% (31
March 2017: 76%) of the total accounts receivable and
loans and interest receivables were due from the Group’s
largest external customer and the Group’s five largest
external customers, respectively, within the contract
works segment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts, loans and
other receivables are disclosed in notes 20, 21 and 22,
respectively, to the financial statements.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term. In addition, banking facilities have been
put in place for contingency purposes.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date that the Group could be required to

repay:

38. Sk 5 bl b 4% B H B B R (AR

L ) ¥ 4 B

75 0 0 R R R B B I X TR i )
G B > DAHEDRIL M5 2 4 BL B S Sk A
T B TR R A R > DL
2 L T R T o Jehh > A
RM I ORI RITREE B > DA RFZ T

T ARFE S AR SR [ <l £ TR 2 0 AR R
BRA A - TRIAMBAARITEB SRR
(B 5 DA &0 0 3 ol o Jagg ¥ 38l ) % > RO Y
At 190 Y 388 A R SRS R R A A T B
B > %5 A b AR T AR AR SR I8 T B 2R A K
A d L H B 38

Within one In the In the
year or on second  third to fifth Beyond
demand year years five years Total
—~4E W B=%
HRIER BAEW BHEN TNk HH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#r T#x T#L T#r T#x
At 31 March 2018 REF-NEZA=ZF—H
Interest-bearing bank loans (note) il BSRAT sk (Wit 1,410,695 - - - 1,410,695
Accounts payable (note 24) TRk (Wit 2g) 320,505 16,553 105,308 - 444,366
Accruals of costs for contract works TR A4 TR HA 224,360 - - - 224,360
Other payables (note 25) JABIER 3k (At 25) 134,916 - - - 134,916
Amounts due to joint ventures TEr &8 B3R
(note 16(b) (Witis) 8,114 - - - 8,114
2,100,590 16,553 105,308 - 2,222,451
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. IV b 4 P H OBE R oK ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) Uit By 4 L B (7))
Within one In the In the
year or on second third to fifth Beyond
demand year years five years Total
—HR B=%
HHEK B AR BIER AN i
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
T#r T#r T#r T#T T
At 31 March 2017 BR_Z—-tEZA=+—H
Interest-bearing bank loans (note) SRBTEHR M) 1,709,645 - - - 1,709,645
Accounts payable (note 24) WEAH G (M 7k24) 418 482 15,661 55,348 - 489,491
Accruals of costs for contract works T A H) TRUBA 155 - - - 155
Other payables (note 25) WA RER 3 (H725) 52,092 - - - 52,092
Amounts due to joint ventures TEr &8 3R
(note 16(b)) (Witis) 7919 - - - 7919
2,188,393 15,661 55,348 - 2,259,402
Note: Included in interest-bearing bank loans are certain term loans Mat: SHEMAITRRBEA TEHERBHUE

in an aggregate amount of HK$1,380,161,000 (31 March 2017:
HK$1,575,221,000). The loan agreements of these term loans
contain a repayment on demand clause giving the bank the
unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and therefore,
for the purposes of the above maturity profile, the total amount is
classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that the related loans will be called in their entirety within
12 months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the
terms of the loans, the contractual undiscounted payments are as
follows:

3£1,380,161,0008 76 (ZF — L4E=H
=+—H :1,575,221,000% 5C) - %% &
OB K 0 K o I SR B R A R AR
Ko BT SRAT AR RE R > VT BE R A
o B > Bt BB ARV E A
SR TIRER] -

WA LAk > EHME > A B RO
AERI2RA N 2HA B > WHERR > f
I A B AR 4 R K B i P T SR 3 3
HAGE o REA T35 B2« ACSE 0 i I 5 it
AL W W BHRDL - ARG A
BRI - MR T I o DU
IR 38 T A S T B 0Tk O o AR R B Y A6
Ko BHRIRITBA W :

2018 2017

—RB— )\ E S s

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#x T#T

Within one year or on demand — AR N R R 266,376 346,984
In the second year AR 116,732 284,492
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEERLEN (B EREE) 1,012,531 1,032,086
Beyond five years HAEDL B 65,248 108,189
1,460,887 1,771,751
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance
the Group’s overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the raising of new debts and repayment of
existing debts.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio
derived from the consolidated statement of financial
position. Net debt includes total interest-bearing
bank loans less cash and bank balances derived from
the consolidated statement of financial position. The

following table analyses the Group’s capital structure as at
31 March:

38. Sk 5 bl b 4% B H B B R (AR

wan

AR A BLBOR I B AR > RUER
A A T B PR AR i o A A P > dE R
ACHR BB Fr AR > ) IR A A 94 T SR [
*& o

A2 T Y S AR AR o AR W
57 DL B PR B B 5 U S A R ) B A
Hy FoRR it 0 — BB Ay o N2 B AT B Ay A
e 58 4 39 (0 e BB R BT (RS A 1 A AR 4 [
R AL o

SR AL B 2 B A £ B IR DR M R
AR BT E o FEE S AN
£ B 5 IR DU W B SR AT LK AR IR B 4 e
BATHEE - TRAAZHPR=ZA=+—HM
BAZLME Z ST

2018 2017
—R®—-NE| L8
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T ¥
Total interest-bearing bank loans (note 26) #8& & $_-1T &K (M 7#26) 1,380,161 1,681,490
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 23) % : Bl & KRB EEEY
(HfiE23) (1,480,671)]  (1,236,682)
Net borrowings/(Net cash and FER (B4 T
bank balances) R EH) (100,510) 444,808
Equity attributable to owners of the parent /4 &) 55 & WAL HE 25 3,464,114 3,180,048
Net gearing ratio AR AR L R N/AA %6 14%
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39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 8 January 2018 and 9 February 2018, an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company had
entered into provisional agreements with various
independent third-party property owners (the “Man
Shung Vendors”) to acquire 25/26 shares in total of
the Man Shung Industrial Building located in Kwun
Tong at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$619 million. As at 31 March 2018, prepayments
and deposits amounted to approximately HK$114
million in total were paid to the Man Shung
Vendors. The acquisition constituted a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of
the Listing Rules and was completed on 12 April
2018. Details of the transactions are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 28 March 2018.

On 24 April 2018, Lands Tribunal issued its
judgment on ordering the compulsory sale of all
the undivided shares of the property at Nos. 1 and
1A Wood Road, Hong Kong for the purposes of
redevelopment pursuant to section 3(1) of the Land
(Compulsory Sale for Redevelopment) Ordinance
(Cap 545) by auction at the reserve price of HK$485
million. The auction is set on 29 June 2018. As at 31
March 2018, the Group owned 14 out of the total 16
undivided shares (i.e. 87.5%) of No.l Wood Road,
Hong Kong and 15 out of the total 16 undivided
shares (i.e. 93.75%) of No.lA Wood Road, Hong
Kong.
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  40. A2 #] iy W %5 R ¥t %
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position A B AR 2 ] i 31 2R A B 251K UL 3 i Rt
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as WmE
follows:
2018 2017
—EZ— )M\ —EF Lk
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I Ui Y
Investments in subsidiaries B 2 B B 576,586 797,777
Deferred tax 5 %L Bt JE - 226
Total non-current assets e R B A A A 576,586 798,003
CURRENT ASSETS i ) %
Prepayment, deposits and other AT RIE ~ e R
receivables At R Wk 150 54
Tax recoverable ] W vl A T 81 552
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBEESMEY 101,206 3,128
Total current assets B A AR 101,437 3,734
CURRENT LIABILITIES ) £ 4%
Other payables J At JBE £ 3K 1,127 882
Total current liabilities B A AR 1,127 882
NET CURRENT ASSETS ) ¥ 100,310 2,852
Net assets A 676,896 800,855
EQUITY B 2
Issued capital BB AT A 42,074 44,042
Reserves (note) it (M E) 634,822 756,813
Total equity HRERS 676,896 800,855
NGAI Chun Hung YAU Kwok Fai
B 40 M e
Director Director
HH HH

2017-2018 EEH & m
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

41.

THE COMPANY (continued)

ZEJE=A=1—H

40. 7 2w i S 55 DL e ()

Note: Mtk
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: Ao kAR R T
Share Share
premium Contributed option Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
Bepre i BAZR WIRMEGMH RN i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#or FiT Fi# Fi#or F
At 1 April 2016 WZ—NENH—H 332,983 63,948 3,300 382,858 783,089
Profit and total comprehensive — AS4F B i Il M 4 i I 25 40 45
income for the year - - - 1,179 1,179
2016 final dividend TR ANERB R E - - - (34,970) (34,970)
Issue of shares BT IRAR 9,447 - (1,932) - 7,515
At 31 March 2017 and N _F—tLFE=H=+—H
1 April 2017 K _F—LHNA—H 342,430 63,948 1,368 349,067 756,813
Profit and total comprehensive A4 B i F1) B 4 T Wi 3% 48 40
income for the year - - - 905 905
2017 final dividend B -LERBKE - - - (33,717) (33,717)
Shares repurchased and cancelled Jif§ [0l 5 51 84 )B4y (89,269) - - - (89,269)
Transfer of share option reserve 7 i JBEAE 2 250 R ek 43¢
upon the lapse of share option ¥ B Ml ki - - (31) 31 -
Issue of shares BEAT IR A 113 - (23) - 90
At 31 March 2018 W_ZF—)E=ZH=+—H 253,274 63,948 1,314 316,286 634,822

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the nominal value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor. Under the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, the Company may make distributions to
its members out of the contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 22 June 2018.
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